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“l am very pleased to be announcing another year of significant earnings growth, with
profits before tax up more than 17% In this momentous year we have largely completed
our merger activities, driven customer satisfaction and market share to all-ime highs in
virtually all of cur markets, made our shops more interactive and exciting while becoming
ever more competitive with pure-play retailers, launched a new joint venture in the US,
{aunched a new UK mobile network, and embarked on an ambitious property plan in
the UK and Ireland We also had our biggest ever trading day on Black Frniday last year

We are far from done, though We have very ambrtious plans this year which include
making every one of the former Dixons stores one of the new 3-in-1 shops, introducing
a lively and interactive new e-Commerce platform to Carphone Warehouse, opening
Europe's most modern distribution centre in Sweden, introducing same-day delivery,
rolling out ¢ 150 new stores in the US with Sprint, delivering our honeyBee platform

to major global clients, launching our new home services division with a mandate to
become a true emergency service for customers across the UK, and continuing to
drive market share, price competitiveness and customer satisfaction everywhere

It 1s likely to be busy

| am truly grateful to all of my colleagues — nght across the world — for their hard work
and dedication | am also very proud to be able to say that | work alongside such a
creative and dedicated group of men and women

Finally, the nation has spoken and there has been a vote to exit the EU in due course.

As you can imagine, we have been giving some thought to this. Our view is that, as the
strongest player in our market and despite the volatility that 1s the inevitable consequence
of such change, we expect to find opportunities for additional growth and further
consolidate our position as the leader in the UK market.”

/\

Sebastian James
Group Chiet Executive
28 Jure 2016

Cautionary statement

Certain statements made in this Annual Report and Accounts are forward looking Such statements are based on current expectations and are
subject to a number of nsks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ matenally from any expected future events or results
referred to in these forward ooking statements Unless otherwise required by applicable laws, regulations or accounting standards, we do not
undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward kooking statements, whether as a result of new information, future developments or
otherwise Nothing in this Annual Report and Accounts should be regarded as a profit forecast
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Strategic Report

Highlights of the year

Dixons Carphone plc is Europe’s leading specialist electrical and
telecommunications retailer and services company, employing over
42,000 people in 11 countries.

Group lhike-for-like revenue up 5%

UK & Ireland hke-for-like revenue up 6%

Nordics ike-for-like revenue up 4%

Group pro forma Headline PBT of £447 million, up over 17%

Group pro forma Headline EPS of 29.3p

Free cash flows of £202 million

Strong balance sheet with year end net debt broadly flat year on year

at £267 million

Final dividend of 6 50p proposed, taking total dividends for the year to 9.75p

Pro forma revenue (Emlilion} Pro forma Headline EBIT {Emiflion) Headline basic EPS (pence)
Our European store presence
Stor numbers Own Franchisa Tatal
& UK and Ireland 121 - 112n
* Nordics 248 131 379
* Southern Europe 317 276 593
1,836 407 2,243

Headliine and pro forma performance measures are as defined i the Performance review on page 24 Pro forma resuits are presented as f the CPW Europe Acquistion

and the Merger had occumed at the start of the comparative penods
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Business segments

We operate four segments as follows:

Brands Wobsites
UK & lreland Currys cumys co uk
currys e
+ Currys and PC World are the largest specialist electncal retaiing
and services operators in the UK & ireland PC Word peworld co uk
world e
+ Carphone Warehouse is the largest independent e
telecommunications retaler in the UK & Ireland Carphone Warehouse  carphonewarehouse com
» Dixons Travel operates in major UK arports and Dublin carphonewarehouse i
+ Knowhow s our market-leading services brand Dixons Travet dixonstravel com
» Geek Squad 1s the repairs and support prowder for Knowhow knowhow co uk
Carphone Warehouse Geek Squad geeksquad co uk
+ Simplifydigial is the UK's largest, and fastest growing, mult-
Simphfydrgital simpifydigntal co uk

channel broadband, phone and TV switching platform

PC World Business prowides computing products and services
to busmess to business ('B28") customers

PC World Business

peworldbusiness co uk

Nordics Elkep elkjop no

» The Elkjep Group I1s the ieading specialist electncal retailer across Elgiganten elgiganten se
the Nordics elgiganten dk

+ Eikjep, Elkzp Phonehouse and Lefdal stores operate in Norway, Gigantt gigantt: fi
Elgiganten and Elgiganten Phone House in Sweden and Derimark
and Gigantti in Finland Lefdal tefdal com

+ Knowhow has been introduced i the Norgic region Pheone House phonehouse se

+ InfoCare 1s the largest consumer electrical repair company in the InfoCare infocareworkshop no
region, operating 1in Norway, Sweden, Cenmark and Frntand

Southem Europe Kotsovolos kotsovolos gr

= Kotsovolos s Greece's leading specsalist efectncal retailer Phone House phonehouse es

+ Phone House 15 the leading independent telecommunications retailer  Geek Squad geeksquad es

in Spain

Geek Squad 1s the repairs and support provider for the Phone
House in Spain

Connected World Services (‘CWS')

CWS asms to leverage the Group's existing expertise, operating
processes and technology to provide a range ¢f services to
businesses

CWS organises its services into three product towers
— Caonnected Retailing

~ Support and Services

- honeyBee platform

connectedworldservices com

Dixons Carphona ple Anpual Report and Accounts 2015/16
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Strategic Report

Chairman’s Statement

It has been a very good year for Dixons
Carphone and | am delighted that we
have been able to achteve a strong
financial performance at the same time
as making excellent operational progress
across the Group The Board is therefore
pleased to recommend a final dividend
of 6 50p per share to be pad on

23 September 2016

Over the past year we have largely completed the process

of mtegration and it has been a source of real pleasure for me
10 see the progress we have made so powerfully validating
our reasons for bringing the businesses together We have
increased sales and ganed market share in just about every
category, business and termtory as well as reducing costs as
a result of the Merger | am also particularly proud that cur
custorner satisfaction 1s at a record hugh across the board

Moreover, we have made important strategic decisions snce
our merger, developing our proposition and discovenng new
opportunities Our strategy of creating exciting new 3-in-1
stores with all our brands under one roof 1s being rolled out at
pace across the UK & Ireland and 1 have been imprassed by
the positive reaction from both cotieagues and customers

Complementary acquisions have supported areas where
we see a real opportunity to develop the business Mult-play
1s a key area of focus and our acguisiion of Smplifydigital —
the UK's leading broadband, TV and home phone switching
business - helps us offer customers a fulty-developed
mult-play proposition at a time when customers are looking
for ndependent advice across all ther technology,
connectivity, mecha content and service needs Simularly, our
acquisition of InfoCare 1n Norway makes us, at a stroke, the
leading repair operation in the Nordics

Our Connected Worid Services business looks maore and more
excitmg with a very strong pipeline of global clients who are
interested in using the software and intellectual property
predominantly built up over 25 years in our mobile business

to improve their own Our Spnnt joint venture has had a very
good start and we are now well into the second phase,

with three to four new stores operung every week in key

US locatons

The telecommunications markets are undergoing a pernod

of immense change and it 1s excibing to be serving customers
in these turbulent tmes We have already seen some
consolidation in our markets and the press 1s nfe with
speculation about the future structure of the UK telco market

Against this backdrop, and following the result of the
referendum on the UK's membership of the EU, | remund the
team every day we are successful because we add value both
to our customers — by being the cne place where people can
get choice and impartial adwice ~ and to our network pariners,
by telling therr stones powerfully While we continue to do
these things, | have no doubt that we will continue to win, no
matter how our market shifts in the background

| would like to take this opportunity 1o express my gratiude to
Roger Taylor and John Gildersleeve Roger and John stepped
down from the Board at the end of 2015 having made very
significant contnbut:ons to the Group over many years and |
would like to thank them most sincerely | am also pleased 1o
welcome two highly expenenced and falented new members n
Lord Livingston and Tony DeNunzio

Last, and by no means least on behalf of the Board and our
shareholders, | would like to thank each and every one of my
colleagues at Dixons Carphone 1t goes without saying that
we wauld not have delivered this extraordinary year without
you, and our future s all the brghter for your hard work

and dedication

Sir Charles Dunstone
Charrman
28 Juna 2016
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Group Chief Executive’s Statement

As we reach the end of our first full
year as a merged company, | am very
pleased to be reporting such a strong
performance It has been a very good
year for the Group, with many great
achievements against a backdrop, not
only of industry change, but also the
execution of our merger This year saw
us sailing in potentially squally waters
but we have, thankfully, successfully
navigated them

Dixons Carphone has had a strong year financially, Group
hke-for-like revenues were up 5% over the year, with growth
n almost every business in the Group leading to a 17%
increase n Group Headlne pro forma PBT from £381 mullion
to £447 million, towards the higher end of the guidance we
gave, resuliing n an crease i Headline pro forma basic
€PS from 25 Sp 10 29 3p

Cperationally, we have also made excellent progress, with
mprovements in customer propositions in all markets as well
as a number of systems and infrastructure investments to
wmprove efficiency Our customers have continued to respond
very well to our continued improvements in service, and we
end the year with our customer satisfaction and Net Promaoter
Scores at all-tme highs | am very pleased to see that we have
also increased our colleague engagement scores across the
Group - not a tnvial achievernent when so much change s
happening across the business

QOur business in the UK & ireland enjoyed an excellent year,
with Yike-for-like revenues up 6% over the year and Headling
pro forma EBIT grew by 20% to £365 million Thrs safes growth
was dnven in large part by market share gans in our mobile
phone business in the UK coupled with solid growth

n elecincals This has been underpinned by schd cost control
across the business

QOur integration has now been largely, and successiully,
compieted with regard to people and physical infrastructure,
and we now are a single, fully integrated business with one
head office, one repair centre and one warehouse, and an
orgarsational structure that suits the size and scale of the

business across the UK & lreland We have plenty of work to
do on our systemns integration, but we are taking this ruce and
steady with significant changes to our merchandise planning
systems and customer datlabases planned for this year as
part of a programme that we expect to take - all in - four

or five years

We continue to be very focused on pnce competitveness and
have further improved this s0 that we are now at panty or
better versus our most aggresswe pure-play competitors on
pretty much all of our products, all of the time We released

a free app 'Compare Prices' that allows customers to check
this for themselves, and we encourage our colleagues in store
1o reassure customers about market prices as part of the
sales joumey As a result we believe that we are successfully
addressing the phenomenon of ‘'showrooming’ where
customers seek our support and advice before buying, more
cheaply, elsewhere

in January, we announced a plan to complete our estate of
3-1n-1 stores in the UK - which house a fully-fledged Carphone
Warehouse proposition — within all of our CumysPCWorld
stores We are also taking the opportunity to roll out the best
new eas that we have been developing in our newer stores
Our colleagues reaily ke working in these refurbished stores,
and our customers seem to very much enjoy shopping in themn
We currently have 233 3-in-1 stores and we are rofling out the
remamnder at an average rate of three per week so that we can
be finished by the tme we focus on Chnstmas This will mean
that customers from Invemess to Penzance will have the same
expenegnce of our shops and all of our stores will be up to date,
lvely and 1n good condition

1D mobie operations in the UK & Ireland were launched in

May 2015 This was enabled by an innovative [T platform and
with a particular focus on personahising plans with flexible
tariffs and introducing shared data iD has been very positively
received and | am delighted that active customer numbers
have now passed 335,000 1D allows us to find solutions for
customners for whom the traditional networks are not quite nght
and 1s another invaluable arrow 1N our quiver when talking to
people about ther mobile needs

Mult-play 1s a real area of focus for us this year and, following
a successful tnal earlier in the year, we launched our offer to
help our customers with all of thewr connectivity needs, initially
focusing on broadband Thus offer s enhanced by our
acquisition of Simplifycigital, the UK's largest broadband, TV
and home phone switching business We are now really the
only place where a custormer can compare, discuss, choose
and switch - from a wide choice of nattonal providders - the
broadband and TV package that i1s perfect for them, brnging
the expertise we have in mobile connectraty to this wider
canvas Itis early days, but the response from customers

has been very encouraging so far

Dixons Carphonae plc Annual Report ang Accounts 2015/16 5
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Strateglc Report

Group Chief Executive’'s Statement

In addition there have been a raft of significant improvements
that we have made this year including taunching ocur new
e-commerce web platform for Carphone Warehouse,
dramatically extending the range of white goods that we can
ship next day, and roling cut our ‘own the kitchen' small
domestic appliance layouts with much more Ufe, colour and
\nterest into the majonty of our larger stores and much more
It 5 heartening to see the power of our UK business being
used by an excellent team lo generate real chtferences for our
customers, and very heartening to see us all reap the rewards
for thewr clanty of thinking and energy

We have done a great deal of work on our in-home and
consumer services business, Knowhow, and we will launch

a pitot of a new, highly digitally enabled and wide ranging
proposttion in Leeds later this year with a view to having a
rebranded, nationwide launch in the New Year We believe very
passionately that custorners will increasingly want somebody
to take responsibility for keeping the dozens of devices and
appliances In ther homes working, always on and upgraded
and that we are uriquely placed to do that cost-effectively

and well

Our Nordics business had a good year with ike-for-hke
revenues up 4% over the year and 9% n the fourth quarter
and all-tme record profitability in local currency We have,
however, seen a further erosion in the Norwegian Krone versus
Sterling and this has meant that our Stering-reported profits
are down somewhat with Headline pro torma EBIT reducing by
£/ milhon to €79 mihon Over the last two years the Krone has
devalued significantly and, since virtually all of our goods are
imported, this has created some commercial challenges We
have used this change to brng our prices in hine with our pure-
play competttors, something that we have already done in the
UK & Ireland and this has, | believe, been a cause of the very
strong growth in our sales

The Nordics have also seen some really encouraging
operational developments over the year We acquired and
succassfully integrated InfoCare, the largest repair company
n the region, which gives us a base upon which to build cur
services and repair proposiion A major project to extend our
automated small box warehouse at Jnkdping in Sweden

— and create the most modern automated small-box
distnbution centre in Europe - 15 also well on track We have
integrated the Phone House business in Sweden, merging
head offices and contact centres, closing 26 stores and
co-branding all remaining stores In Norway we have
rebranded our Elkjep Express stores to Elkjep Phonehouse
In both Sweden and Norway, these co-branded stores are
performung well

Our Southem European business had a good year in the face
of sigruficant political and economic turbulence - most notably,
of course, m Greece, and | am pieased that the Southem
Europe business has reporied a 4% nse in Iike-for-like
revenues over the year with Headline pro forma EBIT growing
from £15 million to £17 mulkon

Our Greek business has increased profitability n 201516

To have achieved this against this year's backdrop 1s no mean
feat and 1s, of course, down 1o the efforts of cur colleagues
the region In Greece, despite the mountmg €conomic cnsIs,
our teams consistently demonstrated innovative thinking,
emotonal resilience, strong management and an
entrepreneunal spint This meant that Kotsovolos was ableto
gan significant market share | sard last year that the situation
in Greece may end up proving the aphonsm that all cnses lead
to opportumty and 1 am delighted that this remarkable team
has proved this to be comect so far

tn Spain, we have continued to move to a more flexible
franchise approach, and to pivot the model to ofter mulu-play,
sim-cnly and handset only, as well as a host of addticnal
services while successfully retainng our market share Here,
again, the market has much change happening with M3A
activity and an evolving business model requinng us 1o be
nimble i we are to retan and grow our profitabiity The Phone
House team have responded magrificently to these challenges
in the best traditions of entrepreneurship that 15 at the heart of
the team

| am also particularty excited to be updating you on some
temfic progress from our Connected World Services and
Knowhow businesses While still relatively new areas of the
Group and in the Investment stage, | see huge potential and
a strong pipeline of activity

The joint venture between our Connected World Services
business and Spnnt continues te go very well and, fellowing a
very successtul tnal, in Jarwary we signed a joint venture ('\JV?)
to open up to 500 stores with Sprnt in the US The Spant JV
has had very encouraging results so far but, as atways, there's
no room for complacency and we are focused on developing
the opportunity further

We have signed a new and separate software agreement with
Spnnt and will now be rolling out our market-leading software
platiorm, honeyBee, across therr entre estate We also have a
fast-growing pipeline of promising discussions with companies
\n a number of different segments and temtones about how
honeyBee can help them .

Our support and services business aiso had a good year The
integration of our distnbution and reparr centre to one site in
Newark means we are perfectly posittoned to take advantage
of the opporturiies In insurance support and reversa logistics
services Our clients are increasingly asking us for help and
support throughout a product's ifecycle, from choosing the
nght product at the outset through to installation, connection,
and repar Behind our end-to-end service operation we have
a comprehensive — and unique - Infrastructure, including
technica! support, delivery, installation, reparr and recyclng
This was rewarded this year as we relained our contract
through the re-bid process to manage RBS’s mobile phone
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insurance and won a contract to undertake a similar actaity
for EE making us the second largest prowider of mobile phone
insurance in the UK Our infrastructure advantages mean that
we are able to win these contracts profitably while still
representing very good value to our panners

We have achieved a great deal this year and are very pleased
to be ending the year in such a strong position That sad, as
ever, we are focused on delivenng even more next year and we
know that, in fully mature markets, this means fighting for each
and every customer, each and every day

Finally, the nation has spoken and we are to exit the EU in due
course Our view 15 that, as the strongest player in our market
and desprte the volatihty that 1s the ineviable consequence of
such change, we may be able to find significant opporturities
for addional growth and additional market share As you can
imagine, we have been giving some thought to thus possibility
and we beleve that, by acting decisively and intelligently, we
can further consolidate our position as the leader in our market

My thanks go to everyone m our 42,000-strong team of
employees in 11 countnes for making the successes of the
past year possible through impressive levels of industry and
creatvity | am constantly amazed and detighted by the
passicn and commitment of the men and women who make
up the Dixons Carphone family, and am very proud to work
alongside them

Sebastan James
Group Chief Executive
26 June 2016
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Strategic Report

Strategy, KPIs and Risks overview

Our markets'

Our strategic priorities?

Achievements in 2015/16°

Core retail

+ Mobile phone connectvity
« Consumer electronics

Continue to enhance and dnve
successtul and sustainable retail
business models in a multi-channet
world

Market share and like-for-hke revenue
growth in core markets

Largely completed the integration of
Dixons and Carphone

Rolled out 273 SWAS

Price competitiveness in the UK and
customer satisfaction scores in core
markets at record levels

Launch of the 1D mobile operations and
multi-play offering

Compiletion of non-core business
disposals

Consumer services —

Leverage our scale, our knowhow,
and our umque snfrastructure to

Acquisitions of InfoCare and
Simphtydigital, bolstenng our Nordic

Knowhow dnive growth in new product areas services and amplifying UK multi-play
including growth in services capabihties
New leadership structure in place
Capnal Markets Day held in March 2016
Connected World Develop the Connected World Successful tnal of 15 Sprint stores,

Services (‘(CWS’)

Services model and establish it as
a matenal contnbutor to earnings

and launched formal joint venture
with Sprint

Exiension of existing honeyBee
agreement with a major US
manufacturer

New mobite phone insurance
agreements with EE and RBS
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Plans for 2016/17°

Relevant Group KPIs*

Principal risks®

Property optimisation programme
Complete SWAS roll-out

Drive growth in the 1D customer base
and mutti-play

Launch of new Carphone Warehouse
store and online formats

Relentless focus on price and service

Complete integration programme

Headline revenue
Like-for-like revenue
Market position

Headlhine EBIT

Headline profit before tax
Free cash flow

Return on capital employed

Dependence on networks and
key suppliers

Consumer environment and sustainable
business modet

Greek exit from the Euro

IT systerns and infrastructure
Infarmation secunty

FCA regulation

Colleague retention

Business continunty plans are
not effective

Health and safety
Fraud

Impact of Brexit

Launch of tnal in Leeds

Nationwide launch in 2017,
following tna)

Headline revenue
Market position

Return on capital employed

Consumer environment and sustainable
business model

IT systems and infrastructure
Information security
Colleague retention

Business continuity plans are
not effective

Fraud

Impact of Brexit

Roll-out of joint venture Sprint stores

heoneyBee US extension and
implementation across Sprint estate

Further sales and support opportumities

Headline revenue
Market position
Headline EBIT

Return on capetal employed

Consumer environment and sustainable
business model

IT systems and infrastructure
Information secunty

FCA regulation

Colleague retention

Business continuity plans are
not effective

h AW -

Qur markels pages 10 to 13

Strategy and business model pages 14 1o 16

Chaiman’s and Group Chief Executive s Statements onpages 4 to 7
Key Performance Indicators on page 19

Pnncipal nsks to achieving the Group's objectives on pages 20 to 23
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Strategic Repont

Our markets

Our markets

Mobrle phone and connectivity and consumer electromcs
are Dixons Carphone’s core retall markets, but increasingly
the Group 1s growing beyond these product markets by

1) mdustnalising «ts existing services infrastructure and
expandng its offenngs to focus on consumer services in the
home, and 2} continuing to expand its rapidly growing
business-to-busmess operations via the Connected World
Services division

Mobile phone connectivity

Dixans Carphane 1s the only nationwide independent mobile

phone retader The Group 15 unigquely placed to offer mpartial
acdvice over the vast array of network, handset and operating
platform propositions available in the market

This market 15 also served by MNOs, with whom the Group has
tong and well-established relationships, as well as mndependent
and generalist retallers The MNOs will offer propositions for
thair own networks, whilst Independent and generalist retailers
will provide a greater vanety of propositions on one or multiple
networks Furthermore thera are online-only retailers providing
a vanety of these services

Tris market 1s also served by MVNOs as well as a relatively
small number of global manutfacturers supplying goods to
local, regional, national and intematonal MNOs/MVNOs
ard retallers

In recent years there have been significant changes in the
landscape of mobile phone distnbution In the UK we have
seen a major market withdrawal with the exit of Phones 4u
ard the acquisition of the EE network by BT Dunng this penod
tha Group has managed to gan signficant market share
particularly in the post-pay segment

The soptustication of mobile phones continues to grow rapidly,
from simple mobile devices to sophisticated hardware with
advanced funchonality There is a wide chowce of operating
platforms and network options for custormers, which makes
the Group's expert and imparbal advice, simplified by the
tablet based tool, Pin Point, particularly relevant

MNOs continue o see (increasing levels of data usage, a trend
which will continue as custormers migrate to rew tanffs that
include 4G access as standard As MNOs continue to roll out
thair 4G networks, quaity and speeds improve, faciitatng
much faster downloads and providing levels of performance
comparable to many Wi-Fi networks, enabling a much better
platform for strearming, in particular for video content

To benefit from 4G services, customers need 4G-enabled
devices and as 4G network coverage improves, there s an
incentive for customers to upgrade their contracts, providing
a stimulus to the replacement cycle mcreasing the penetration
of 4G devices and tanff uplifts After several years of
downward pressure on ARPU, increased data usage provides
an exciting opporturity

The mtemet plays an important part of customers' purchasing
joumey for mobile, with the majority of customers researching
onhne belore making a purchase However, online sales have
remained refatively flat in the UK at ¢ 20% of salesfor a
number of years The complexity of the mobile-buying decis:on
means that customers continue to value the adwvice availlable
within stores This preference to touch and feel products pror
to purchasing has restncted the penetration for mobile onfine
sales Elsewhere, in markets that are less mature than the UK,
the proportion of online sales continues to grow and
represents between 4% and 11% of total retait sales

The mobile market has remamed robust dunng penods of
reduced economic actmity and whilst mobile phones rmight be
considered discretionary purchases, the reality 1s that mobite
phone contracts are considered an essential element of
people's ives

Consumer electronics

The consurner etectronics retal market can be split between
speciahist electncal retallers, such as Dixons Carphone, and
general retallers which sell electronic goods as part of a wider
offenng The market can also be broken down into two distinct
distnbution channels ‘assisted’ and 'unassisted’ In the
assisted channel, specialist retailers, such as Dixons
Carphone, help customers through the buying process in the
form of product advice, add-on services, delvery and
installaton The unassisted channel, which includes single
channel ntermet retarlers as well as generat retaillers, tends not
to offer all of these services

Speacialist electncal retallers are the predominant destination
for customers in the European cansumer electronics market
Buying groups, general merchants and independenits also have
a retall presence through stores and / or online The market 1s
served by a relatively small number of global manufacturers
supplying goods to local, regional, national and intematonal
electncal retallers

We are one of the largest specialist electncal retailing and
services companies In Eurppe with leading market shares in
the LUK, Ireland, the Nordic region and Greece In each of our
markets there are varying numbers of specialist retallers who
compete in the assisted market While we do compete against
general retallers, this 1s usually imited to certain lower pnce
categories as these retailers do not offer the full range ot
products, assisted sale or the other services we are able

to provide

We have seen some significant shifts in capacity in many of
our markets 1n recent years with some mass merchandisers
reducing space for electronic products, some singie channe!
intemet operators de-emphasising certan segments, as well
as some specialists exiting the market These shifts have
he!ped us to gan market share and it underpins our view that
a strong service led muth-channel operation satisfies both
customer and supplier needs while delivenng a sustainable
business as customer shopping habits continue to evolve We
beleve further conscldation wilt occur in some of our markets
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The intemet has establshed itself as an i/mportant part of the
electncal retail andscape It supports enhanced product
information as well as pnce comparabiity It 1s an essential part
of the buying process for customers, particularly for large ticket
discretionary products However, the expert adwice provided
by well-informed sales adwvisors within stores 1s highty valued
by customers Larger retailers, with an integrated multi-channel
offer, with scalable distnbution and systems, together with
proven after-sales service and suppaort are increasingly
attracte to customers

The increase N online penetration provides us with the
opporturity to increase both the range of goods on offer and
the availabiity of product nformation Our multi-channel
approach is well placed to exploit synergies between our
intemet sites and stores

QOur reserve&collect service (collect@store 1n the Nordics),
where customers can order on the internet and collect frorm a
convenient store, at a tme to suit them is proving 1o be
increasngly attractive to customers Swnslarly, our pay&coflect
service, where customers can access a wider range of
products than 1s typ:cally available in ther local store for either
home delivery or later collection from the store, s atso
increasingly popular

Innovation brngs new products with improved functionalty
that dnves sales growth These include 4K Ultra High Defimition
(*HD’) and smart TVs, wearable technolegy, connected
products for the home such as heating and ighting Content,
such as social media, apps, digital meda and cloud
computing, also help to dnve hardware innovation and
replacement Product sales are dnven by structural shifts, such
as analogue to digrtal and standard format through to Ultra HD
television |n addition, innovation dnves new service
requirements, including TV installation, data backup, computer
set up and instructional Showhow teach-ins In this
increasingty complex world we believe our assisted sales
model 1s best placed to help customers navigate the market
and to help them choose a complete solution that best meets
their needs

Many electronic products are predominantly discretionary
purchases However, ncreasing penetration of digital
technology in the home dnves faster replacement cycles as
these products become less discretionary The economic
backdrop also determines whether customers trade up or
down Accordingly, the electronics market tends to grow at a
rate that is at or exceeding the economy dunng years of
economic growth While the opposite ¢an be true dunng a
downtum, this may be infiuenced by new innovation and an
exciing product cycle

The rapid innovation cycle may lead to pnce deflation, but also
dnves volumes as products become more affordable and
replacement cycles accelerate For larger ticket items, the low
frequency of purchases limits the impact of pnce deflation on
tota! market sales as consumers typically trade up to higher
specification products Our ‘Customer Joumeys'™ are designed
to explain the features and benefits of the latest technology to
customers and help them understand the reasons for trading
up to these newer technologies

The sale of white goods 15 underpinned by the replacement
cycle Due to higher costs of repair, it often makes better
economic sense for consumers to replace white goods outnght
rather than to arrange for ther repar The sale of white goods
15 also driven by the dynamics of the housing market

as new construction, house sales and refurbishment tngger
new purchases

Consumer services - Knowhow

Everyday technology, whether smart TVs, computing, mobile
phones or kitchen apphances, 1s becoming increasingly
comphcated with connectivity and inter-operability penetrating
into rmore and more areas Famihes are dependent on this
technology working for an ever-increasing range of
apphications such as keeping in touch with fnends and family,
entertanment, work, finances and schoo! homework Keeping
this home technology working and online I1s increasingly
becorming an essential requirement

Most homes in markets in which we operate have around ten

connected devices, and this :s expected to grow dramatically

over the near term, creating further expected positive demand
for home technology suppont services

We believe the market for home technology support to be
already large, worth around £5bn 1n the UK alone, of which we
esttmate 1o hold ac 10% share Despite the sigruficant
demand and a large market, the supply of services s ughly
fragmented

There 1s a major opportunity to grow our share of these
valuable and growing markets to more closely match our share
of product sales Our aim is for our Knowhow business to be
the digital leader in technology support

Importantly we start from a position of real strength, our
services capabilites and operating platform developed to
support our product sales business s already class-leading
and at real scale

We are already the UK’s leading technology support business
with over 11m warranty and insurance policies, 700,000
mobile repars per year, 4 2m home wisits per year, 740,000
computer repairs per year, over 100,000 gas nstallations per
year, more than 600 skilled engineers, and over 1,500 in-store
service colleagues

We have a leading share in the sale of connected technology
through our significant muti-channet presence with strong
manufacturer and supplier relatonstips and a 'cross
ecosystem’ approach in place We have Europe’s largest tech
and white goods repair capability at Newark with more
techrical support agents than any other business providing a
nationwide solution This s 2 complex business to replicate
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Our markets '

We have put in place a new leadership team dedicated to this
division and developed a commercial mode! with refreshed
and innovative proposrtions that we will launch regionally

n 2016 pnor to a full roll-out in 2017

Our revised service propositions will be accessed and
delvered by customers through an increasingly digitat
interface providing fnction-free and highly responsive support
and care around the ctock which 1s easily accessed at home
or on the move

We will be able to debver our core operating pninciples to
our customers through an ongoing and valuable dialogue
that includes providing independent / expert advice and
money-saving guidance through pnce companson

This regutar, high-quality diatogue wilt build customer loyalty,
and allow us to deliver real value and support to our customers
day and night

Ongce fully executed in all core markets, we expect our services
business to provide long-term sustanable revenues in
atiractive, growing markets

Connected World Services

Connected World Services ams 1o leverage the specialist
skills, operating processes and technology of the business to
provide services 10 third parties looking to develop therr own
connected world solutions CWS already provides managed
services to a number of major intemational businesses and has
a significant pipeline of actve opporturities The cument focus
1s on delwenng value and growth from three spectfic areas -
Connected Retailing, Support and Services, and honeyBee
software
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Current focus involves three specific CWS services

Proposition Services offered Unique differentiators  Existing third
party clients
Cornected Mutti-channel retail » Operational retal » Proventrack record of Sprint
Retaiing consultancy and leadership transforming retall for  Samsung
operational support for . Best Buy Mobile and
businesses seling Consuiting on retai Spnnt
connected product and planning and execution
Service propostions, + Customer joumey design Significant KPI
ranging from specific and management improvernents
managed services achieved In sales,
through to full retal profitabiity and
partnerships customer satisfaction
+ Expert team with 20+
Who s it for? years of connected
Telco industry speciahsts retail expenence
- typically carriers and
retailers - Unique and
differentiated sales and
operations platform
Supportand | everages the » Connectivity and + We run the largest BT
Services end-to-end capabilities brokerage mobile phone repar  RBS
of Dixons Carphone in centre in Europe
the UK & keland to + Value-added services TalkTalk
provide a full suite of = Device supply * Operate the biggest EE
services that enable the Sal handset sourcing
sale and support of * Sales operations operation in Europe Insurance
connected devices - Forward and reverse - Proven experts in this :’artner
logistics complex and regulated '@
:’JV::':" it for? + Software platforms industry
reland Telco
industry specialists - + Customer service Slgnlﬂc&nt established
typically carners, retailers client base, with
and servige providers long-term agreements
In place
honeyBee Unique emmni-channel, » The honeyBee platform + 25 years' expenence  Sprnt
software multi-industry software consists of three pnncipal of complex digital
that simplfies the modules journey INNovaton Partner
dehvery and Accentur
management of complex honeyBee Sell best in + Urmgue mutti-channel eniure
digital customer journeys  Class multi-channe, sales and operations
1n any industry guided sales software that platform
lnt:dudesl a:f\ ultra-efficient . e mult-country
Who 13 it for? media platform and a carner actvations
Any sales business that real-ime joumey analytics platform
has a complex customer  and perfomance . Revoluton
Jjourney (e g Telco, management platform Vt° onary
Financial Services, + honeyBee Activate customer joumey
Travel etc) camer / service provider deveiopment tools
activations management  * Partnership with
platform Accenture who bring
ndustry expenence,
+ honeyBee Create global scale and

simplifies the process of
designing and buitding
complex digital customer
joumeys

dehivery credibility
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Strategy and business model

Dixons Carphone 15 Europe's leading specialist consumer
electnical and mobile phone and connectivity retailer and
serces company, employing over 42,000 people n 11
countnes Fecused on helping customers navigate the
connected world, Dixons Carphone offers a comprehensive
range of electronic and mobile products, connectivity and
expert after-sales services from the Geek Squad and Knowhow

Dixons Carphone's pnmary brands include Carphone
Warehouse, Currys and PCWarld in the UK & treland, Elkjep
and Elkyep Phonehouse, Elgiganten and Elgiganten Phone
House, Gigantt and Lefdal 1n the Nordic countries, Kotsovolos
in Greece, Dixons Travel n a number of UK & Ireland arports
and Phone House in Spam Qur key service brands include
Knowhow in the UK, Ireland and the Nordics, and Geek Squad
in the UK, Ireland and Spain

Business-to-business {'B82B") services are provided through
Connected World Services ('CWS'), PC World Business, Elkjop
Business and Carphone Warehouse Business Connected
World Services aims to leverage the Group's existing expertise,
operating processes and technology to provide a range of
sarvices 1o other businesses

During the year we have bolstered our Nordic and UK
consumer services offenngs with the acquisitions of InfoCare
and Simpltydigital and we continue to review our business
portfolo, focusing on temtones in which we are the market
leadler and growing market share

This enables us to dnve the Group forward from a posion
of strength with a focus on three strategic pnonties By
focusing on these we can deliver not only a better business
for our customers and colleagues, but also better retums for
our shareholders

The strategic pnonties are

1 Continue to enhance and dnve successful
and sustainable retall business models in a
mutt-channel world,

2 Leverage our scale, our knowhow, and our unique
mfrastructure to dnve growth in new product areas
mcluding growth 1n services, and

3 Continue te develop the CWS mode! and establish
it as a matenal comtnbutor to earmings

Locking at each of these in tum

1. Continue to enhance and drive
successful and sustainable
retail business models in a
multi-channel world

Our customers tell us that when buying consumer electronics
they want advice to ensure they are making the nght choices,
particutarly as these are often major purchases that customers
will own for several years The growth of the internet has
empowered customers, providing instant access to information
including product knowledge and pnice transparency

in mobile, we are uniquely positioned In the UK & Ireland and
the Nordics to provide independent adwice and meet customer
requirements for mparhality, comparabiity and flexibility,
both online and in-stare with the Pin Point tool in the UK In
consumer electronics, single channel intermet operators have
a different model whose prncipal advantage 1s structurally
lower costs and which have histoncally been able to offer
competitive prces versus store-based operators By focusng
on the advantages that we, as a multi-channel specialist,

can offer customers and suppliers we can eliminate the cost
advantage that pure-play intemet operators have histoncally
enjoyed As a result we are able to offer customers very
competitive pnces against cur competitor set and still be
more profitable

There are four distinct activities that we believe ara the key
strengths of our multi-channel, service-based model and which
will support our competitve advantage going forward

1 Work closely with supphers to hamess benrefits avallable
to our business mode! Supplers want to ensure that
customers not only choose therr brands, but also
expenence the benefits of the latest products Asa
multi-channel operator we work with our supplhers to
ensure we can explan the benefits of these products and
demonstrate them to customers in our stores and our
suppliers support us in this worl in a vanety of ways

2 Focus on complete solutions for custormers The Pin Pomt
too! enables the personalisation of the mobile customer
expenence Using {ablets in store, we ask customers a
few simple questions to help them find the nght deal
The tool willdentfy the preferred network via its coverage
checker, handset and operating system, check bundle
options including data requrements and ensure this 1
future-proofed In consumer electronics, we do more than
simply sell the product, we will also get it working and keep
it working, as well as delivening it, and providing peace of
mind through product support and after-sales services
The conversations our colieagues have in-store with
customers give us an opportunity to explain the benefits
of these solutions and sell more of them than our
single-channel competition
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3 Dnve our service proposition We need to be able to stand
shoulder to shoulder with our customers and for them to
know they can come to our stores and get knowledgeable
advice and great service to help them buy the nght
product They need to be confident that we will solve ther
probtem quickly and efficiently Geek Squad n the UK &
ireland and Knowhow in the UK & Irefand and in the
Nordics offer customners services and techrucal support
that can help them with their product throughout its
Iifetime This 1s expanded in our second strategic pnonty

4 Reduce costs The scale of our operations across stores,
ranges, logistics, distnbution, repars and services means
that we can continually improve processes to reduce
costs We have removed a considerable amount of cost
from the business over the last few years by making the
business simpler, easier to operate and more efficient, we
remain relentiessly focused on managing costs to make
our business more efficient One of our pnncipal pnonties
n the coming year for improving cost efficiency is the
implementation of our UK & Ireland property plan The
prograrmme will, from 2017/18, result nac £20 millon per
annum reduction in our operating costs as a result of
lower leasing costs

2. Leverage our scale, our knowhow,
and our unique infrastructure to
drive growth in new product areas
including growth in services

We continue to expand and strengthen our proposition to
customers, our service capability and our relatonship with
supplers to underpin and dnve even greater advantage in the
markets in which we operate

Crowing complexity and interconnectivity of products means
that customers are increasingly demanding help and support,
not just in choosing the nght product, but also installation,
connection, support and repar Our Geek Squad and
Knowhow services are at the forefront of this in the UK and we
have introduced our Knowhow services across the Nordics

We must continue to innovate new services to help customers
and to remain relevant to the way products and connectivity is
evolving Behind our end-to-end service operation we have a
comprehansive infrastructure, inc'uding techrical phone
support, detivery, nstaflation, reparr and recycling We can
leverage this infrastructure to widen our customer base either
to customers who bought ther products through a third party
{for example, our fault&fix computer service), or for business
customers By doing this we can increase the efficiency of
using this infrastructure and deliver even better value services
to our customers

3. Continue to develop the Connected
World Services model and establish
it as a material contributor to
earnings

Connected Retailling

We successfully completed a tnal of opening and operating
Spnnt stores in the US, resulting in the creation of a Connected
Retail joint venture and the agreement to roll out 500 stores
over the next three years We have developed a new, more
cost-efficient in-store format with an intended roll-out of at
least three per week over the next 12 months In addition, as
part of our IP work stream we have taken over the operation

of 27 Sprnnt-owned stores in Miarmi and Dallas and we are
Investigating oppontunities to create vatue from OEM partners,
online optrmisation and store productvity improvements We
have a mghly expenenced team based in Kansas managing the
operation on a day-to-day basis to ensure the full potential of
the agreement 1s reached We are workang to Wentify our next
Connected Retail partner, focusing on high value markets with
competitive camer environments

Support and Services

We are now the second largest thwd-party provider of mobile
phenes insurance m the UK, reaching agreement with RBS to
provide ongoing mobile device insurance administration and
winning new busimess with EE and TalkTalk The Dixons
Carphone Merger has given us the opportunity to broaden
our scope of services still further, enabling us to now provide
a unique and differentated proposihon throughout the mobile
value chain With the emergence of connectivity in more
industries, the UK market 1s continuing to grow and increase
n complexity As a result we have rdentified a strong
opportunity pipeline

honeyBee software

heneyBee, branded Pin Point in Dixons Carphone, has been
transformational wathin our stores, processing over 250m
customer joumeys and achieving class-leading customer
satisfaction scores Work 15 now progressing to expand its use
into new categones and across all brands Excellent progress
has alsc been made in secunng honeyBee software contracts
in the US, with deals signed with Spnnt and a leading device
manufacturer, m addition to existing agreements in the UK,
Canada and Germany The honeyBee proposition of
simplifying the dehvery and management of complex digital
customer jourmeys has resonated well across several industnes
and we now have an actve pipeline in the Travel, General
Retail and Finance sectors, alongside significant opporturities
in cur mobile heartland To achieve global scale quickly and
access new industry verticals, we have agreed a channe!
distnbution deal with Accenture that utilises therr n-market
clent teams across the world to dnve honeyBee sales in all
relevant industnes

Dixons Carphone ple Annual Report and Accounts 2015168 15

Strategic Repont




Strategic Report

Strategy and business model

Business model

Our core retail busmess model, dnven by customer insight,
compnses three pillars underpinned by a low-cost

operating model

In order to ensure we undersland what products and services
our customers want, how they use the products they buy from
us and what they think of the service they get from us, we use
extensive customer insights  This includes customer panels,
interviews, home visits and detailed surveys We use this
nformation to build our ranges, improve our stores and
services and far other business decisions This 15 supparted
by mystery shoppers, exit surveys and customer feedback
During the year our UK & Ireland and Nordics businesses
continued to improve customer satisfaction metncs and
reached record highs

Taking each of the three pillars n tum, our model can be
described as follows

Multi-channe!
The shopping tnp for customers 15 constantly evolving

Our objective 1s to provide our customers with a searnless
and personalised expenence where convenience, ease of
navigation and simplicity are key in attracting custorners 1o
shop with us whether it 1s online, in-store or a combination
of both

Woe constantly aim to develop and improve our customer
joumey whether via our assisted sales tool Pin Point or by
improwing stores, making them easier to shop n, with, for
example, mproved navigation, better signage, and enabling
customers to interact with products before they buy Within our
recently refitted stores, the TV and audio category 1S set up to
resemble a fiving room enabling customers {o expenence the
full sensation of a large wall-mounted 4K telewvision with
suround speakers These joumeys are supported by product
specralists providing expert advice on the products’ features
and benefits

Our websites are an integral part of the customer shopping
Joumey 1n recognition of how customer trends are evolving we
have made 1t easier for cur colleagues, in particular within our
CurrysPCWorld stores, to access products and extended
ranges in store

Qur training prograrmmes, combined with cur product learming
centres and customer joumeys, provide our colleagues with
the nght tools to understand customers’ needs and to prowide
them with the complete solution to properly meet those needs
We will continue to improve the training of our colleagues and
the ways 1n which we can make them experts i the products
we sell For example they have recently undertaken a new
training programme focusing on selling mult-ptay

Products

Combiring our customer insight with our market-leading
presence we can make sure we have the nght range of
products and services in our stores to suit customers’ needs
Our scale and relationships with supphiers mean that we can
work with them to showcase the latest technology,
connectivity and products in our stores with areas dedicated
to key suppliers

In consurmer electronics, own-brand products enable us to i
offer customers greater choice and access to arange of
products at competitive prices We have defined a clear ‘good,
better, best’ brand range including Currys and PC World
Essentials, Logik, Wantit, Advent, Goji, and Sandstrem brands
We see particular opportunities in the area of accessones and
essentials with, for example, our own range of Sandstrom
cables In addiien, we continue to focus on the roli-out of cur
kitchen furmiture brand, Epoq, in the Nordics

After-sales sarvices and support

Our customers need help with ther products, whether it be
delwery and installation, help keeping their products up and
running or repair should things go wrong Our business n the
UK & treland sets the benchmark for our serices infrastructure
under our Geek Squad and Knowhow brands, the latter of
which 1s also avalable across the Nordics

We operate the largest network of two-man delivenes i the
UK with an average of 50,000 delivenes per week enabhng us
to pravide customers with the convenience of next-day
delivery in a four-hour tme slot or the option of a free delivery
at a later date We repaw more than 1m handsets per year and
provide over 11m insurance or service agreements, canry out
approximately 500,000 computing set-ups per year and take
125,000 technical support calls each week

Our Geek Squad and Knowhow teams in stores, in our call
centres as well as field techricians, can prowde set-up and
upgrade services and onine fix and backup services Qur
market-leading range of help and support services ensure a
customer has the backing of expertise and support that keeps
therr technology up and running Our state-of-the-art repar
faciity n Newark is able to repar and retum a laptop in seven
days Our network of field techricians offer white goods

repaw n a market we estimate 10 be worth around £700 million
ayear

Through ownership of the service infrastructure we can ensure
the quality of service delivered 1o customers This, we believe,
provides us with a ssgnificant competitive advantage m
meeting the needs of our custormers, as well as a revenue
strearmn not readily available to single channel onhinge and mass
market competitors
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Our resources

+ Customers

+ People

« Supplers

» Distnbution and logistics
+ Store portiolio

+ Intellectual property

+ Energy

= Cash and capital

Customers

We are dnven to provide unparalleled expertise and services to
help customers and businesses navigate the new digital era
and one of our key values 1s We put the customer first, always

To deliver on this value and to ensure we continue to respond
to customers' needs, we must listen and respond effectively
to them We have comprehensive customer research
programmes spanning a vanety of tools ncluding ext surveys,
mystery shoppers and focus groups as well as effective data
gathenng through, for example, our ‘Happy or Not' tac!s
{aunched in our Elkjep business and now introduced to
CurrysPCWorld Within our Carphone Warehouse stores, Net
Premoter Scores (NPS) are integral to our intermnal reward
system We are pleased that customer satisfaction scores
across the business are at record levels

Through this research, managed internally and reviewed daily,
weekly and monthly, we have developed a clear and detailed
understanding of what we are doing well and more importantly
of where we can target further improvements Customers tell
us that they need us to deliver a strong combination of ‘Value,
Choica and Service’ across all our shopping channels and it 1s
increasingly clear from therr feedback that they recognise that
we are doing this We will continue to delver easier, more
exciting places to shop for cusiomers whether in store, online
or a mutt-channel combination of both

Listening to customers extends to how we approach the sales
process in store Qur unigue training programmes combined
with Qur customear joumeys are designed to ensure customers
{eave our stores with a complete soluton that 1s nght for them
Donyg this 1s a key part of cur angoing strategy and delivery of
a sustainable business mode), as well as enabling us 10
drfferentate our offer from competitors

By maintaining our absolute focus on the customer and
delivenng what they want in a retail environment that 1s
constantly evolving, we will continue to attract new
customers and retain existing ones

People

Dixons Carphone 1s an orgarusation spanning Europe, with
over 42,000 colleagues in more than 2,200 stores, offices, call
centres and distnbution centres and one of our key pnonties
has been to build one culture, one wision and one future

Cur core values support this

* We put the customer first, always

» We stand together as one

+ We act bravely, challenge convention and do the nght thing
+ We know everyone can make a difference

* We believe anything 15 possible

These values support a ‘culture of discovery' ang face head-on
the changing environment it which we operate Our values
support us n cultivating a hugh performance environment
where each employee performs to the best of therr ability,
working together to achieve to their fullest potential Our
people are key to our success and it 1s essential that
colleagues are nnovatve and creative, customer-focused

and great at building relationships

We are focused on improving every possible aspect of the
shopping joumey We want our colfeagues to become famous
for service and we want to retain customers for Iife by having
exciting new stores, with the best range at great pnces and
providing excellent after-sales support and service We are
making excellent progress, however, we can continue to
make improvements to delight customers and to outpace

the competition

For further detads on employee related matters please see
our Corporate Responsibiity Report on pages 30 to 33

Suppliers

As market leader with an excellent reputation in the consumer
electronics markets we have exceptional refationships with
supplers

In a complex muit-channe! environment, suppliers trust us
with their new product releases and stock allocations, as they
appreciate the supenor service and advice offered by our
stores and indeed our websites, as well as the exciting
environments offered by our transformed stores in which
customers can expenence therr brands and products

We work closely with supplers of ali sizes to help themn delver
the nght product for customers, through the forecasting and
planning stages to ensure we deliver the nght levels of stock
for customers at the nght tme Both the mobile and electncal
retall markets are charactensed by a number of large globa)
manufacturers, who account for a large proportion of cur sales
However, we also source products from a large number of
smaller suppliers We seek to maintan strong relationships
with all of these suppliers, not just to source the nght product
for customers, but also to ensure the Group can purchase

the appropnate level of stock on favourable terns While we
utihse the Group's scale and buying power through an
internatronal buying team, we also maintan strong
relatonships at a locat level

Dixons Carphone pic Annual Repont and Accounts 2015/16 17

Strategic Repon




Strategic Report

Our resources

We continue to refine our own-brand ranges to sul all budgets
and tastes Our most notable successes have been the launch
of our own Sandstrom cables brand alongside our Essentials
ranges as key entry leve! products in our ‘good, better, best’
ine-up These products are sourced by the Group's teams
based in the UK, Nordics and Hong Kong in collaboration with
manufacturers in, for example, Asia

Distribution and logistics

The Group sees distnbution as one of the keys to success

in mantaimng highly competitive margins and delivenng
outstanding, market-beating service to customers We operate
a centrahsed system of distnbution centres for each of the
regions in which we operate This delivers signuficant
cempetitive advantages, including reduced operating costs,
reduced suppher delivery costs, reduced stock volumes n
store, increased flexibility as to where to deliver and when,
and a more effictent home delivery network for both us and
our customers Dunng the year we consolidated our
dstnbution and repair centres with the integration of the former
mobile phone facility at Wednesbury into our Newark site

While continuing to reduce costs, we are also constantly
raisng the bar, both in terms of successful delivery and
instaflation rates, but also the range and quality of services
we offer customers nationwide In our Nordic operations
(Jonksping, Sweden) and the UK {Newark), we operate two
of the largest distnbution centres of therr kind in Europe The
Jinképing sie s also expanding to iIncorporate an up-to-date
automated ‘small box' operation in the UK alone we now
make 50,000 delivenes per week, ncluding some 500,000
nstallations per year

Store portfolio

We operate a wide vanety of stores to suit the local customer
demographics We operate many high street locations, small,
very popular outlets in arport locations, and ‘megastores’ up
t0 60,000 sq ft, in out-of-town locations

We constantly review our store portfolio to ensure we have
the nght store for customers in the most competitive locations
As part of this ongoing review and following the roll-out of
Carphane Warehouse SWAS, in the UK & Ireland we are
mplementing our 3-n-1 stores across the ‘b box’ property
portfolio and when complete we will have over 300
CurysPCWorld Carphane Warehouse 3-in-1 stores

These stores allow us to offer the best of both worlds to
customers, attracting new footfall and often at a lower cost

in the Nordic region as well as Greece and Spain we also
operate a number of franchise stores This amangerment allows
our brands to be present in a wider range of catchments, while
ncreasing the volume of purchases and therefore buying
power of the Group and reducing our capttal requirements

Intellectual property

Within our Connected World Services division we have
developed our pioneenng multi-channel assisted sales tool
Pin Point powered by honeyBee We are also utilising our
intellectual property to assist third parties, such as Samsung
and now Spnnt, In connected retailing

in the UK & Ireland we operate through Carphone Warehouse,
Cunys and PC World brands, in the Nordics through our
vanous Elkjep group brands, in Greece through Kotsovolos,
and in Spain through Phone House These brands are
extremely well established and respected in ther markets The
Group also has two strong service busmnesses, Knowhow and
Geek Squad, aiming to dehght customers from end 10 end
while generating sigrificant new business opportunities

As well as our retall and service brands outined above, we also
sell a range of own brand products such as Sandstram, Goy,
Logik, Essentials, Advent and Epoq Each of these brands
have specific target markets defined in conjunction with our
customer research findings

Energy

Saving energy 1s good far the business, good for customers
and of course good for the environment  See our Corporate
Respons/bility Report on pages 33 to 35 for details of the
Group's environmental matters

Cash and capital

It remains the Group's policy to maintain a strong capial base
50 as o maintan investor, creditor and market confidence and
to sustain the future development of the business Through
careful cash management and with a focus on cost reduction
as well as efficient use of capital, management 1s focused

on ensunng we deliver a sustainable business with strong
cash generation

As a Group we need to make the nght choices as to how each
division ulilises or preserves cash, whether it 1s in determining
ranges and stock held in store, growing mobile share with
accompanying working capial utidisabon or managing retums
and related processes
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Key Performance Indicators

Financiat and operational

What woe measure”

Why we measure

Our performance

Headline The ability to grow revenue i1s an wnportant measure of a brand’s appeal to 2015/16 201415
revenue** customers and its compehtive position It s a key measure of the Group's £9 738m £9.750m
progress against our strategic prionty to continue to enhance and drive ' !
successful and sustainable retail business models in a multi-channel world
Like-for- Like-for-like revenue enables the perfarmance of the Group to be 2015/16 2014115
hke revenue measured on a consistent year-on-year basis LA 6%
growth
Market In line with the Group's strategy to be the leading specialist electncal and Market-leading
position mobile retailer in Europe, this 1s an important measure of how well postions in
custormers are being engaged by the Group's brands in each market UK & treland
Retaling operations should be, or be capable of becomung, the number Nordics
one specialist electrical or mobile retailer in therr market
Greece
Headline Continued growth of Headline EBIT enables the Group to mvest in its 2015/16 201415
EBIT** future and prowide a return for shareholders It s a key measure of £468m £413m
progress against our strategic prionty to continue to enhance and drive
successful and sustainable retail business models in a multi-channel world
Headline Continued growth of Headline profit before tax represents a measure of 2015/16 2014/18
profit before Group performance to external nvestors and stakeholders against our £447m £381m
tax* strategic prionties
Free cash The management of cash usage, in particular working capital employed in 2015/16 201415
flow** the busingss, optimises resources availlable for the Group to invest in ds £202m £89m
future growth and to generate shareholder value
Retum on ROCE 15 a key measure of the etficiency of the capital invested by the 2015/16 2014715
Camtal Group and the long-term value created for our stakeholders 219, 20%
Employed
(ROCE)
Shareholder

What we measure”

Why we measurs

Qur parformance

Headline basic
earnings per
share** (EPS}

The level of growth in EPS provides a suitable measure of the financial
health of the Group and its ability to delver returns to shareholders
each year

2015/16 2014/15
29 3p 255p

*  Defimtions of measurement for Key Performance indicators are given in the glossary and definitwons on pages 154 to 156
*  Headline performance measures are as defined n the Performance Review These have been reported on a pro forma basis as if the Merger
had accurred at the stant of the comparative penod
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Strategic Report

Principal risks to achieving the Group’s objectives

The Group recogmises that taking nsks s an inherent part of doing business and that compettive advantage can be ganed
through effectively managing nsk The Group continues to develop robust nsk management processes, Integrating nsk
management mto business decision-making The Group's approach to nsk management is set out in the Corporate Govemance
Report on pages 44 to 46 The principal nsks and uncertainties, together with their potential impacits, are set out in the tables
below along with an (llustration of what s being done to mitigate them

Specific nsks and potential impacts

Principal risk Specific risks Potenyal impacts

1 Dependence on » The Group 1s dependant on relakonships with key suppters Reduced revenue and profitability
ﬂe;:;?r:: and key to source products on which avaitability may be limited - Detenorating cash fow
suppher.

Changes in MNO strategies in relaton to the Group, or more
generglly and / or their performance, could matenally affect the
revenyes and profits of the business

Mergers between the MNOs could lead to a change in thewr
strategies and relationships with the Group

Reduced market share

2 Consumer environment  «
and sustainable
business model

Failure to respond with a business model that enables the
business ta compate aganst a broad range of competitors on
service pnce and / or range n a changing economy

Failure to respond effectively to changes in the industry,
econamic and / or competitor landscape

Failure o accommodate changes in consumer preferences
and behaviours

Reduced revenue and profitability
Detenorating ¢ash flow
Reduced market share

3 Greek exit from .
the Euro

Possible exit of Greece from the Euro ('Grexit') could lead to a
detenoration in consumer confidence and disposable ncome

resulting in a significant Impact on our Greek business, Kotsovolos

Reduced revenue and profitability
Detenorating cash flow

4 IT systems and « Falure o nvest adequately and appropnately in IT systems and - Reduced revenue and profitatnity
infrastructure infrastructure, or an inability to effectively ntegrate IT assels Detenorating cash flow
across the Group constrans the Group's abiity to grow and / or « Loss of compentive advantage
adapt quickly 550 pe 9
A key system becomes unavailable for a perod of time » Restncted growth and adaplabity
* Reputational damage
5 Information secunty = Mapor loss of customer, colleague, or business + Reputational damage
sensihve data + Financial peraties
Vulerabiity to attack, malware, and associated cyber nsks + Reduced revenue and profitability
owing o ynder-nvestmeant in people, systems and
safeguarding processes Detenorating cash flow
= Loss of competitive advantage
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Example mitigating actions and related strategic pnonties

Strategic Report

Example miigating actions Charge in nsk in 201516

* Multi-year comme:cial agreements are In place wath alk the major MNOs, which closely align interests
and drive value for both parties

+ Continuing to leverage the scale of operations to sirengthen relationships with key supplers and This nsk has remained stable
maintan a good supply of scarce products over 2015/16

» Strategic and business planning takes into account varying economic scenanos with ongoing
monitonng by finance and senor executives

« Close scrutiny of product performance, trading results competitor actinty and market share This ask is unchanged as the nature
« Use of customer insight / advocacy to monitor success of imiatives and actions and challenges in our business
« Continued tocus on drving cost improvements through cost-efficiency inbatives environment are consistant with
« Ongoing evolution of cur muiti-channel proposition the pnor year
= Drfferentiation from competitors through strategic partner refationships, inncvative proposiions, and
hgh quality customer service
* Working to leverage expertise and scale to buld partnerships with other retalers and businesses
through Connected World Services
+ Development of consumer services
+ Anumber of exit scenanos have been modelled 10 order 10 understand and mitigate the potental
impact on the Group’s business
+ Review of local funding armangements including factonng of debtor receivables The threat of mnminent Grexit has
+ Reducton in credit nsk exposure by bightening control over customer credit arrangements been averted Pohlical instatility and

economic uncertanty remain in
Greece but the situation 15 perceved
to be stabilising and owr local
business continues to perform well
This nsk has decreased in likelihood
but will remaun on our nsk register

under a watching bnef
+ Smnificant investment being made in IT systems and infrastructure across the Group, supported by
nEoOrous testing processes
= Post-merger [T transformation to align IT infrastructure to future needs of the busingss This nsk has remained stable
+ Indraduat system recovery plans in pface in the event of faiure which are 1ested regulady, with full over 201516
recovery infrastructure avadable for cntical systems
+ Long-term partnerships wath ‘tier 1' apphcation and infrastructure providers established
+ Implementation of a UK&I Information Secunty Improvernent Plan
+ Investment in information secunty safeguards IT secunty controls, monitonng, in-house expertise
and resources Our overall information secunty
+ Committee compnsing senior management in LUK&I, set up with responsibility for oversight, positton has been hardened in
co-orcknatien and monitenng of tnfermation secunty pelicy and nsk respanse to Increases in external
- Recrurment of a Chief Information Secunty Officer threals We continue to undertake
significant management effort and
« Ongong training and awareness programmes for employees \vestment to reduce this nsk
+ Ongoing programme of penetration testing exposure
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Principal risks to achieving the Group’s objectives

Specrfic nsks and potential impacts

Principal risk Speatic nsks Polental impacts
6 Financial Conduct « Faslure to manage the business of the Group in comphiance with + Reputatonal damage
::l;;:':r:tgn(‘FCA') FCA regulation to which the Group 15 subject in a number of areas . Financial penalties
L ncluding the mobile insurance operations of The Carphone
+ Reduced nues and profitabil
Warehouse Limied and the consumer credit activities of DSG reve profitabilty
Retal Limited Detenorating cash flow
» Customer compensation
7 Colleague retantion - The orgamisational structure and related accountabilities - Reputatonal damage
and capabifity restnct the ability 1o nun the business etfectively and adapt + Reduced revenue and profitabiiity
1o market change
+ Detenorating cash flow
= Failure to attract develop and retain qualty and depth of "3
necessary leadarship and management talent Loss of compettive advantage
+ Matunng of long termn incentive schemes may increase nsk
of higher tumover In sentor management population
8 Business continuity « A major ncident mpacts the Group's ability 1o trade and business - Reduced revenue and profilabiity

plans are not effective
and major ncident
1esponse Is tnadequate

contnuity plans are not effective resulting in an inadequate
incident respanse

Cetenorating cash flow
Reputational damage
Loss of competitive advantage

9 Fraud .

Payment card fraud

Marnputation or misuse of Electronic Point of Sale system and / or
other payment systems

Custarmer false identity and other 'no intention to pay’ frauds

n taking out network contracts

Reduced revenue and profitabiity
Reputational damage

10 Health and safety .

Failure to etfectively protect customers and / or colleagues from
mury or loss of iife

.

Employee / customer injury or loss of ifa

Reputational damage
Financial penaities

11 Impact of Brexit .

Feonomic uncertainty and impact on consumer confidence caused
by the decision af the UK to leave the European Union {'Brext’)
Further adverse exchange rate votatility

Longer termn changes In tax, regulation and other frameworks that
may impact our ability to operate across our European businesses

Reduced revenue and profitability
Detenorating cash flow
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Example mitigating actions and related strategic pnonties

Exampte mligating ackons.

Change in risk in 201516

.

Board oversight and nsk management structures actively monitor compliance

Senwor management perform oversight, co ardination and monitonng of govemance, ensunng
regulatory comphance and adherence to policy and monitoning of mitrgating actons

Internal committees, ncluding a dedicated FCA complance committee, and control structures to
ensure appropnate compliance {e g undertalung quality assurance procedures for samples of mobiie
phone sales) and to react swiftly shou!d issues anse

Ongoing investment in the comp¥ance team

Continuous review of the operation and effectiveness of comphance standards and controls with the
development of control improvement plans where required

New trarung programmes for colleagues implemented across the retal estate

This nsk has ingreased over
2015/16 due to the expansion

of the FCA’s regulatory regime
nto consumer credit and a general
ncrease n regulatory focus across
our aperations

Ongoing review to ensure appropnate and effective roles, responsibilities, and accountabilires
Defined and standardised performance management frarmeworks in place, with talent and succession
plans maintained and reward aligned to atiract and retan the best talent

Store structures which provide a clear career path for colleagues retaiming and dewelopmng the best
retall talent

Bonus plans which include components relabng to both business and personal performance
Contnued improvements in the qualty of training courses and development programmes with
spectalist focus on core business areas

Development of appropnate successian planning, as set out in the Nomnations Committee Report
on pages 55 to 55

This nsk has remained stable
over 201516

Business continuity and cnisis management plans in place and tested for key business locabons
Disaster recovery plans in place and tested for key [T systems and data centres

Cngis team appointed to manage rasponse to significant events

Mayor nsks nsured

This nsk has remainad stable
over 2015/16

Fraud prevention and detaclion controls

Real-time transaction monitonng

24/7 fraud and loss prevention teams

Customer identity venficabon and credit checks for network contracts

Liaison wath banks, card providers and MNOs to identify and miigate opportunities for fraud
Reportng and gversight by the Audit Committee

Whistle-blowing arrangements

This nsk has remained stable
over 2015/16

Sngle Group health and safety policy

Heaith and safely manager and team located across business umits and markets
Comprehensive set of polictes and standards supporting continued improvement

Pigk assessment programme covenng retad, support centres distnbuton and home services
Health and safety training and development framework

Heaith and safety inspection programme

Audit prograrmme including factory audits for own brand preducts and third-party supply chains

A comprehansive intemal review

of health and safety processes

after the Merger has resulted in a
reassessment of the nsk ‘We continue
to develop and implement policies,
procedures and practices to mitigate
this nsk

Long-term credit facilites in place
Foreign exchange hedging 1o mitrgale impact of currency fluctuation
Long-term contingency planning to address wider regulatory and legisiative changes

New nsk
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Strategic Rsport

Performance review

Highhghts: 12 months to 30 Apni 2016*
« Group like-for-like revenue up 5% {UK & trefand up 6% and Nordics up 4%)
+ Strong profit performance

— Headine PBT™ of £447 milhon (2014/15 £381 million) up over 17%

— Headline basic EPS™@ 29 3p (201415 25 5p)

— Total statutory profit of £481 million {2014/15 £97 millon) after Non-Headling'” charges of £176 mullion
{2014/15 £188 mullion) which include a loss from discontinued operations of £18 milien (2014715 £114 rmllion)

+ Frea cash flows® of £202 milion {2014/15 £89 million) and net debt broadly flat year-on-year at £267 miflion

+ Final dvidend of 6 50p (2014/15 6 00p) proposed, taking total dvidends for the year to 9 75p (2014/15 8 50p), up 15%
year-on-year

- Spnnt joint venture in the US expected 10 contnbute $40 million - $50 milion of annual EBIT to the Group by 2019/20

- hongyBes platform second major chent signed

Headline results*™
Headline revenus™ Hoadline profit / (foss)”
Local

2015/18 21415 curroncy™  Like far hke' 2015/16 2014115

Note Emiltion feihen % change %% changs mitlion Trhiltion

UK & {reland {5) 6,404 6,314 2% 6% 365 305

Nordics ®) 2,632 2,709 6% 4% 79 86

Southern Europe m 550 606 (5)% 4% 17 15

Connected World Services ® 152 121 26% N/A 7 7

Group 9,738 9,750 3% 5% 468 413
Net finance costs (21 (32)

Profit before tax 447 381
Tax {110} {88)

Profit after tax 337 293

“Basis of preparation - pro forma informaton

On 6 August 2014 an all-share Merger of Carphone Warehouse and Dixons Retanl took place The pnor penod information in the fighhights and
performance review sections refers, unless otherwise stated, to pro forma Headhne™ information for continuing businesses, reflecting the results
of both Carphone Warehouse and Dixons Retail throughout the comparative penods asf the Merger had occurred at the start of the
comparative period

Following the Merger, the Group changed its year end to be the Saturday closest to 30 Apnl The 2014/15 financial year as disclosed n the
2014715 annual report and accounts therefore compnsed the 13 months to 2 May 2015 for the Carphone Warehouse business In this
Annual Report and Accounts, the pro forma pror peniod results of the Carphone Warehouse business have been restated to exclude the
results of the five weeks' trading to 3 May 2014 to enable a befter year-on-year companson

A reconciliation from statutory ta pro forma financial information 1s provided on pages 151 to 152

Notes

(1) Headling resulls exclude amortisation of acquisition intangibles, Merger integration and transaction costs, property rationalisaton Costs,
acquisition-related costs and other one-off, non-recumng items, net interest on defined benefit pension schemes and discontinued
pperations {compnsing Virgm Mobile France and Phone Housa operations m Germany, Netherlands and Portugal) Such excluged stems are
descnibed as ‘Non-Headline For turther detalls see notes 4 and 25 to the financial statements

(2} Pro forma EPS for the penod ended 2 May 2015 has been calculated 2ssuming the aumbar of shares exisling at 2 May 2015, adjusted for
the number of shares hetd by the Group ESOTSs, were in ex:stence for the entire financial penod

(3) Change n local currency revenus reflects total revenues on a constant currency and penod basis

(4) Uke-for-like sates are defined in the glossary and definitions on pages 154 to 156

{5) UK & lreland compnses operations in the UK and Iretand and the Dixons Travel business

6] Nordics compnses operations in Norway, Sweden Fintand, Denmark, and lceland

(M1 Southemn Europe compnses operations in Spain and Greece

{(8) Connacted Word Services compnses the Group's B2B operation which leverages the specialist skills, operating processes and technology
of the Group to provide managed services to third parties looking 10 develop thewr own connected world solutions

(9) Free Cash Flow compnses cash generated fram / (ulitsed by) coninuing operations before special pension contnbutions, less net finance
expense, less income tax paid and net capital expenditure
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Pro forma Headline resuits

The performance review below refers, unless otherwise stated,
to pro forma Headline information for continuing businesses
The bass for the preparation of this information 1s descnbed
on page 24

Group

Group Headline revenue was up 3% on a local currency basis
but broadty flat in Sterling terms at £9,738 mullion (2014/15
£9,750 miihon) Like-for-like revenue growth was 5%, reflecting
strong growth in our UK & Ireland, Nordic and Greek
businesses The difference between the tota! revenue growth
on a local curency basis and like-for-like 1s predominantly

due to a reduction in stores in the UK durng the yearand a
decision to reduce low-margin wholesale actwity The Group
has continued to grow market share, despite operating in a
highly competitive marketplace

Headline EBIT was up 13% to £468 milllon (2014/15 £413
million) driven by the strong operating performance in the
UK & Ireland and the delivery of synergy benefits related
to the Merger Meadline profit before tax was £447 million
(2014/15 £381 mitlion) reflectng 17% growth from the
improved EBIT and a lower interest charge year-on-year
foliowing the redemption of the bonds previously held by
Dixons Retail m August 2014

integration of the two businesses 1s now fargely complete with
a single head office in each of the countnies where Carphone
and Dixons overlapped, one logistics and reparr centre in the
UK and 276 Carphone Warehouse SWAS now open

UK & Ireland

Revenue in the UK & Ireland increased by 1% to £6,404 million
(2014115 £6,314 milion) Like-for-like revenue for the year was
up 6% reflecting mobile phone market share gains along with
good growth in electncals The ditference between the total
revenue growth and lke-for-like predominantly reflects a
reduction in stores  This revenue growih combined with cost
and synergy savings has resufted in Headline EB!T increasing
20% to £365 million The business has continued to gan
market share helping to dnve sales and EBIT Our purchase

of Simplifydigital - the UK's largest and fastest growing
mult-channe! switching platiorm - leaves the business
well-pasitioned to benefit from growth in the multi-play market

The electncals business has delivered a very solid result with
growth n the sale of white goods offsetting weaker demand i
computing Television sales performed well, especially given
the World Cup last year

The mobile business performed extremely well duning the year
Post-pay volumes and market share have grown year on year,
with the business benefiting from additional SWAS stores, the
performance of our 1D mobile operations, and market share
gamns following the closure of Phones 4u in the prior year

tin January 2016 we launched a programme to roll out our
3-in-1 store concept 50 as to create the store estate of the
future This will Invalve merging the remaining PC World and
Currys stores and inserting a Carphone Warehouse in stores
that have not yet got one This programme will reduce our

store estate by 134 but will sigrificantly improve the store
expenence for our customers and colleagues, and we expect
the impact on sales to be neutral or better Given that the
programme will be mplemented dunng 2016/17, we expect
that the benefit to 2016/17 eamings will be modest, but
thereafter this activity will contnbute approximatety £30 mithon
of incremental EBITDA

At the start of the year the Group launched 1D, a new molule
network focused on providing users with increased contract
flexibdity, greater access to free data roaming and
competitively pnced 4G tanifs The performance of ID in the
UK has been very postive and the business now has an active
customer base of over 335,000 subscnbers

Nordics

The Nordic business has performed well in a challenging
economic environment, delivening 6% growth on a local
curency basis However, revenue in Sterling was down 3% to
£2,632 milion {2014/15 £2,709 milkon) predominantly due to
the devaluation of the Norwegian Krone relative to Sterling

Like-for-like revenue was up 4% despite the chailenging
commercial environment and some aggressive competiive
pncing The grawth in like-for-like revenue was dnven by white
goods, mobiles and laptops, offsetting weakness in PCs and
tablets We have continued to focus on ensunng competitive
pricing aganst pure players, albeit with some margin impact

In local currency, cur Nordic business delivered record
eamings but, due to the adverse movement in foreign
exchange, bath from translation of local currency results
into Sterting, as well as margin pressure due to mcreased
buying costs, Nordic Headline EBIT was £79 million
(2014/15 £B6 mullion)

The Merger has contmued to benefit the Nordics with the
launch of Elkjep Phonehouse stores in Norway, and the
integration of Phone House Sweden into ElGiganten The
extension of the Jonkoping warehouse to create Europe’s
most advanced small products distnbution centre is also
progressing well

In November 2015 InfoCare, a services and repar business,
was acquired in order to further the Group's services strategy
This business has now been successfully integrated into the
wider Nordics business The Epoq kitchen business also
conbinues to deliver very encouraging results with strong
revenue growth dnving rmarket share and appliance sales

Southern Europe

Southemn Europe had strong underlying results with hke-for-like
revenue up 4%, largely driven by the business in Greece which
contnues to perform extremely well in the face of a challenging
envircnment The Greek business benefited from strong
growth in white goods and tablets, which more than offset
some weakness In TV and laptops following the end of a
govemment laptop promotion n the prior year Whilst post-pay
volumes were down in Spatn we continue to pivot the medel in
line with the market to offer mult-play, ssm-only and handset
only, whilst successfully retaining our market share
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Performance review

Revenue on a local curency basis was down 5%, though

up in Greece despite the Greek business reducing volumes

in the low margn wholesale business The Spamsh business
continued to shift its store mix to franctuse and away from
owned stores, with owned stores down 52 to 249 but with an
ncrease in franchise stores from 198 to 249 Southem Europe
has reported a year-on-year 9% deciine in Headline revenue
to £550 miikon (2014/15 £606 mutlion) reflecting the factors
above and a weaker Eurp for much of the financial year

Southem Europe Headline EBIT was £17 mifion
{2014/15 £15 milhon), up 13%

Connected World Services

Connected World Services ('CWS') has continued to grow,
delvenng revenue of £152 million, up from £121 mitkon in the
prior year We are announcing new developments in three of
tha distinct business areas within CWS — connected retarng,
technology platform and support & services

In connected retahng, following the success of the al stores
we have agreed to roll out up to 500 stores with Spant m the
US, mcluding ¢ 150 i the year ahead Separately we continue
to expand on our consultancy agreement with Sprint and
deliver significant benefits to both parties, including operating
27 of Spnnt’s own stores n Miami and Dallas  The joint venture
continues to go from strength to strength and we expect it to
contnbute $40 mullion - $50 mullien to the Group'’s annual EBIT
Ly 2019/20

Within our technology platform busmess, we have reached
agreement with Spnnt to roll out honeyBee across the entire
Sprint estate in the US

In support and services, we aim 10 be the UK'’s largest
thurd-party prowider of mobile phone insurance We have
agreed a new third-party mobile insurance contract in the UK
with EE, we have extended an existing contract with RBS and
we have entered into a significant new distnbution agreement
with TalkTalk to support the sales and distnbution of mobile,
TV and broadband connectivity

We remain very excrted about CWS's prospects and conbinue
to invest in building the team and infrastructure to support the
growth potential of this business CWS's resutt for the year of
£7 million (2014/15 £7 rmilhon) 1s after a £4 million share of
losses from the joint venture ansing on the Spnnt venture and
1s a result that we consider satisfactory and in hine with
expectations

Net finance costs

Headiine net finance costs were £21 million (2014/15 €32
millon} The reduction In financing costs was pnmanly due to
the redemption of the bonds previously held by Dixons Retal
on 21 August 2014 and the Group's new revolving credit
faciity ncumng a lower rate of interest

Tax

The Headline effective tax rate for the full year 15 25%

(2014715 23%) The rate is higher than the UK statutory rate of
20% due mainly 1o higher statutory rates in the Nordics, certain
non-deductible items mainty in the UK and a reduction in the

value of UK-related deferred tax assets due to the forthcoming
reductions in the UK statutory tax rates

Cash and movement on net funds

The pnor penod information provided below 1s on a pro forma
basis and aggregates the net funds / (deb) and cash flows of
the Group and Dixons Retad, as though Dixons Retaill had been
100% owned by the Group throughout the prior penod, to
enable a complete understanding of cash flows

Free Cash Flow ~ pro forma basis

201518 201415
fmillion Lmilon

Headline EBIT 468 413
Depreciation and amortisation 137 137
Working capial (76) (159)
Capital expenditure {221) (182)
Taxation (586) (62)
Interest {31} (486)
Other items 24 4
Free cash flow before restructuring

items - continung operations 245 105
Restructuring costs (43) {16)
Free Cash Flow 202 89

Free Cash Flow before restructunng was an inflow of

£245 million (2014715 €105 milkion), an ingrease of 133%

The Groug expenenced a working capital outflow of £76 million
{2014/15 £15% milhon}, being an improvement on the previous

year which includted a non-recumng unwind of certain suppler

funding arrangements

Capital expenditure in the penod was £221 milkon

(2014715 £182 million), lower than antcipated, reflecting tight
management of capex spend The year-on-year increase
reflected spend on Carphone Warehouse SWAS, investment in
IT platforms and continued development 1n both our retail and
Connected World Services businesses We continue to keep
tight management of our capex spend as well as other
integration activities

The reduction i interest reflects the prior year nciuding
interest pard on the bonds previously held by Dixons Retail
until August 2014 and the Group's new revolving credit facility
incumng a lower interest rate

Restructunng costs in both the currant year and prior year
relate to Merger integration costs and prmanly reflect
employee severance and incentive costs, property costs
associated with the integration process and professional fees
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Funding - pro forma basis

Income statement - continuing operatons

201516 201415 2015/1¢ 201415
£million Lmalion £milllon £milkon
Free Cash Flow ~ pro forma basis 202 89 Revenue 9,738 8,255
Dividends (1086) {52) EBIT 304 324
Merger transaction costs - (90} Net tinance costs {41) (37)
Acquisittons and disposals including Profit before tax 263 287
discontinued operations (82) 2 Tax (84) (76)
Pension contnbutions (35) (28} Proft after tax 179 211
Other items T 14 ~  Basic EPS 156p 220p
Maovement in net funds / (debt) -
pro forma basis 7 (7g) Diuted EPS 151p  212p
O;;ea::gg net funds / (debt) - pro forma (260) (181) Revenue increased 18% to £9,738 million reflecting the
nclusion of a full 12 months' eamings from Dixons Retall in the
Closing net (debt) (267) {260)  cument year {prior penod results from 6 August 2014 to 2 May

{3) Opening net debt in the current penod refects the consoldated
net debt of the Group at 2 May 2015 including net funds
recogrnised within assets held for sate of £53 millon Cpening net
debt in the comparative reflects net debt for Carphone Warehouse
at 29 March 2014 and for Dixons Retail at 30 Aprid 2014

At 30 Apni 2016 the Group had net debt of £267 mulion,
broadly flat year-on-year to net debt of £260 million in the
comparative penod Free cash flow was an inflow of
£202 milkon (2014/15 £89 mullion) for the reasons
descnbed above

Merger transaction costs in the previous year reflected
professional and barking fees, the cash cost of share option
exercises as a result of the Merger and the cost of redeeming
the bonds previously held by Dixons Retal Net cash outfiows
from acquisittons and disposals In the current year were

£82 million pnmanly compnsing the final deferred payment for
the CPW Eurgpe Acquisition, the acquisthons of Simplfydigial
and InfoCare, and discontinued operations

The ncrease In pension contnbutions reflects the agreed
contnbution profile following the 2013 trenmal valuation

On 8 October 2015 the Group signed a new multi-currency
revotving credit facility for £800 mihon, which matures m
October 2020 and replaced the multi-currency term and
revotving credit facility which was previously in place

Statutory results

The explanation of the Group's results presented above 1son a
pro forma Headhine basis for the comparative penod Group
results as reported in the financial inforrmation are prepared on
a statutory basis, with the comparative penod consolidating
the results of Dixons Retail from 6 August 2014 These resulls
are summansed below

2015) offset by the additional month trading for the Carphone
Warehouse businesses in the pnor penod

Profit before tax reduced from £287 milhon to £263 million in
the current penod, largely due to non-Headline costs incumred
in the current year in relation to the Merger and property
rationalsation costs, which are explained later in this report

Net finance costs have increased due to the mclusion of a full
12 months of Dixons Retal, resulting i higher finance lease
and pension-related interest

The tax charge increased frem £76 mitlion to £84 milien
reflecting certan non-deductible non-Headline tems i the
curent year

Basic EPS has reduced from 22 Op to 15 &p for the period due
to the lower profit after tax and the increase in the number of
shares of the Group as pan of the Merger

Non-Headlne tems

Statutory profit before tax of £263 milion (2014/15 £287
million) includes Non-Headline charges of £184 milkon
(2014/15 £89 millon) These charges are analysed below and
are reported on a statutory basis with the Dixons Retail
business only consolidated from completion of the Merger on
6 August 2014

2015/18 201415

Emilfion fmétion

Merger-related costs {52) (41)

Amortisation of acquisition intangsbles {40) (35)
Property rationahsation costs {70) —
Acquisition-related costs (6} -

Net pension interest (16) {13)

(184) {89)

Costs incurred in relation to the Merger refate to integraton
costs pnmanly being professional fees, employee severance
and property costs associated with the integration process
{2014/15 £32 million) In addition, dunng 2014/15 transact:on
costs of £8 millon were ncumred, predominantly reflecting
banking and professional fees Merger-related costs also
includes the wrte-off of €4 million deferred facility fees which
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were mcurred as a result of the Merger and the financing
required to facilitate the Merger at short notice

The charge for the amortisation of acquisition intang bles was
£40 million (2014/15 £35 million) with the cumrent penod
including a full 12 months of amortisation of intangible assets
recogrised as a result of the Merger (201 4/15 penod from

6 August 2014 to 2 May 2015} The pror penod charge also
includes amorhisation for 13 months for those intangibles
recogmsed as a result of the CPW Europe Acquisiion whilst
the current penod refiects a 12 month penod

As explained on page 25, the Group has inthated a
reorganisation of its property portfolio to put it into its
long-tenm state The costs associated with this programme
relate to committed property exit costs, asset wnte-downs and
operational costs associated with the 3-in-1 store concept

roll out across the UK & Ireland

Acquisiton-related costs in the penod relate to professional
fees incurred in the current year as a result of the acquisition
of Simplifycigttal in the UK and InfoCare in the Nordics and the
revaluation of defermed consideration payable to the former
shareholders of the Epoqg kitchen business in the Nordics
following a reassessment of the likely final payment to be
made on the back of recent trading performance

Net pension interest was £16 milhon reflecting the charge
incurred In relaten to the Dixons Retall UK pension scheme
The cumrent penod charge reflects a full 12 months whilst the
pnor penod charge related to that incurred from the date of
Merger to the 2 May 2015 penod end

Discontinued operations

As reported at 2 May 2015, Virgin Mobile France and the
Group's retall operations in Germany, the Netherlands and
Portugal were treated as discontinued operations following the
decision 10 exit these pusinesses The assets and habilites
associated with Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal were
recogrised as held for sale at 2 May 2015 The sale of
operations in Germany was completed on 5 May 2015, the
Netherlands on 30 June 2015 and Portugal on 31 August 2015
Virgin Mobile France was sold on 4 December 2014 in the
previous financial year

A loss of £18 million (2014/15 £114 millon) has been
recognised dunng the year in relation to the disposal of these
operations

have increased, with the higher capral expenditure dunng the
year exceading amortisation and depreciation Workang capital
has stayed flat, whilst net debt has decreased with posttive
cash flows dunng the year as descnbed below Other net
jlabilities (tax, pension & other) have ncreased following the
disposal of assets held for sale (pnmanly in refation to Phone
House Germany)

Cash flow statement
201516 2014/15%
£million million
EBIT 304 324
Depreciation and amortisation 177 148
Working capital (14) (377}
Other operating cash flows (73) (53)
Cash flows from operating activities 394 43
Acquisitions (59) 322
Capttal expenditure (221) (168)
Other investing cash flows 24 20
Cash flows from investing activities {256) 176
Dwvidends paig (106} (52)
Other financing cash flows (11} (290}
Cash flows from financing activities {(117) (342)
Cash flows from continuing cperations 21 (123)
Cash flows from discontinued
operations 32 3
83 {120}

Balance sheet

2015/18 2014715

Ermithon Ermilhon
Goodwil 3,054 2,989
Other fixed assets 8086 852
Worlang capital (361) (381
Net debt {267) 313)
Tax, pension & other {472) (378}

2,860 2,763

The movement in goodwilhis due to the acquisition of
Smplfydigital and InfoCare, and the retranslation of currency
denominated balances largely in the Nordics Fixed assets

The statutory EBIT for the Group has reduced for the reasons
explained above Depreciation and amortisation have
mncreased with the prior period only including nine months

of Dixens Retall Working capital has stayed relatively flat
year-on-year whilst the outflow in the pnor penod was due to
timing 1ssues associated with the change of year end and the
day on which month end fell, as well as a permanent unwind
of certain extended suppler payment terms

Acquisition cash mnflows in the comparative penod reflects
cash acquired through the Dixgns Retall Merger whalst
cash outflows In the current year compnse the final CPW
Europe Acquisttion deferred payment and the acquisions
of Smplfydigital and InfoCare The increase i capital
expenditure reflects both a full 12 months of Dixons Retail
and an increase in undertying spend

The reduction in financing outflows 1s due to the pnor penod
ncluding the pay down of loans and borrowings of Dixons
Retail soon after the Merger whilst borrowings have remained
relatively flat year-on-year m the curreni penod  Cash inflows
from discontinued operations largely relates to consideration
on the disposal of Phone House Germany
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Comprehensive income / changes in equrly

Total equity of the Group has increased from £2,763 million to
£2,860 milion pnmanly reflecting the total statutory profit of
£161 milion, the gain on retranslation of overseas operations
of £66 milkon and the payment of dividends of £106 mullon

Other matters
Pensions

The IAS 19 accounting deficit of the defined benefit section

of the UK pension scheme of Dixons Retall amounted to

£472 millon at 30 Apnl 2016 compared to £486 million at

2 May 2015 Contnibutions duning the perod under the

terms of the deficit reduction plan amounted to £35 milion
(2014/15 £28 milliony The deficit has decreased largely as a
result of the contnbutions made to the scheme dunng the year

Dmdends

The Board declared an intenm dwidend of 3 25p per share, up
from 2 50p per share last year The intenm dividend was paid
on 22 January 2016

We are proposing a final dividend of & 50p per share, taking
the total dwdend for the year to 9 75p per share, a 15%
ncrease on the previous year {2014/15 8 50p) The final
dividend 1s subject to shareholder approval at the Company's
forthcoming Annual General Meeting The ex-chividend date s
25 August 2016, with a record date of 26 August 2016 and an
intended final dvidend payment date of 23 September 2016

Going concermn

A review of the Group's business activities, together with the
factors likely to affect ts future development, performance and
posdion, are set out within this Strategic Report, ncluding the
nsk managernent section The financial position of the Group,
its cash flows, hqudity position and bormowing facilities are
shown in the balance sheet, cash flow statement and
accampanying notes to the Group financial statements

The directors have reviewed the future cash and profit
forecasts of the Group, which they consider to be based on
prudent assumptions Based on these forecasts, the directors
consider that it 15 appropnate to prepare the Group financial
statements on the going concem basis

Viability statement

In accordance with provision C 2 2 of the UK Corporate
Govemance Code 2014, the Directors have assessed the
wiability of the Group over a penod longer than the 12 months
covered by the going concem provision noted above

The Board concluded that a penod of three years was
appropnate for this assessment as it 1s consistent with the
penod of focus of the annual strategre plan and reflects a
penod of greater certainty over forecasting assumptions

In assessing the wiability of the Group, the Directors have
considered the Group's cumrent posihon and prospects, nsk
appetite, and those principal nsks and mitigating actions as
descnbed on pages 20 to 23 of the Strategic Report

The strateg:c plan considers the forecast revenue,

EBITDA, working capital, cash flows and funding requirements
on a business by business basis as well as the available
borrowing facilities to the Group over the assessment penod
and the financial covenants with which those facdities must
comply The strategic plan has been subject to robust stress
testing, modelling the impact of a combination of severe but
plausible adverse scenanos based on those pnncipal nsks
facing the Group

Based on the results of this analysis, the directors have an
expectation that the Company will be able to continue In
operation and meet its habiities as they fall due over the
three-year penod of therr assessment In doing so, it1s
recogrused that such future assessments are subject to

a level of uncertainty and as such, future cutcomes cannot
be guaranteed cr predicted with certainty

Humphrey Singer
Group Finance Dwector
28 June 2016

Dxons Garphone ple Annuat Report and Accounts 2015/16 29

Strategic Report




Stratogic Raport

Corporate Responsibility

Dixons Carphone s comimitted to hugh standards of corporate and social responsibilty {'CSR) across the Group The table below
provides an overview of our key corporate and socl responsibility pnciples and therr interaction with our business mode!

At Dixons Carphone we

+ Sirnplfy the mobile, technalogy and electncal world

+ Make the potential of connected technology accessible and afiordable for everyone
+ Prowide unparalieled expertise and service 10 help navigate the new digitai era

Business Products Multi-channel Support
model Work with suppliers to showcase Provide customers with seamless Set the benchmark for support, gamng
the tatest tachnology, connectivity engagement and support, whether a significant competitive advantage in
and products onling, 1n person or a camnation meeting the needs
of the two of our customers
CSR ambitton | Understang how technology can be used 1o tackle social issues, then teverage our skills, expenence and positon
driven by to supporl communities, connected homes and the families within them, by helping 1o ensure occupants feel
insights properly equipped, safe and confident to explore the cannected world
CSR modet Innovate Collaborate Invest

Dehver transformative change

Collaborate with stakehofders

Invest in initiatives directly or indirectly

through innovahon as partners

which benefit the communities in
which we operate

CSR impacts People

Connected commurnity Environment

Supply chain

employees to grow their
carears, adopt healthuer
Iifestyles and engage
with good ¢auses

CSR Create a great place to Make a positive Impact as Strive for a sustamnable Operate an ethical

principles work, attracting the best a valued member of the gnvironment, mimmise busimess, vakiung rghts
talent and ensunng community while building wastage and optimise and prospenty across our
opportunities for vrand loyalty and irust efficiency value chain

We are committed to building a sustainable, responsible
and ethical business We listen to customers, shareholders,
employees and wider communihes to understand thew
expectations and ensure they are reflected i our business
decisions We balieve good sustanability practices make
sound business sense, not only to benefit the environment,
stakeholders and the communities in which we operate,
but to achieve our strategic pnonties

Qur approach to corporate responsibility means taking
business decistons guided by our values and code of ethics

People

Qur people are our endunng advantage and we invest in
ensunng we attract the best talent, that they remain engaged,
high-performuing and are able to deliver a great customer
expenence at all times We remain focused on embedding our
combined values through existing ways of working and in
2015/16 we mtroduced the You're Electac recognibon scheme
across the entire estate, using vanous channels to recognise
great performance and behaviours aligned to our values

We continue to make goed progress integrating our teams and
harmonising our tools and processes 10 create a consistent
expenence for every colleague while creating exciting
opportunihes that encourage them to grow thewr careers with
us through different roles, brands and functions

Engaging our colleagues

We know an engaged workforce delivers a great customer
expenence, which supports strong financial results This 1s why
our key aim I1s to communicate openly and honestty with
colleagues to gsve them z voice while cultivating pnde in
working for Dixons Carphone In 2015/16 we launched a
combined colleague engagement survey across the Group,
administered by an external provider Colleagues use this
batanced scorecard to tell us how they feel about working for
Dixons Carphone and their feedback is used to develop
targeted imitiatves 10 help us monitor performance, make

the nght decisions, recognise SUCcess and ensure our
company remains a great place 10 work New communication
platforms have been launched in the UK & lreland to ensure we
provide modem tools with an emphasis on collaboration and
peer-to-peer communication Further roll-outs are planned for
2016/17 We will continue to produce Connected, a hard copy
magazine for our 42,000 employees This commurucation
consistently receives positive feedback from celleagues and in
September 2015 it receved an industry award for Best New
Publication from the Institute of Intemat Communications
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Investing in colleague expertise

To help our people grow therr careers at Dixons Carphone and
develop the skills needed to perform well in therr role and help
to grow our business, we provide formal training, on-the-job
expenence and management coaching We have a learming
strategy to support our business strategy and all new
collieagues have a 90-cday p'an to set them up for success in
their role Colleagues have regular one-to-ones and a formal
review twice a year with theirr manager to discuss their current
performance and consider future development and career
plans Across Dixons Carphone over 200,000 iearming hours
were recorded last year with over 80% of this leaming
completed digitalty All training 1s designed to support us In
becoming trusted experts for our customers We also run
talent and ieadership development programmes to develop
hngh achievers and to improve leadership skills across our
management population

Employee benefits

Cur employee benefits packages are regularly reviewed fo
rernain attractive and conducive to the recruitment and
retention of 1alented indwiduals Colleagues are encouraged to
participate in our SAYE scheme to build a personal stake in the
business We work to achieve high standards in employment
practices and have a comprehensive suite of employment
policies and procedures, which we regularly review These
policies include guidance on being farmily-fnendly through to
colleague dispute management, ethical conduct, diversity and
equal opportunities

Health and wellbeing

Through the promotion of employee wellbeing, we am to
create a truly happier, healthier and more productive
workforce, at the same time as reducing time off through
sickness and ensunng optimum levels of energy and resiience

Healthy lving 1s encouraged threugh a number of intiatives
and faciittes On-site gyms are available in many of our mamn
support centres along with restaurants offenng a range of
foods, whuch are reviewed regularly to ensure they offer a
healtthy, balanced menu Our Employee Assistance
Programme, which is available 24/7 1o all our employees, offers
arange of informatron about ssues such as stress and
nutriion A number of products and serices are also available
to support employees, such as private medical insurance,
dental Insurance and a Health Cash Plan These products are
available at special corporate rates to employees and
subsidised rates for close family members

In 2016/17 we are participating in Mercer's Bntain's Fritest
Workplace survey and will use the resulting data to spot wider
health nsks to our employees as well as identify actions to
reduce absence rates and increase employee engagement

Average to Awesome

This UK wellbeing intiative focused on transforming 12
employees’ overall attitude to health and fitness With the
support of a specialised personal trainer, talcred nutntion
plans and the latest fitness technology, we recorded ther
combined weight loss at 78 3kg over the 12-week penod
They were each given a Fitbit Surge to record traimng
performance and overall activity levels and Fitbit Ana scales
to monritor weight, body fat and BMI between official
weigh-ins The participants developed a strong bond and
have continued positive changes to therr Iifestyle habits
Many now run regularly as part of their new healthy regime
and are taking on new personal challenges and events as
a direct result of this imtiative We are repeating this
prograrnme in 2016 with a new intake of colleagues

Equal opportunities

We are committed to equalty of opportunity across all of our
employment practces throughout the Group We strive to
prevent unlawfut discnmination in the warkplace on the
grounds of sex, race, disability, sexual onentation, relgion or
religious belief, age, mamage and ¢l partnership, gender
reassignment, pregnancy and matermity We promote an
honest and open environment and encourage colleagues with
concemns to report 1ssues to us either directly through line
managers or via an independent, confidential integrity ine

Disability

We encourage applicatons from individuats with disabiities
who can do the job and candidates will be considered for each
rale they apply for Every effort is made to retain disabled
celleagues in our employment, including making any reasonable
readjustments to their jobs, workplace or environment

Diversity

We value the benefits a diverse workplace bnngs, including,
but not restncted to, gender diversity and we recognise the
impertance diversity plays in achveving the nght mix of skills,
knowledge and expenence our orgamsation needs to reach its
potential Statistics for the UK, Iretand, Nordics, Greece and
Spamn are as follows

Altemployaes Sanlor managers Chreciors

Number % Number k) Number %

Male 29,175 69 74 74 10 77
Female 12,902 31 26 26 3 23

Connected community

Every decision we make 1s dniven by insights and our ambition
to prowide unparalieled expertise and services to help
customers and businesses nawigate the digital era, while
buiiding brand loyalty and trust

We aim to be a responsible member of every community we
do business in whether it's by match-funding employee
fundraising, community inhiatives or chanty partnerships, we
will implement new ideas to make a positive impact locallty
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Charity partnership

We set out to further consolidate our Corporate Responsibiity
programme, as well as our local and in-store chantable
activities through the support of a single chanty partner

In Decemnber 2015, the long-term chanty pariner of Carphone
Warehouse, Get Connected, merged with YouthNet to create
the UK’s largest support service for young people, The Mix
{registered chanty number 1048995) Just as Dixons Carphone
matches customers with the best equipment and services for
tharr needs, The Mix supports the physical and mental
waellbeing of young people under 25 across the UK, whatever
therr 1ssue, through the technology of therr choice

Our contmuing support of The Mix played a significant role in
their merger, propelling us into a new era of the partnership,
helping to dnve the chanty forward so they can recruit
hundreds of new volunteers and provide thousands more
hours of support to young people through new channels

In 2015/16 we gave a total of £447,390 to ths free, confidential
support service, which offers young people help 24/7, 365
days a year through phone, text, web, social media and
ccunselling The Mix connects them with experts and peers

to talk about everything including homelessness, finding a job,
maney management, mental wellbeing, relationship 1ssues and
crug use

Dixons Carphone Race to the Stones

Qur sponsorship of the UK's biggest ultra-marathon received
a European Sponsorship Award for Employee Engagement
and won Best Endurance Event at The UK Runming Awards
On 11-12 July 2015 over 2,000 public participants ran,
trekked or watked 100km along the ancient Ridgeway Over
230 employees signed up to get fit, rasing over £69,000 for
Get Connected {now The Mix) and promoting the work of our
chanty partner Overall, this event has raised over £500,000
for a vanety of good causes We continue our investment in
Race to the Stones n 2016

Roya! support

In Apnl 2016 we were delighted to announce Pnnces Wilham,
Harry and The Duchess of Comwall chose to support our
chanty partner The Mix as part of ther ‘Heads Together'
campaign, which ams to raise awareness of, and change,
the negative perception of mental health conditions in the
UK In 2016/17 we will work with the Royal Foundation to
promote this high profile campaign through in-store

activities and employee participation in events such

as the London Marathon

Techknowledge for Schools (T4S)

We continued our support for this registered chanty, investing a
total of £207,000 to help fund the largest independent research
programme n the world into the use of one-to-one technology
to transform education In February 2016, the decision was
made to close T45 after trustees became confident that major
issues around implementing technology nto schools had been
defined, the real benefits had been identified and valuable
insights Into successfully deploying technology to transform
learrung outcomes were gained and made pubhcally avaitable
Dunny the two years the chanty was in operation it worked with
over 45 UK secondary schools using one-to-one devices,
camed out comprehensgive in-depth qualtative research and
analyss, recorded 440 online interviews with teachers, hosted
40 focus groups with students, parents and teachers, fimed 60
hours of ethnographic observation, and interviewed over 12,000
pupils onling and 40 teacher leaders face to face Our body of
research has been made avalable to relevant stakeholders
including the House of Lords Digital Skilis Select Commuttee 1o
support the case for better technology provision for all schools
across the country

As well as providing gifts-in-kind, office and helpline
accommodation for The M, our support has directly funded
nvestment in a new volunteenng programme called Digital
Connectors, enabling the chanty to recruit and train volunteers
remotely, substantially increasing the hours of support they are
able to give, opening up employee volunteenng opportunities
as well as flexible opportunities for young people looking to
develop skdls In 2015/16, The Mix traned 99 Digital
Connectors volunteers, who have already supported over
3,000 young people across the UK. The Mix will continue to
buitd on this success, expand therr volunteer programme and
help more young people in need

Our support has atso enabled the development and launch of
an online counseling service, which has to date provided over
1,000 hours of counselling to under 25s Feedback about how
tha counseliing has helped has been overwhelmingly positive

Project BluPoint

We are proud to be at the forefront of tech innovation,
identifying technology for good and being a catalyst for
transformative change In May 2016 we invested in a project
to progress findings from our work with Techknowledge for
Schools, which highlighted that schools need reliable, quick
and affordable access to trusted educational content
BluPoint is the name given to a solar-powered device which
transmis digrtal content to areas without reliable or
affordable connectivity, on any handset using Wi-F, FM
Radio or Bluetooth Between July and October 2016, ten
employees will visit Durban in South Afnca, where we operate
a contact centre, to thal and evaluate BluPoint in resource-
starved schoals thereby empowenng tocal commurities with
free Intemet access to educational toals and services Project
BiuPoint 1s being run in collaboration with its mventor,

Dr Mike Santer, Technology Adwiser to the Bill Gates
Foundation, and hus team
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The Dixons Carphone Foundation
(‘Foundation’)

This fundraising account was established under the Chanties
Aid Foundation {registered charty number 268369) for the
benefit of the chanty or charties selected by Dixons Carphone
and approved by the Chanties Aid Foundation This account
was set up post-Merger {o deliver our ambition of mproving
Iives through technology and facilitates employee
match-funding apphcatons and one-off donations to
emergencies and disaster funds

In July 2015, semor Dixons Carphone executives took to the
tennis courts for a charty tennis tourmnament at The National
Tennis Centre raising £62,781 for the Foundation The
Faundation 1s also funded through our handset recychng ‘zero
value’ Take Back scheme in 2015/16 we donated £161,725
through the Chanties Aid Foundation to a vanety of causes
including Techknowledge for Schools and Get Connected

The DSG nternational Foundation is a charity in its own nght,
registered with the Chanties Commisston Withun 20¥5/16,
£75,000 was transacted through thuis Foundaton as part of
our fundraising commutment to Children in Need For 2016/17
we will continue o operate charntable actwmbes through cur
fundraising account established under the Chanties Aid
Foundation

Other charitable support

We support other chanties and local causes by match-funding
the amount of money an employee raises for theirr chosen
chanty by up to £100 or £300 for a team fundraising for the
same event In addition, many colleagues raised thousands of
pounds via a vanety of fundraising events such as the London
Marathon, football toumaments and fun days Dunng 2015/16
Dixons Carphone employees also donated £42,542 through
Give As You Eam, benefiting a wide range of local and
natonal causes

Outside the UK, Elkjep continues to support the Red Cross
Water for Life (Vann for Livet} project and donated
NOK 287,000 (£23,528) to this chanty during 2015/16

Environment

Woe are fully committed to meeting our emvironmentat
responsibilittes and himuting the impact of our operations in a
way that is both practically and economically feasible We are
warking towards best practice sustainabiity with mimimal
waste and optimal efficiency

Energy management

tn 2015/16 we combined the reporting platforms and energy
managemen! processes of the legacy Dixons Retal and
Carphone Warehouse businesses Our energy consumption
menitonng platform reports the hali-hourly electnicity data for
all our stores in the UK This allows us to monitor our sites
accurately, minimise wastage and optimise our efficient use
of power Supporting contracts have also merged to ensure
our meter operator (MOP/DA/DC) and bureau services are
aligned across both the Dixons Retal and Camhone
Warehouse estates

As with previous years, our energy efficiency programme
continues to utilise intemat funding for energy efficiency
projects We continue to explore new technologies and
advanced strategies to assist in our programme of energy
reduction and through 2015/16 a further £1 3 million has
been invested 0 new energy efficiency imbatives

LED hghting has featured heavily in our 2015/16 energy
efficiency programme and 15 delivening excellent results
through energy savings and improvements to our shopping
environment 19 stores and offices in two distnbution centres
were converted to LED hghting dunng 2015/16 along with

our Retall Support Centre in Acton and one of two buildings
at our Newark Distnibution Centre LED lighting 1s the standard
technology adopted in all new stores

Energy efficiency projects have been completed in an additional
12 stores to turther optimise our energy usage which include
fine adjustments to temperature set-points, tuned heating and
ighting strategies, and the installation of ighting controls

The resulting reduction in our energy consumption from the
above inthatives will be approximately 4,300 mWh per annum,
reducing our carbon emissions by over 2,200 tonnes of CO:
in the next year

In collaboration with our landlords, roof-mounted Solar
Photovoltaic (PV) installations have been successfully
completed at two large retall locations in Coventry and
Southampton and our water leak detection programme
continues through consumphon analysis to highlight
imregulanties and ensures optimum efficiency

Energy efficiency inibative

Dmons Carphone s delighted to have been once again
selected to parhcipate in the Department of Energy & Chimate
Change - EDR (Energy Demand Reduction) pilot scheme,
phase 2 Simlar to phase 1, this initative 18 inked to the large
scale roll-out of energy-efficient LED lighting to our second
750,000 sq ft national distnbution centre building n Newark
ard represents our largest Investment in a single energy
efficiency project to date Completion 15 expected by
September 2016
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Carbon management and legislation

Dunng phase 2, year 2 of the Carbon Reduction Commitment
{'CRC') energy efficiency scheme, Dixons Carphone's
combined reported emissions have reduced aver 15% against
the 2014/15 CRC year which represents a reduction In €xcess
of 20,000 tonnes of COzemussions

Dions Carphone merged its reporting aganst the CRC,
energy efficiency scheme for the 2015/16 CRC year under
Dixons Carphone ple, registration number CRCB030144
The Dixons Retail plc CRC account, registration number
CRCA584817, was selected for and successtully passed
a compliance audi dunng 2015/16 pnor to closure of

this account

Carbon Disclosure Project (‘CDP')

We plan to subrmit our response to the COP Chimate Change
Information Disclosure questionnaire for 2015/16 by the
30 June 2016 deadline

EU Directive 2012/27/EU, Article 8 (Energy Efficiency)

This EU Directive was transpoesed into UK & Insh legislation as
the ‘Energy Savings Opportunity Scherme' and the ‘Energy
Audit Scheme’ respectively Dixans Carphone comphed vath
the requirements of this new legistation i advance of the
December 2015 deadline

Mandatory Greenhouse Gas (‘GHG’)
reporting

This section provides the emission data and supporting
information required by The Companies Act 2006 {Strategic
Report and Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013, Pant 7
Disclosures Conceming Greenhouse Gas Emissions

This report covers the intemational operations of the Group,
including the UK & Ireland, the Nordics and Southem Europe
Operational control has been used to determine organisational
boundary All scope one and two emussions are included
except where noted

2015/16 2018115 201415
Tenmes of  Increase/ Tonnes ol  Tonnas of

Category / source of COw  (decrease) Coe COe
amizsions emitted’™ “% emitted'*  amited'™
Ermissions from

combustion of

fuel® 20,614 43% 19,760 21,077
Emissions from

operation

of any faciity™ 2,797 (236)% 3,661 3,680
Emissions from

purchase

of electricity 109,534 (14 2)% 127,607 130,819

132,945 {120)% 151,028 155,576

215/18 2013/15 2014715

Tonnes Tonnss Tonnes

of COm of COze ol CO=e

emitted par  amitied per  amitted per

10006gf 1000sqh  1000sat

of floor of ftoor ot Moor
area® areats® arga 2

Dixons Retail intensity
measure 576 573 573

Carphone Warehouse
ntensity measure

Dixons Carphone intensity
measure 636 - -

1375 17 41 17 70

{1a) Exclusions compnse franchises as they do not fall directly under
the Group’s operational control, emissions from Carphone
Warehouse's divested retall operations sn Germany and the
Netherdands The divested operations have been excluded from
2015/16 GHG reporting aumbers and a restated number (with the
sarme axclusions) has been prowded for 2014/15 for comparnson
on a hike-for-hike basis

(1b) Tonnes of COze emitied as reporied in last year's (2014/15) report,
including Germany and the Netherdands

(2} Owerall floor area of the Dixons Carphene business is estimated to
be 20,889,357 sq ft This 1s spht between the Dixons Retait
business which 1s estmated 1o be 19,304,134 sq ft (20,659,929 sq
ft restated for 2014/15) and the overall fioor area of the Carphone
Warehouse business 1s estmated to be 1,585,223 sq ft (2,106,753
sq ft estimated for 2014/15) The calculations use the
methodalogy set out in Defra’s updated greenhouse gas reporing
gudance Environmental Reporting Guidelines (ref PB 13944),
1ssued in Juna 2013

{3) Refngerant data from the Wednesbury Carphone Warehouse site
was not included as the data was »ot avaidable (although this s
estimated to be less than 1% of total emissions for the Group)

(4) The overall floor area of the Dixons Retail and the Carphone
Warehguse busmesses as reported in 2014/15 was found to bein
arror owing to Issuss In data collection and data rebabity These
issues have been addressed and the intensity figures for 2014/15
have been restated using the ¢orrected floor area

Ethical sourcing

Many of our electncal products are sourced through major
nternational brands, which have their own strong ethical and
environmental policies in place The Group operates its own
Ethical Sourcing Policy based on the Sociat Accountability
8000 and the FTSE4Geod critena and takes into account the
recent introduction of the Modem Slavery Act We work
closely with organisations such as the Supplier Ethical Data
Exchange ('Sedex'} and the Bntish Retal Consortium to ensure
our pohcies and procedures remain relevant

We have our own social and ethical auditing team and audn
suppliers of our own brand products, prior to selection, agamst
strict trading terms and operating procedures Included within
these terms are ruirimum standards in respect of health and
safety, wages, working hours, equal opporturities, freedom of
association, collective bargaining and disciplinary procedures
It 1s also against our terms of operation to employ any forced
or child labour Once the audits are complete, supplers are
rated on a traffic light basis Green status on an audit indicates
that a supplier meets or exceeds all of our standards Amber
status indicates that some of the standards required have not
been fully met Red status means that some significant faidures
were identified against our Ethical Sourcing Policy standards
Suppliers are approved If they reach either green or amber
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status in our audits Once suppliers have been approved they
remain subject to regular checks and audits and therr status
may be adjusted accordingly These supplier audits are camed
out with a view to assisting them n improving thesr working
practices and we work with factones where failures have been
dentified Wherever we can, we work wath the supplier to make
improvements, where this 15 not possible or no iImprovements
are made, they will not be approved as a supplier, or will be
delisted as appropriate Duning the year under review, 21
suppliers were classified as red, faled to make improvements
and therefore the Group did not approve them to supply our
branded products or they were delisted

The results of ethecal supply chain audits camed out dunng the
penod under review are

Waste Electricatl and Electronic
Equipment (‘WEEE’)

We provide access for chanties and re-use companies to our
16 customer service centre depots across the estate where
selected white goods uniis are picked for potential re-use

This year 67,000 units were re-used in the third sector,
providing local communities across the UK with affordable
products Alongside the socal benefit, thus imtiatve saved
around 7,000 tonnes of CO; For the 1 1 rmilion units that
cannot be re-used, which equates to around 55,000 tonnes,
these are recycled and sorted into the vanous grades of metal /
other matenals to be manufactured into new products

This Strategic Report was approved by the Board and sigrned
on its behalf by

Datstea 7
Tatal Not
Red Amber Groen augis approved
Audit status 2% 97 ~ 123 2f )

Waste and recycling

We strive to deliver continucus smprovements to our recyching
and sustainabihty programme All recyclate from our stores 1s
now backhauled to our nattonal recychng faciity at Newark
Across cur estate, our 186 customer service centre depots have
standardised equipment to deliver consistent grades of
cardbeard, plastic and expanded polystyrene to our recyclers
in order to ensure we utiise the transport to a maximum and
obtan the best valug we can achieve for our matenal Cur
volumes increased by 126 tonnes smce 2014/15 Working with
our recyclers we have been able to deliver to the hierarchy of
waste requirements to provicle single stream matenals for
recycling, thus providing high-quality raw matenals into
manufaciunng processes preventing the need for further virgin
matenals to be purchased

V

Sebastan James Humphrey Singer
Group Chiaf Executve Group Finance Director
28 June 2016 28 June 2016
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Corporate Governance

Board of Directors

Sir Chartes Dunstone
Chaiman N

Sir Charles Dunstone 1s the Charrman of Dixons Carphone and the
Nominations Committee He s the founder of Carphone Warehouse
and was chamman of Carphone Warehouss from 28 January 2010 He
was chiel executive officer of Carphone Warehouse from 1989 to 2010
where he led its growth to become one of Europe's largest independent
telecommunications retalers Sir Charles was also apponted chairman
of TalkTalk pic n 2010 He was previously non-executive director of
Caty Mall and General Trust plc and Indepandent Med:a Distnbution plc
{now Independent Media Distnbution Limited) S Chares was
charman of The Pnnce’s Trust from 2008 to 2015, having been a
mamber of its Council since 2000 Si Chares is a partner in Freston
Road Investrments LLP and also chaiman of Royal Museums
Greenwich and BAR Racing

Sehastian James
Group Chief Executive

Sebastian James was appainted Group Chief Executive of Dixons
Carphone on & August 2014 following the merger of Dixons Retail wath
Carphone Warehouse He joined Dixans in Apnl 2008 and tald vanous
roles, including group operations director, pnoe to his appointment as
group chief executive in February 2012 Before joining Dixons,
Sebastian was chiet executive officer of Synergy insurance Services
Limited and was strategy director at Mothercare pic He started his
career at The Boston Consulting Group Sebastan 1s also a non-
expcutive director of Direct Line insurance Group plc and trustee of the
charities Save the Children and Techknowledge for Schools

Humphrey Singer
Group Finance Director

Humphrey Singer was appointed Group Fmance Dhvector of Dixons
Carphone on & August 2014 following the merger of Dixons Retail with
Carphone Warehouse He was apponted group finance director of
Dixons in September 2011, having joined 1ts board n July 2011 Since
jeing Dixons in 2007, he has hetd a number of finance roles, namely
finance drector of Currys, greup financial controlter, and finance
director of the UK & Ireland division  Pror to joinsng Dixons, he held a
number of finance roles at Cadbury Schweppes pic and Coca-Cola
Enterprises UK Limited, including finance director at the latter
Humphrey 1S also a non-executive director of Taylor Wimpey pic

Katie Bickerstaffe
Chief Executive, UK & Ireland

Kate Bickerstatfe was appointed an Executive Director of Dixons
Carphone on 6 August 2014 foliowing the merger of Dixons Retail with
Carphone Warehouse She retamed her respons:bilies as Chiet
Executive of UK & treland for the Dixons business on merger and from
1 May 2015 assumed responsibility for the whole UK & Ireland division
Kate jomned the Dixons board on 20 February 2012 and was the chief
executive of UK & lreland for Dixons She joined Dixons as director of
marketing, people and property n June 2008 in addition 10 her
executive position she Is also non-executive director of Scottish and
Southem Energy plc Prewvicusly, Katre was managing director of Kwik
Save Limited and group retail director and group HR director at
Somerfield ple Her earlier career ncluded roles at Dyson Limited,
PepsiCo Inc and Undever PLC

Andrew Hamson
Deputy Chief Executive

Andrew Hamson was appointed Deputy Chief Executive of Dixons
Carphona on 6 August 2014 foliowsng the merger of Dixons Retail with
Cerphong Warehouse Before this, Andrew had been with Carphone
Warehoyse since 1995 and became a plc board member 1n 2006, a role
ha hald until the formation of the joint venture with Best Buy in 2008
Andrew played key rales in establishing the TalkTalk business and in
expanding the Best Buy Mobile operation in the US Andrew also
relained responsibility for both the Carphone Warehouse and Phone
House operations and in 2010 he was appointed chief executive officer
of the Best Buy Europe joint venture Following the conclusion of the
joint venture 1n 2013, Andrew becarmne group chief executive of
Carphone Warehouse Andrew is also a non-executive drector of
Ocado Group PLC and a trustee of Techknowledge for Schools

Key

A Audit Committee
N Nominatons Committee
R Remuneration Committes

Graham Stapleton
Chief Executive,
Connected World Services

Graham Stapleton was appointed an Executive Drector of Dixons
Camphone on § August 2014 following tha merger of Dixons Retail with
Carphone Warehouse Graham is Chigf Executive of Connected World
Sarvices and manages its relationship with Spnnt Corporation He was
previously chief executive officer of UK & irefand for Carphone
Warehouse He joined Camphone Warehouse in 2005 and has held a
vanety of board pasiions in both the UK and Europe Graham 15 also
a trustee at the children’s chanty Make-A-Wish Previously Graham
worked for Kingfisher pic and Marks and Spencer pic
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Lord Livingstan of Parkhead
Deputy Charman N R

Lord Livingston of Parkhead joined the Board as Deputy Chaman and
Non-Executive Director on 16 December 2015 He s Chaiman of the
Remuneration Committee end a member of the Nomunations
Committee Ha previgusly held the pasition of chief executive officer at
BT Group plc from 2008 to 2013, pnor to that he was chiet executive
officer of BT Retall and group chief financial officer of BT Heisa
Chartered Accountant and previcusly held the position of chief financial
officer of Dixons between 1896 and 2002, hawng served in a number of
roles over more than a decade with the company Pnor to that he held
vanous roles withun 31 Group, Bank of Amenca and Arthur Andersen
Fram 2013 to 2015, Lord Lsvingston was Mintster of State far Trade
and Investment He was afso non-executive director of Hilton Group plc
and Fraeserve plc He s curently chawman of Man Group ple, a
non-executive diractor of Celtic pic and Belmond 1td, and a trustee

of Jewish Care

Tony DeNunzio CBE
Senior Independent Director M R

Tony DeNunzio CBE joined tha Board as a Non-Executve Director on
16 December 2015 Tony 15 Semor Independent Director and a member
of both the Nominations Committee and the Remuneration Comnuttee
He held the position of president and chief executive officer of
Asda/Walmart UK from 2002 to 2005, having previousty served as chief
financea! officer of Asda PLC He started his career in the fast-moving
consumer goods sector with financal positions in Unilever plc, L'Oréal
and PepsiCo Inc He was also previously non-executive diector of
Alllance Boots GmbH chaimman of Maxeda Retal Group BV and
deputy chairman and senior independent drector of MFI Fumiture
Group pic (now Howden Jotnery Group pic) He has also been ¢harman
of the advisory board of Manchester Business School and was awarded
a CBE for services to retail in 2005 Tony ss non-executive chaimman of
Pets at Home Group Pic, non-gxecutive director of PnmaPnx SL and
semor adwiser at Kohlberg, Kraws Roberts & Co LP

Andrea Gisle Joosen
Independent Non-Executive Director ¥ A

Andrea Giste Joosen was apponted as a Non-Executive Director of
Dwons Camhone on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Dixons
Retal wath Carphone Warghouse Andrea joined Cixons as a non-
exacutive director on 1 March 2013 She s currently charman of
Teknikmagasinet AB and a non-executive director of ICA Gruppen AB,
James Hardw ndustnes plc, Mr Green & Co AB and BilterudKorsnds
AB Former roles include non-executive director of Lighthouse Group
chisf executive of Boxer TV Access AB in Sweden and managing
director (Nordic region) of Panasonic Chantelle AB and Twenueth
Century Fox Her earty career involved severat senior markeling roles
wath Procter & Gambie and Johnson & Jobnson

Tim How
Independent Non Executive Director B

Tim How was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of Dixons
Carphane on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Dixons Retal with
Camhone Warehouse Tien joined Dixons as a non-executive director on

8 September 2009 and became senior independent direclor on 9 May
2012 He hotds a vanety of extemal board postions, including chaiman
of Wobum Enterpnses Limited, senior indepandent director of
Henderson Group pie and the Norfolk and Norwch University Hospitals
NHS Foundaton Trust, and charman of Roys (Wroxham) Limisted
Former roles include chavrman of Rayner and Keeler Limited and Enotna
Wine Group Limited, and non-executive director of Peabady Capital

ple Tim served as cheef executive of Majestic Wine plc, where he led
the management buy-out of the business and subsequent Altemative
Investment Market (AIM) flotation Paor to this, he was managing
director of Bejam Group plc

Jock Lennox
Independent Non-Executve Director A

Jock Lennox was appainted as a Non-Executiva Director of Dixons
Carphone on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Dixons Retail with
Carphone Warehause and 1s Chairman of the Audit Commuttee Jock
joined Dixons Retail as a non-executive director on 10 January 2012
He s a Chartered Accountant and worked for over 30 years {20 years
as a partner) tar EY (farmerly Emst & Young) in the UK and globally He
retwed from EY in 2009 and has subsequently acled as a non-executve
director of a number of companies He was also a council member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotfand He s cumently
senior independent director of Oxfard Instruments plc and Hll & Smith
Holdings PLC, a non-executive director of A8J Mucklow Group plc and
EnQuest plc, and a trustee of the Tall Ships Youth Trust

Baroness Morgan of Huyton
Independent Non-Executiva Director A

Baroness Morgan of Huyton s a Non-Executive Director of Dixons
Carphone and joined Carphone Warehouse as a non-executive director
on 28 January 2010 She was a non-executive director of Carphone
Warehouse frorm 2005 to 2010, pnor to the demerger with TalkTalk
From 2001 to 2005, she was director of govemnmant relations at

10 Downing Streat Pnor to this, Baroness Morgan was politcal
sacretary 1o the Pnme Miruster from 1997 to 2001 and was appointed
Mimster for Women and Equalites in 2001 In 2006, she was apponted
as a board member of the Olympic Delivery Authonty She was
previously char of Ofsted and a member of the adwisery committes of
Virgin Group Heldings Limited  She 1s currently an adwisor to the board
of the chridren's chanty ARK and a non-executive director of
Countryside Properties PLC

Gerry Murphy
Independent Non-Executve Director A

Gery Murphy 15 a Non-Executive Director of Dixons Carphone and
joined Carphone Warehouse as a non-executive director on 2 April
2014 He s a former Delostte LLP partner and was leader of its
Professional Practices Group with direct indusiry expenence in
consumer business, retail and technology, media and
telecommumcations He was a member of the Deloite board and
chaiman of its audit committee for a number of years and alsc
chaimman of the Audit & Assurance Faculty of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales Geny was appainted as & non-
executive board member of the Department of Health on 1 August 2014
and a non-executive duector of Capital & Counties Properties PLC on
1 March 2015
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Corperate Govarnance

Corporate Governance Report

Chairman’s introduction

| have great pleasure in presenting my introductian to the
Corporate Govemnance section of the Annual Report and
Accounts 2015/16 We are now well into the amalgamation

of our businesses and are fully aware of our responsibility In
ensunng our corporate governance practices and procedures
are 'fit for purpose’ under the new structure | set out below
how the Company has embraced good corporate govemance
practice and how we will use this to form a stable foundation
for the butlding of shareheolder value

Corporate govemnance

Good corporate govemance 1s at the heart of any well-run
business We have reviewed and updated our Group policies
and procedures to comply with best practice Our Board
policies, such as diversity, tme commitment, the role
descnptions of the Chairman, Group Chief Executive and
Senior Independent Director, external appointments and
external advice are reviewed and refreshed annually The
Board has reviewed and adopted our practices agamst the
2014 UK Comporate Govemance Code (the ‘Code’), bnnging
the business's policies and practices into akgnment

Changes to the Board

On 16 December 2015 Lord Livingston of Parkhead joined the
Board as Deputy Chairman and Tony DeNunzio CBE as Senior
Independent Director Roger Taylor and John Gildersleeve
stepped down at the same time, and the Board would like to
take this opportunity to thank them warmly for their adwvice and
service to the Board and the bysiness as a whole Lord
Lmangston and Tony DeNunzic possess considerable
expenence ganed throughout ther business careers and will
undoubtedly make valuable contributions

Role and composition of the Board

The members of the Board are as set out on pages 36 to 37
of this Reponrt

The Nommnations Committee reviews each year the
composition of the Board, ncluding the independence and
commtment to the Company shown by the nen-executive
directors dunng the year That review also includes gender,
professional and intemational diversity The Board has three
fernale directors, one of whom is not based in the UK and who
prowdes strong support on matters relating to the European
business environment

After this year's review it was agan concluded that the Board
possessed the necessary skills and expenence to discharge its
duties fully and to challenge management effectively

The Board and Committees Structure

As part of the annual reviews, the non-executive directors were
asked 1o confim that they continue to have enough time to
dedicate to Company business and all have formally done so
As a untary Board the directors acknowledge ther joint
responsibility for the business’s success We have clearly
differentiated the roles between executive management
running the business and our non-executives, who provide the
appropriate level of scrutiny and oversight In this way, the
directars work together to challenge as well as support each
other, with the aim being effectve decision-making, leadership
and accountability for all aspects of the business

Induction

The directors have continued to widen their knowledge of the
business as a whole through formal presentations, visits to
stores and facilities, and informal discussions Lord Livingston
and Tony DeNunzio participated in talored induction
programmes upon jening the Beard, including meetings with
key company executives

Board evaluation

In 2016 the tnennial external Board evaluation was camed out
on behalf of the Company by NJMD Corporate Services
Limited, an independent consultancy, wiich has ng connection
to Dixons Carphone The evaluation nwolved an m-depth
review of the Board's activities, the directors' interaction and
their effectiveness in carrying out therr roles Further
information can be found on pages 43 and 56

Committee structure

The mamn commuttees of the Board are the Audit, Nominations
and Rernuneration commitiees Each has a dedicated section
in this Report Beneath Board level there are further
management level committees which report back to the
Board as necessary ’

Conclusion

We possess a strong, balanced and diverse Board supported
by sound policies and procedures This provides us with a
good platform to grasp the opportunities that the future will
bnng My fellow diectors and | look forward 10 meeting you at
this year's Annual General Meeting in September

Sir Chartes Dunstone
Charman
28 June 2016

li Dixans Carphone Board J

Audit Committee' ] [

Nomunations Committee?

I l Remuneration Committee® ]

1 Audit Committee pages 50 to 54
@ 2 Nominatons Committee pages 55 to 56
3 Remuneration Committee pages 57 to 81
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Corporate Governance statement

The Board confirms that throughout the year ended 30 Apnl
2016 and as at the date of this Annual Report and Accounts,
the Company has, except to the extent stated below, been in
comphance with the Code

The Company did not have a Senior Independent Director
{'SID) after the resignation of John Allan on 17 February 2015
The Board undertook a thorough selection and search process
for the most appropnate candidate and the Company was fully
compliant following Tony DeNunzio's appontment as the SID
from 16 Decernber 2015

This Report, together with the Directors’ Report and the
reports from the Audit, Nominations and Remuneration
committees together provide details of how the Company has
applied the pnnciples and complied with the provisions of the
Code dunng the year The Code can be obtaned from the
Financial Reporting Council's website, www fre org uk

Board responsibilities

The overrking responsibility of the Board 1s to provide clear,
entrepreneunal and responsible leadership to the Group wathun
a framework of efficient and effective controls se as 1o allow
the key issues and nsks facing the business to be assessed
and managed

Composition of the Board

As at 30 Apnl 2016 and as at the date of approval of this
Annual Report and Accounts, the Board compnses 13
members the Chairman, five executive dwectors and seven
non-executive directors, each of whom is detenmined by the
Board to be independent in character and judgement and who
provide effective challenge to the Board and the business
These directors are Tony DeNunzio, Andrea Gisle Joosen,
Tim How, Jock Lennox, Lord Livingston of Parkhead,
Baroness Morgan of Huyton and Gerry Murphy More than
half the directors, excluding the Chaimman, are therefore
considered to be iIndependent in accordance with the Code

The Board recogrises that since 2005 Baroness Momgan has
been a non-executive director of Carphone Warehouse
Accordingly her iIndependent status was subjected to further
and specific scrutmy The Board does not believe her length of
tenure affects her ndependence, having evidenced her
commmutment and independent stance throughout her dealings
with the business and her fellow directors

At last year's annual general meeting Gamy Murphy was
re-elected as director with less than 90% of the votes cast,
due, pnncipally, to a perceved lack of independence The
Board, whilst taking intoe account shareholders’ concems,
considers that no ‘matena)l business relatonship’ existed
between Gerry Murphy and the Company from the date of his
ceasing to be an audit partner to Carphone Warehouse i 2011
and accordingly, the Board continues to consider him to be
independent

In accordance with the Code, each director will stand for
electron or re-election at the Company's Annual General
Meeting Biographical information s shown on pages 36 to 37

The division of responsibility between the Charman and the
Group Chief Executive is formally defined, set out in wnting
and s reviewed by the Board on an annual basis, as it was in
March 2016 The Chairman 1s responsible for the overall
operation, leadership and governance of the Board The Group
Chief Executive 1s responsible for the executive managerment
of the Group's business and for implementing the Group's
strategic and commercial objectives

The role of the SID is to support the Charman and be avallable
to any shareholders who feel they are unable to raise issues
with the Charrman directly With the addition of Tony DeNunzio
as SID, the Board has a strong complement of independent
non-executive directors avallable for shareholders to contact
with any guestions they may have Under the clearly-defined
role of the SID, set out n wnting and reviewed annually by the
Board, the SID also discusses, with the Chaiman, the results
of the {atter's performance review
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Corporate Governance Report

Corporate Governance

Board topics considered throughout the financial year 2015/16

2015 September 2016

May = Annual General Meeting January

» Three-year plan + Q1 tradmg statement + Chnstmas trading update

« Budgetary approval + Data Protection and Information * Three-year plan

» Property rationahisation Secunty policies review « Investor relations activites

« Banking facilities + Ant-bnbery, Gifts and Hospitality, » Talent review and succession
« Appointment of Company Secretary and Health and Safety policies planning update

+ Intermnal Board effectiveness review approval * FCA regulatory updates

+ Corporale govemance update - Financial Conduct Authortty {{FCA’} March

June regulatory updates + Shareholder communications

+ (4 trading statement
* Risk management review
» Spnnt partnership

Competihion law update
Nordic strategy session

July

» Final dwvidend approval
= Preliminary announcement and

Annual Report and Accounts
approval

« Group strategic initiatives

» Banking faciities

+ Group policies approval

- Corporate govermnance update

Reserved matters

There are documented schedules of matters reserved for the

Brokers' update

QOctober

.

Banking and treasury matters
Board Schedule 2016
UK & Ireland strategy session

December

-

Interim dividend approval

Interim announcement approval
Appomtments of Deputy Chairman
and Semior Independent Director
and resignalicns of Non-Executive
Directors

Audit and Nominations committees
terms of reference

Cyber secunty and IT roadmap
FCA regulatory updates

Treasury transactions

Risk management and nsk appetite
review

Insurance review

Financial Crime Policy approval
Schedule of Matters reserved

{for the Board

Remuneration Commrttee Terms
of Reference

Treasury transactions

Chairman's responsibilities

Board and matters delegated to committees of the Board The
format Schedule of Matters reserved for the Board was last
reviewed in March 2016 and includes

- approval of published financial statements and
dividend policy,

«+ declaration of mtenm and recemmendation of
final dwidends,

« approval of budget and Group strategy and objectives,

« appontrment and remuneration of directors, Company
Secretary and other senior executives,

« approval of major acquisitions and disposals,
« approval of authonty levels for expenditure,
+ approval of Group pohcies,

+ approval of treasury / :ntemal control and nsk
management pohcies, and

+ approval of shareholder communications

+ manage the Board,
« represent the interests of the shareholders,

+ approve Group strategy, its implementation and the
performance and profitabilty of the Group,

» seek new business development opportunties,

+ effectively charr Board, Nominations Committee
and shareholder meetings,

+ ensure Board effectiveness in his role,
« ensure clear and effective running of the committees,

+ promote, with the Company Secratary, the highest
standards of corporate govemance,

faciitate effective contnbutions of the non-executive
directors,

« ensure constructive relations between the executive
and non-executive drectors, and

+ oversee the process of induction, development and
performance evaluation and succession planming of
the Board
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Group Chief Executive’s responsibiities

« formutate the Group strategy and direction (with the
Chaiman) and develop Group objectives,

» deliver Group profitability,

+ provide leadership to the Group and senior management
and ensure effective performance and succession,

» ensure Group policies and procedures conform to a high
siandard,

+ review the effectiveness of the Group's organisational
structure,

« identify acquisiion and disposal opportunities and other
opportunities outside core activities,

* oversee management SUCCession,

- manage Group nsk profile and ensure intemal controls
and nsk mitigation measures are 1n place,

represent the Company in the City, with government
departments, key stakeholders and any other refevant
Insttutions,

- oversee the establishment of operational and support
functions including finance, human resources, nsk
management and contro! functions, and

+ set standards of performance throughout the Group

Sentor Independent Director’s ('SID') responsibiities
+ be avatable to commun:cate with shareholders,

+ appraise the performance of the Charman annually
with the Board,

- oversee an orderly succession for the position of
Chairman,

« support the Chaimman in the performance of his duties,
and

« work with the Chairman, other directors and
shareholders to resolve significant 1ssues and to maintain
Board and Company stability in penods of stress

Board attendance

The Board attended eight scheduled meetings as well as
two strategy sessions and two unscheduled meetings
dunng the penod under review The Board has met once
since the year end

Member \ppok ]
Sir Charles Dunstone Bof8
Sebastian James Bof8
Katie Bickerstaffe Bof8
Tony DeNunzio CBE™ 16 Dec 2015 20f2
Andrea Gisle Joosen 8of8
Andrew Harrison Bof8
Tim How 8of8
Jock Lennox 8of8
Lord Limingston of 16 Dec 2015 20of2
Parkhead!"
Baroness Morgan 8of8
of Huyton
Gerry Murphy 8of8
Humphrey Singer gofg
Graham Stapleton® 7of8

Former Directors

John Gildersleevet® 16 Dec 2015 6of6
Roger Taylor® 16 Dec 2015 6ot6

{1} Tony DeNunzio and Lord Livingston attended both Board
meetings foliowing their eppointments

{2} Graham Stapleton was unable to afterd ongé meetng due
to pnor business commitments in the US

(3) John Gikdersieeve and Roger Taylor attended all Board
meetings pnor to ther resignations
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Committee members

There are three main Board comnttees Audit, Nominations and Remuneration The committees are provided with sufficient
resources via the Company Secretary and, where necessary, have direct access to ndependent professional advisors to

undertake therr duties

Audi Nommnations Remursration
{pages 50 to 54) (pages 55 10 56} (pagas 57 lo BY)

S Charles Dunstone

Lord Livingston of Parkhead™
Tony DeNunzio CBE
Andrea Gisle Joosen

Tim How

Jock Lennox

Baroness Morgan of Huyton
Gerry Murphy

Former Directors

John Gildersleeve®

Roger Taylor

T 20
TET=E2O0

£

C = Chairman M - Member

{1) Lord Lmngston was appotnted Chairman of the Remuneration Commuttee upon his apponiment to the Board on 16 December 2015
{2) John Gidersieeve was Charman of the Remuneration Commuttee untl hus resignation on 16 December 2015

Board governance matters

The Chairman s responsible for ensunng that all directors are
properly bnefed on 1ssues ansing at Board meetings and that
they have full and timely access to relevant mformationt The
Company uses an electronic board paper system which
enables the safe and secure dissemination of qualty
in‘ormation to the Board All Board papers are sent out on a
tirnely basis with sufficient information for the directars to be
able to discharge their duties The formal, content and timely
production of Board papers Is a continually evolving process 1o
ensure relevance and clanty of communication Formal
minutes of the Board and committee meetings are prepared by
the Company Secretary and approved by the Board and
committees at thewr next meeting

The Chairman meets regularly with all the non-executive
chrectors, usually on an evening prior to a Board meeting when
board dinners are held This provides the opportunity to
discuss, amongst other matters, corporate strategy and
business performance

The Board holds meetings at a vanety of the Group's locations,
including overseas, 1o assist all Board members in gaining a
deeper understanding of the business This also pravides
senior management across the Group with the opportunity to
meet the Board This year, Board meetings were held in
Newark in Nottinghamshire as well as in Norway and Greece
Visiting our vanous operational locations also enables the
Board to meet other members of the team, and to vistt stores
th-oughout the business’s portfolio

New directors appointed to the Board receive a personal
induction programme, together with guidance and training
appropnate to therr ievel of previous expenence Each director
1S given the opportunity to meet with senior management and
store colleagues and to visit the Group's sites both in the UK
and overseas This enables familansation with the businesses,
operations, systems and markets in which the Group operates
New directors are also encouraged to meet with the Group's
auditor and advisors As newly appomnted Non-Executive
Directors, both Lord Livingston and Tony DeNunzio were given
individual nduction programmes tallored to therir specific roles,
as Deputy Charman and Semor Independent Director
respectively, and also as members of the Narminations and
Remuneration committees

The Board receives updates on corporate governance best
practice as appropnate throughout the year
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Succession planning

Last year succession planning was identified as an area where
greater focus was required This was addressed by the
refreshing of the Board and appontment of two new members,
and planning continues for the future In seeking an optimal
balance of skills, expenence, ndependence and knowiedge
required at Board level, the directors endeavour to satisfy
themsetves that adequate plans are in place to ensure an
orderly succession of appointments to the Board and serior
management The Board reviewed in detall succession plans
for semor management at the meeting n January 2016

Performance evaluation

The Code recormmends that the performance of the Board be
reviewed externally every three years Last year the Caompany
Secretary facilitated an intemal evaluation of Board
performance and that of the Audd, Neminations and
Remuneration committees NJMD Corporate Services Limited
(‘NJMD" was engaged to carry out the external review exercise
which commenced in Qctober 2015 NJMD has no other
connection with the Company

The review examined the level of skills, knowledge and
expenence of the Board which involved all drectors
responding to self-evaluation questionnaires NJMD prepared
a discussion guide which formed the basis for open,
confidental and unattributable conversations with each of the
dwectors The results of both the self-evaluation questionnaires
and discussions were coliated into a comprehensive report
NJMD submutted the draft report to the Chairman and the
Company Secretary which was then presented to the Board
for consideration at ts May 2016 meeting

The report addressed all matters relating 1o the perfermance of
the Board which included, but were not limited to, the roles of
the executive and non-executive directors, the Board, Board
committees, the Chairman, preparatron for and performance at
meetings, the effectiveness of each director, leadership, culture
and corporate govemance

Tony DeNunzio led the Non-Executive Directors, in the
absence of the Charman, in therr annual appraisal of the
Chatrman’s performance He then discussed the results of that
review with the Chairman The Board I1s again of the opinion
that the Chasrrman had no other significant commitments
dunng the year that adversely affected his performance in his
role, his effectiveness in leading the Board was not mpared
and that he culuvated an atmosphere for positive, challenging
and constructive debate

Following the results of the evaiuation, the Board confirms that
all directors cantinue to be effective and demonstrate a
commitment to the role, including having time to attend all
necessary meetings and to carry out other appropnate duties

The conclusion of the report was that no major areas for action
were wdentified The main points were, that whilst there was

« evidence of a hgh degree of director satisfaction wath the
effectiveness of the Board and with the Chairman, and

+ asuitable mix of skills, including FTSE 100 dwectonal
expenence, along with financial, retan, operational
management and marketing skilis,

the Board could modify same of its practices 1o increase therr
effectiveness

Recommendations included actively refreshing the Board's
govemance, compliance and company knowledge through
more frequent training sessions from external advisors and
in-house bnefings from senior management The Board has set
aside time on the current Board agenda as appropnate for
these training and bnefing sessions 1o occur It was further
recommended that the Board more regularly reviews the
longer-term optimal balance of the Board, including placing
even more emphasis on diversity, especially regarding age

and ethrucity

Capital and constitutional disclosures

tnformation on the Company’s share capital and censtitution
required to be included in this Corporate Governance
statement 1s contained 1n the Directors’ Report on page 48
Such information 15 mcorporated into this Corporate
Govemance statement by reference and I1s

deemed to be part of it
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Risk and internal controls

Committed to effective risk management

The Board has overall responsibiity for the Group's system of
intemnal cantrol and for reviewing its effectiveness

Effectve nsk management requires collective responsibility
and engagement across the entire business Dixons
Carphone’s sentor management team, operating through the
Group Risk & Compliance Committee, are accountable for

« identifying, miigating and managing nsk in ther areas of
responsibity, and

- implementing and momntonng controls which are designed
to mitigate the nsks to which therr area of the business 1s
exposed The controls by their nature are designed to
manage rather than elminate nsk and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance aganst matenal
rmusstaternent or loss

System of nsk management and mtemal control

The system 1s built on the piflars of effective govemance, nsk
management, ntermal control and assurance These are more
fully descnbed below

Govemance

+ The Board and its vancus committees have defined financial
authonties and operational responstbilities, which are
desgned to enable effective decision-making and
organisational control

+ The Board has agreed a nsk appehte that provides the
reference point aganst which 1o benchmark nsk
management reviews and nsk mitigation actwity within the
orgarusation The nsk appetite defines the boundanes within
which nsk-based decision-making can occur and outiines
the expectations for the operation of the control
environment

+ An organisation and management structure cperates across
the business to enable the delivery of products and services
to our customers and operational contro! of business
achwities in accordance with the nsk appetite

Annual strategic planning and budgeting processes

» Defined delegation of authonties that cascades throughout
the Group

+ A Group policy framework contains the core complhance
policas winch afl employees are required to observe

= Compliance policy owners are responsible for managing and
improving standards in therr respective areas of
accountability across all our operations

+ A system of quarterly business reviews covenng financial
and operational reporting by each business unit which
involves companson of actual results with the ongmnal
budget and the updating of a full year forecast

« Annual objective setting and performance reviews

Risk management

- A nsk management policy and framewark outlines the

principles and approach to nisk management within the
business

The Group Director of Risk facitates and manages the nsk
management policy and framework throughout the Group

A formal nisk identification process takes place to evaluate
and manage the sigrificant nsks faced by the Group in
accordance with the requirements of the Code and Financial
Reporting Council Guidance on Fisk Management and
Intemal Control Risk 15 broadly identified against strategic,
operational, technological, financial, people, regulatory and
hazard / external categones Details of the pnncipal nsks
and exarnples of mitigating actons can be found on pages
20 to 23 of the Strategic Report

A Group nsk register, which dentifies the nisks faced by
each of the busmesses, including regulated business, their
potential mpact and likelihood of cccumrence (assessed on a
gross and net basis), together with an evaluation of the key
controls and management processes established to migate
these nsks Each of the Group's business units also
mamntains a nsk register Action plans are determined to
enhance nsk mutigation if required

The Group Risk & Complance Committee reports to the
Audit Committee and meets quarterly to review the
management of nsk ansing out of the Group's activities and
1o monitor the status of key nsks and actions at Group and
business unit level

Each of the Group’s business units has a nsk committee
which identifies risk in accordance with the Group Risk
Management Framework These committees meet to
consider nsk and mtemal control matters for thew respective
areas of responsibility

Intemal control

-

A munimum control environment which defines detailed
financial, supplier funding, purchasing, payroll, capital
expenditure, treasury, B2B, information systems, stock
management, merchandise revenue and service revenue
controls to be appled by all business operations

Each business unit operates a control environment to satisfy
legal, regulatory, Group and customer requirements

Processes exists that govem the way in which we
operate our retail, wholesale, logistics, distnbution and
service operations The operation of these processes
provides assurance on the standard of our customer and
service delivery
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Assurance

» Annual mimum control questionnaires, which require
attestation that controls are being operated, are completed
by all Dixons Carphore operations

» An ongoing programme of control improvement 1s underway
n each business unit to enhance control operation as the
unit evoives

» An intenal audit function provides the Audit Committee with
an independent assessment of the Group's system of
internal control, through reviewing how effectively key nsks
are being managed, and assists management in the effective
discharge of its responsibiities by carying out independent
appraisals and making recommendations for improvement

Certam aspects of the Group's activities are also subject to
regulatory control by extemal bodies such as the FCA

The operation of a 24/7 whistleblowing hotine to enable
reporting of breaches of ethical or policy requirements

External audit conducts statutory audits across our
cperations

Statement on nsk management and intemal control

The systemn of nsk management and intemal control descrbed
n this Report was in place and effective throughout the penod
under review and up to the date of approval of the Annual
Report and Accounts 2015/16

The effectiveness of these systems is regutarly monitored and
reviewed by the Audit Committee and the systems refined as
necessary to meet changes in the Group's business and
associated nsks

The Audit Committee i1s supported by the intemal audnt
function which provides an independent opinion on the
operation of controls through the delery of its audit
programme The system of nsk management and intemal
control can only provide reasonable and not absoiute
assurance aganst matenal errors, losses, fraud or breaches of
laws and regulations

The Board has carried out a robust assessment of the pnncipal
nsks facing the Company, including those that would threaten
1ts business model, future performance, salvency or iquidity A
descnption of these nsks, together with details of how they are
managed or mitigated, 1$ set out on pages 20 to 23 The Board
also montored the Company's system of nsk management
and internal contro! and has, at teast once a year, conducted a
review of therr effectiveness The review covered all matena!
controls dunng the year and up to the date of the approval of
the Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16 which was approved
by the Audit Commitiee and the Board

Board

« Defines Dixons Carphone nsk appette
» Reviews and approves the business nsk profile

+ Responsible for nsk management and intemal control

i

i

Audit Committee

* Reviews the effectiveness
of nsk management and
ntemal control

= Approves the annuai intermal
and extemal audit plans

« Considers the infemal audd
reviews across the Group

Group Risk & Compliance

Committee

+ Reviews Group and business
unit nsk profiles

+ Monitors the management
of key nsks

+ Considers new and
emerging nsks

Executive Committee

« Accountable for the
implementation of the nsk
management process and the
operation of the intemat control
environment
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Group Director
of Risk

Intemal audit

Business unit nsk committees
and champions
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Risk appetite

Dixons Carphone faces a broad range of nsks reflecting the
business environment i which it aperates and the risks ansing
from the Dixons Carphone business environment and
operatmg model can be significant Successful financial
performance for the business 1$ achieved by managing these
nsks through intethigent decision-making and an effective
control environment that details the processes and controls
required to mitigate nsk

Dixons Carphone's general nsk appetite s a balanced one
that allows taking measured nsk as it pursues its strategic
objectives whilst aiming to manage and minimsse nsk in s
operations Dixons Carphane recogrises that i 1s not pessible
or necessanly desirable to elrminate all of the nsks inherent n
nis actvities Acceptance of some rnisk 15 often necessary to
foster innovation and growth within its business practices

Internal audit

The Group has an ntermal audit departmant which congucts
reviews of selected business processes each year The ntermnal
audd programme for 2015/16 consisted of reviews across a
range of areas documented and priontised Iin the Group's
niemal audst plan, which was prepared taking into account the
princtpal nsks across the Group and approved with input from
management and the Audit Commitiee The plan 15 designed
each year to test the robustness of mitigating contrals and
ensure procedures are designed and operating effectively Part
of the approval process of this plan involves the Audit
Committee's cons:deration of alignment of the plan with the
princepal nsks faced by the Group

The Audit Committee Charman receves and reviews all
reports from the intemal audit departrnent detabng its matenal
fingings from testing performed and any recommendations for
wmprovement The Audit Committee receves a summary of
these reports at each meeting, with the full reports avalable to
all members on request The internal audit team track and
report on the progress and implementation of action plans
agreed with management, and follow-up procedures are
performed once these actions and additional controls have
been put in place to ensure that the new controls and / or
procedures have been implemented effectively

The Audit Committee considered the effectiveness of the
intemal audit department through holding discussions with
management, considenng the quality of reports submitted, the
timeliness of the clearance of action pomnts and the perceived
impartality of the audht team ntself The Committee concluded
that the intemal audit department has in all respects been
effectve dunng the penod under review

Authorisation of conflicts of interest

The Company has procedures in place to identify, authonse
and manage conflicts of interest, and these procedures have
operated effectively Potential conflicts are approved by the
Board, or by two independent directors f authonsation is
needed quickly, and then reported to the main Board at its
next meeting A register of directors’ conflicts 1s mantained

Communication with investors

The Board supports the nilatives set out In the Code and the
Stewardship Code and actively encourages engagement with
major nstitutional investors and other slakeholders It believes
that it 1s important to explam business developments and
financial results to the Company's sharehelders and to
understand shareholder concems The pnncipal communication
media used to impart information to shareholders are news
releases (inctuding results announcements), Investor
presentatons and company publications

The Group Chief Executive has pnncipal responsibility for
mnvestor relations He 1s supported by a dedicated investor
relatons departrment that, amongst other matters, crganises
presentations for analysts and institutiona! Investors There

s a full programme of regular chalogue with major institutional
shareholders and potential shareholders as well as sell-side
anatysts In March 2016, a capital markets day was held and
attended by analysts and mstitutional investors that focused on
future plans for our consumer services cffenngs to be tnalled in
summer 2016 In all such dialogue, care s taken to ensure that
no pnce-sensitive mformation 1s released

The Chairman ensures that the Board receves updates on
nvestor relations matters at each Board meeting The Board
also receves penodic reports on investors' views of the
performance of the Company The Chainman and non-
executve directors are available to meet with major
shareholders if such meetings are required, and the Charman
of the Remuneration Committee communicates with major
shareholders on matters of remuneration and has conducted
various remuneration consultations More information on the
remuneration censultations can be found in the Remuneration
Report on pages 57 to 81

The Company 1s committed to fostenng eftective
communication with all of its members, be they institutional
nvestors, pnvate or employee shareholders The Company
communicates formally to its members when rts full year and
half year results are published These results are posted on the
investor relations part of the corporate webste, as are other
external announcements and press releases

The annual general meeting 15 an important medium by which
the Company communicates with shareholders, at which an
account of tha progress of the business over the last year,
along with a review of current rssues facing the business IS
gwven Shareholders are encouraged to ask questions and

the directors, including the Chairmen of the Board committees,
are in attendance to answer them In accordance with the
Code, formal notification of the Company's annual general
meeting 15 sent to shareholders at least 20 working days n
advance of the meeting

Further financia! and business information 1s available on the
Group's corporale website, www dixonscarphone com

Sir Charles Dunstone
Charman
28 June 2016
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Corporate Governance statement

As required by Rule 7 2 1 of the UK Listing Authonty's
Disclosure and Transparency Rules (‘DTR’s) the Corporate
Govemance statement 1s set oul on page 39 of this Annual
Report and Accounts All information detailed in the
Corporate Govemance statement 1s incorporated by
reference into this Directors’ Report and is deemed to form
pant of this Directors’ Report

Disclosure and Transparency Rules

For the purposes of OTR 4 1 5R{2} and DTR 4 1 8, this
Directors' Report and the Strategic Report on pages 2 to 35
compnse the management report

Employee involvement

The Group places significant emphasis on its employees’
involvernent at all levels of the organisation Employees are
kept informed of 1ssues affecting the Group through format
and informal meetings and through the Group's intemat
pubkcations The management team regularly communicates
matters of current interest and concern with employees
Further information on employee engagement 1S included

n the Corporate Responsibility report on pages 30 to 35
Details of the employees' involvernent in the Group's share
plans are contaned n the Remuneration Report

Employment of disabled people

The business 1s committed to providing equal opporturities in
recruitment, tranng and development, and promotion We
encourage applicatons from indmiduals with disabites who
can do the job effectively and candidates will be considered
for each role they apply for All efforts are made to retain
disabled colleagues in our employment mcluding making any
reasonable readustments to ther roles Every endeavour 1S
made 1o find suitable altemative employment and to retrain
any employee who becomes disabled while serving the Group

Infformation on greenhouse
gas emissions

The mformaticn on greenhouse gas emissions that the
Company is required to disclose s set out in the Comorate
Responsibility report on page 34 This information 1s
incorporated into this Directors’ Report by reference and

15 deerned to form parnt of this repont

Donations

No political donations were made during the pened by
the Group

Directors

Lord Livingston of Parkhead and Tony DeNunzio CBE were
appointed directors on 18 Decernber 2015 On the same
date, John Gildersleeve and Roger Taylor both resigned

as directors

The names, biographies and dates of appomntment of the
current Board of directors are prowvided on pages 36 to 37

With regard to the appomtment and replacement of directors,
the Company s govemed by its Articles of Association
{'Articles?, the UK Corporate Govemance Code (the “Code’),
the Companies Act 2006 {the ‘Act’) and related legislation

The Artictes themselves may be amended by special
resolution of the shareholders The Board has the power to
appoint new directors to fill a vacancy as long as the total
number of directors shall not exceed the maxrmum of 15 as
set out Inthe Articles  Any director appointed by the Board
wili be appointed untl the next annual general meeting where
they shal! stand for election by shareholders

In ine with best practce and the Code, the Company has
determined that all directors will retire and offer themselves
for election or re-election at the 2016 Annual General
Meeting The Remuneration Report provides details of
applicable service agreements for executive directors and
terms of appointment for non-executive directors All the
directors proposed by the Board for either election or
re-gtection are being unamimously recommended for ther
skills, expenence and contnbution they can bring to the
Board This recommendation follows an independent
performance evaluation of the Board as a whaole and the
contribution of Individual drectors

Dunng the year, no director had any matenat interest in any
contract of signficance to the Group's business Their
interests, including those of any connected persons, In the
shares of the Company are outlined in the Remuneration
Report

Subject to the Company’s Articles, the Act and any directions
given by the Company by special resolution, the business of
the Company will be managed by the Board which may
exercise all the powers of the Company, whether relating to
the management of the business of the Company or not

The matters raserved for the Board ara detaled in a specific
schedule, which s reviewed annually and detaills are provided
n the Corperate Governance Report
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Directors’ indemnities and insurance

The Company has made qualifying third party indemnity
provisions (as defined in the Act) for the benefit of its directors
dunng the year; these prowisions remain in force at the date of

this report

In accordance with the Articles, and to the extent permitted
by law, the Company may indemnify its directors out of its
own funds to cover kabiities incurred as a result of therr
office The Group holds Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilty
Insurance cover for any clam brought against direclors or
officers for wrongful acts i connection with their pesibons
The insurance provided does not extend to clams ansing
fromn fraud or dishonesty

Information required by Listing
Rule 9.8.4R

Details of long-term incentive schemes as required by Listing
Rule 9 4 3R are located in the Drrectors’ Remuneration
Report on pages 57 to 81 Details of dividends waved by
shareholders are given on page 49 of thus Directors’ Report
There 1s no further Information required to be disclosed under
Listing Rule 9 8 4R

Directors’ responsibilities

The diectors’ responsibilities for the financial statements
contamned within this Annual Report and Accounts and the
drectors’ confirmations required under DTR 4 1 12 are set
out on page 82

Capita!l structure

The Company's only class of share 1s ordmary shares Details
of the movements in 1ssued share capital dunng the year are
provided in note 22 1o the Group financial statements The
voting nghts of Dixons Carphone shares are identical, with
each share carrying the nght to one vote Dixons Carphone
helds no shares in treasury

Details of employee share schemes are provided in note 5 to
the Group financial statements On 30 April 2016 the
Carphone Warehouse Employee Share Ownership Trust
{'ESOT" held 625,623 shares (2015 791,100 shares} and the
Dicons Retail plc ESOT held 123,451 shares (2015 151,829
shares) The Carphone Warehouse ESOT did not make any
market purchases of the Company's shares, and the Dixons
Retail plc ESOT made market purchases of 1,914,308 shares
dunng the year under review

Restrictions on transfer of securities
of the Company

There are no specific restnctions on the size of a hotding nor
on the transfer of shares, which are both governed by the
general provisigns of the Articles and prevarling fegislation
The directors are not aware of any agreements between
holders of the Company’s shares that may result in
restnctions on the transfer of secunties or on voting nghts

No person has any special nghts of control over the
Company's share captal and all issued shares are fully paid

Change of control - significant
agreements

All of the Company's share incentive scheme rules contain
provisions which may cause options and awards granted
under these schemes to vest and become exercisable in the
event of a change of control

The Group's man comritted borrowsng faciity has a change
of control clause whereby the participating banks can require
the Company to repay afl outstanding amounts under the
facility agreement in the event of a change of control The
Company 15 not aware of any other sigruficant agreements,
such as commercial contracts and property lease
arrangements etc, to which it s party, that take effect, alter or
tenmunate upon a change of control in the Company

Furthermore, the directors are not aware of any agreements
between the Company and ds directors or employees that
provide for compensation for loss of office or employment
that occurs In the event of a takeover bid

Significant shareholdings

At 30 April 2016, pursuant to Chapter 5 of the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules of the Financial Conduct Authonty, the
shareholders with 3% or more in the voting nghts of the
Company are

Percentage of
Nama Number of shares shama capital
Standard Life 67,016,585 582%
BlackRock 64,226,251 558%
Lansdowne Partners 57,675,527 501%
DP J Ross 55,738,699 484%
AXA Group 42 555,710 370%
Capital Group 41,116,000 A57%
Legal & General 37,370,496 325%
Investment
Management

At 28 June 2016, no change i these shareholdings had
been notified

Directors' interests in the Company's shares and the
moverments therecf are detailed in the Annual Remuneration
Report on pages 69 to 81
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Dividend

The Board has proposed a final dividend for the year ended
30 Apnl 2016 Details of this and other dividends paid for the
year are as follows

Year anded Year endad

30 Apni 2016 2 May 2015

Intenm dividend 325p 2 50p
Final dividend 6 50p 6 00p
Total dividends 9 75p 8 50p

The nght to receive any dvidend has been waved by the
trustees of the Company's ESOTs over a combined hoiding of
749,074 shares

Issue of shares

In accordance with section 551 of the Act, shareholcters can
authonse the directors {o allot shares in the Company up to
one third of the issued share capital of the Company
Accordingly, at the 2015 annual general meeting shareholders
approved a resolution to give the directors authority to allot
shares up to an aggregate norminal value of £383,820 The
directors have no present intention to 1ssue ordinary shares,
other than pursuant to obhgations under employee share
schemes This resolution remains vahd untd the conclusion of
this year's Annual General Meeting

Authonty was given by the shareholders at the 2015 annual
general meeting to purchase a maximum of 38,382,000
shares, such authonty remaning vahd for 15 months or until
the conclusion of the Company's Annual General Meeting n
2016 The authonty was not exercised dunng the penod or
pror to the date of this Report The Company will seek the
usual renewal of this authonty at the forthcommng Annual
General Meeting but has no cumrent intention to make

such purchases

Use of financial instruments

Information about the use of financial instruments 1s given In
note 26 to the Group financial statements

Auditor

Each director at the date of approval of this Annua! Report
and Accounts confirms that

«  so far as the director 1s aware, there s no refevant audit
information of which the Company’s auditor 1s unaware,
and

« the director has taken all the steps that he / she ought to
have taken as a director in order to make himself / herself
aware of any relevant aucht information and to establish
that the Company's auditor 1s aware of that information

This confirration 1s given and should be nterpreted in
accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Act

Deloitte LLP have expressed ther withngness to continue 10
office as auditor and a resolution to re-appoint them will be
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting

Certain information required to be included n this Directors’
Report may be found within the Strategic Report

By Order of the Board

[ 045

Nigel Paterson
Company Secreta
28 June 2016
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Chairman’s statement
Introduction

1 am pleased to present the report of the Audit Committee for
the year ended 30 Apn! 2016 In this covenng letter | setout
our key areas of actiity in detivenng on our objective of
ensunng that Dixens Carphone's financial reporting and nsk
management systems of mtemal conirol are effective and
appropnate

Building on the actrity and reporting of the Menger n
201415, this year the Committee has focused on overseeing
the bedding-down of reporting in the complex regulatory
and governance environment in which the Group operates
This has entalled ensunng that the assurance activities
encompass, In proportionate measure, non-regulated and
regulated operations, the Intemational footpnint and the

nsk profile of the Group We have also considered the

terms of reference and workings of the Group Risk &
Compliance Committee

New reporting requirements

The Committee considered the Group's response to and
conformance with the new requirements of the 2014 UK
Cormporate Govermnance Code (the ‘Code’) and the Financial
Reporting Council { FRC') Guidance on Risk Management,
Irternal Control and Related Financial and Business Reportng
In particular this includes adopting the longer-terrn viability
statement for the first tme Management recommended a
three-year viability penod to align with the Group's strategic
plannmg and forecasting process together with sensitivities
and assumptions based around the prncipal nsks and related
mrigating actions The Committee concluded that the
approach was appropnate and recommended adoption of the
viability statement by the Board

Key actvities
The Committee’s work, camed out dunng the year, included

+ tully considenng the requirements of the Code and its
application to the Annual Report and Acgounts 2015/16,
including complying with new provisions relating to the
robust assessment of nisks and the viabtlity staternent,

» considenng significant accounting and reporting
judgements, including the appropnateness of the Group’s
going concem position,

considenng and recommending that the Annual Report and
Accounts 2015/16, when taken as a whole, are far,
balanced and understandable,

- reviewing the effectiveness of the nsk management system
and ntemal controls, operated by management,

- considenng and approving the viabiity statement, more
information on which can be found on page 29, and the
assessment and challenging of the analysis performed by
management to reach the conditions underpinning o,

- receming presentations and subseguent updates from
management an such matters as succession planning and
talent management, businesses regulated by the Financial
Conduct Authanty ((FCAY) and IT strategy, and

+ considering the robustness of the online services
information secunty environment, which was the subject of
a cyber-attack in August 2015 and the appropnateness of
the mmediate actions taken to secure the impacied
systems and additional secunty measures put In place to
help prevent further attacks

Looking ahead

As the Group continues to develop new business areas in
hne with its strategy and business plans, we expect the
Committee to remain busy

The work programme will be responsive to the changing
nsk profile, the developing business modet, the regulatory
environment, and the changing shape of the systems
{including IT) architecture The nsk assessment has been
dilgently prepared by the Group's management at all levels
We are mindhul of the need to remam wigilant as we know
that not alt nsks can be elimunated in the challengmng
environment In which we cperate

i will be in attendance at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting and will be available to talk to you then In the
meantime If you have any questions please do get in touch

Jack Lennox
Charman of the Audt Commitiee
28 Juna 2016
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Members

In comphance with the Code, the Commitiee continues to
congist exclusively of Independent non-executive directors,
who, along with their attendance at scheduled meetings,
are set out n the table below Biographical details on each
member can be found on pages 36 to 37

Meetings

The Committes met four scheduled times during the period
under review Since the year end there has been two further
meetings All ekgible members attended each of the
meetings during which they were a member of the
Committee The Group Cheef Executive, Group Finance
Director, Group Director of intemal Audd, other senior
management and representatwes of the Company's
extemal auditor (Deloitte LLP) attended the relevant
Committee meetings by invitation

Schaduled

Current members. Meetings
Jock Lennox (Chawman) 40f4
Bareness Morgan of Huyton 40t4
Gerry Murphy dafd

The Board continues to be satisfied that the Chaiman of the
Committee, a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Scotland, meets the requirement for recent
and relevant financial expenence The Company Secretary
acts as Secretary to the Committee and attends all meetings
The Committee's deliberations are reported by its Charman to
the following Board meeting and the minutes of each meeting
are circulated to all members of the Board following approval

In order to allow discussion of private matters, which the
audhtor may wish to raise, at each meeting, discussion may
he held between the Committee members and the external
auditor without the presence of management f appropnate, a
discussion may be held between Committee members, the
external auditor and the Group Director of Intemal Audit

In undertaking its duties the Committee has access to the
services of the Group Director of Internal Audit, the Group
Finance Dwector, the Cornpany Secretary, and their respective
teams, as well as external professional advice as necessary In
addition the Chaiman meets with the external audrtor outside
of formal meetings and without management present

External advice

The Board makes funds avallable to the Comrmittee to enable
it to take independent legal, accounting or other advice when
the Committee believes it necessary to do so

Responsibilities

The Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibiiies by acting independently from the executive
directors There 1s an annual schedule of items which are
shared out amongst the meetings dunng the year to ensure
the Committee covers fully those items within its Terms of

Reference These tems are supplemented throughout the
year as key matters anse

The Committee has the following pnncipal duties

.

.

monitonng the miegnty of the intenm statement and annual
report and accounts and any formal announcements
relating to the Group's financial performance,

considenng recommendation of the extemal auditor's
appontment to the sharehoiders in general meeting and
approve their remuneration,

reviewing the results and conclusions of work performed by
the extemnal auditor;

reviewing significant financial reporting judgements,

reviewing the Group’s financial controls and intemal control
and nsk management systems,

monmtonng and reviewing the effectiveness of the
Company’s intemal audit function,

reviewing and monitonng the relatonship with the external
auditor, including their Independence, objectvity,
effectiveness and terms of engagement,

consicienng whistlebiowing arrangements by which
employees may raise concems about possible
improprieties i matters of financial reporting or other
matters,

considenng the major findings of intemal mvestigations,

adwvising the Board on whether, as a whole, the annual
report and accounts are far, balanced and understandable,

considenng the gong concern statement,

considenng and reviewing the statement of the Company’s
wviability over a specified pened;

any specific topics as defined by the Board, and

refermng matters to the Board whuch, in its opiion, should
be addressed at a meeting of the Board

The Terms of Reference of the Commuittee were last reviewed
and adopted by the Board in June 2016 and are available on
the Group's corporate website, www dixonscarphone com

Key matters considered during
the year

Accounting and financial reporting matters

The Commuittee 1s responsible for montonng the integnty of
the Intenm Statement and Annual Report and Accounts in
conunction with both semior management and the extemal
auditor Dunng the year ended 30 Apni 2016, consderation
was given 1o the following matters

the sutabihty and application of the Group's accounting
polictes and practices,

areas where significant tevels of judgement have been
applied or significant tems have been discussed with the
external audstor,

updated accounting and corporate governance regulations,
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+ Group nisk register management and nsk appetie,
« intemal control effectiveness and control matunty,

« the viability statement and its alignment with the
business strategy and long-tenm plan,

financial integration and succession planning,
» FCA and regutatory compliance,
data protection and information secunty, and

« whether the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a
whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide
sufficient information necessary for shareholders and other
users of the accounts to assess the Group's position and
performance, business model and strategy

To assist with discharging these responsibilities, the
Committee considers documents prepared by management
and intema! audit and reports received from the extemal
auditor on the outcomes of therr annual aucht and intenm
review procedures

The Committee received reports and recommendations from management and the extemal auditor settmg out the significant
accounting 1ssues and judgements applicable to the following key areas These were discussed and challenged, where
appropnate, by the Committee Following debate, the Committee concurred with management's conclusions

Matters of significance and
areas of judgement

How the 1ssue was addressed by the Gommitiee

Revanue recognibon

Revenue recagnition rs considered 1o be a cntical accounting policy and the judgements are setoutn
note 1s) of the Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16 Key companents of judgement are largely in
relation to tha recognition of network commission recevable

The Committee reviewed management's assessment of these pahcies with reference to contractual
terms, the Group's histoncal expenence of customer behaviour and information receved from MNCs
Particular attention was paid to the consistency of application of the underlying assumptions used and
the sensitvity to the carmying value of ongoing network recesvables recogmsed to changes in key
assumptions as presented In nota 26 in the Group financial statemants The carrying value of ongaing
network commission recewvables at the balance sheet date was £904 milion

Prowvisions

The Commuttee has considered the undertying judgements and esbmates taken by management in the
recognition and valuation of property rationalisation provisions as disclosed i note 20 1n the Group
financial staternents

In addibon the Committee has continued 1o review the judgements taken mn relation to discontinued
operations of the Group, being the Phone House operations in Gernany, France, the Netherlands and
Portugal The Committee assessed the iikelihood of remaining nsks matenalising and considered the
appropnateness of associaled provisions

Supplier funding

A number of arrangements exist relating to supplier funding across the Group, including promaotional
support and volume rebates The Committee has continued to challenge and debate with management its
approach to suppher funding, and its recognition and accounting treatment In addibon the Committee
continues o monitor the effectiveness of the controls i place to mitigate the nsk of matenal misstatement
of supplier funding recognition NG major issues were noted Further information n relation to suppher
funding ¢an ba found m note 1s) in the Group financial statements

Inventory provsoning

inventory 1s a significant balance for the Group, as set out in note 1s) i the Group financial statements
and contans managenal jJudgement for such items as obsolescence and shankage As part of the
general Cormmittee procedures managenal judgement was assessed and no major 1ssues noted

Impairment tasting of goodwill and
Intengible assets

The Group has significant goodwll of £3,054 million and acquisition IMangibles of £348 milion, following
the Merger and the CPW Europe Acquisiion The Committee considered the judgements made and the
mathadology used in assessing the supportabdity of the year end balances and assessment for any
potential impaiment A sensitity analysis was then reviewed regarding the impact of a reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions These assumptions are set out in note 91n the Group

financial statements

Taxation

The Group operates acrass multiple tax junscictions The ¢emplex nature of 1ax legislation = certain
wunsdictions can necessitate the use of judgement In additien, management also uses assumptions and
judgements to assess the ikelihood of utiksation of availabie tax losses

The Commitiee reviewed the judgemenis and assumptons concerming any significant provisions,
including progress made on matters being discussed with tax authonties and where applicable advice
provided by external advisors The tolal provisions recognised at the balance sheet date amounted to
£54 milhon
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Matters of significance and
areas of judgement

How the 1ssue was addressed by the Commuttee

Fair, balanced and understandable

In ensunng that the Group's reporting 15 far balanced and understandable the Committee reviewad the
classification of items batween Headline and Non-Headine, including consideration of the £184 milon
pre-tax Non-Headline charges disclosed in note 4 1n the Group financial statements This assassmant
considered whether iterns fell wathin the Group's definition of Non-Headline as well as the consistency of
treatment of such items year on year

In additon the Commuttee gave cue consideration to the integnty and sufficiency of information disclosed
n the Annual Report and Accounts 201 5/16 along with other relevant matters to ensure that it explans
the Group's position performance, business model and strategy This included an assessment of
narrative reporting to ensure consistency with the financial reporting section and appropnate balance and
prominence of statutory and non-statutory performance measures The Commitiee concurred that the
measures used and disclosures provided were appropnate to prowvide users of the Annual Report and
Accounts 2015/16 with a meaningful assessment of the performance of the undertying operatons of the
Group and the Board was advised of this conclusion

Going concem

The Commitiee was presented by management with an assessment of the Group's future cash forecasts
and prafit projections, avalabie faciites facity headroom, banking covenants and the resulis of a
senstivity anatysis The Commuttee discussed the assessment with management and was satsfied that
the going concern basis of preparation continues to be appropnate for the Group and adwvised the Board
accordingly The going concern statement 15 set out on page 29

Viabihty statement

In addition to those factors assessed by the Committee in consideration of the going concem

assessment discussed above, the Comnmuttee also noted the new requirement to produce & viability
statament in this year’s Annual Report and Accounts Management presented a report that considered
the appropnateness of the three-year time pencd under assessmant noling the consistency between this
penod and the penod of focus of the annual strategic planning process The report includad siress
testing of the strategic three-year plan with reference 10 those pnncipal nsks and mitigating actions as
descnbed on pages 20 to 23 1o the Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16 The Committee concurred
with management's conclusions that the viability statement disclosed on page 29 of the Annual Report
and Accounts 2015/16 15 appropnate The Board was adwvised accondingly

Risk management and mtemnal control

The Committee 15 responsible for reviewing the Group's
intemal control and nsk management systems in order to
discharge its responsibities in this area the Committee
reviewed the following key items

= the assessment of the Group's response to information
secunty and data protection nsks,

« the Group’s responsibilities relating to those aspects of the
Group that are regulated,

+ the Group-developed financial and IT controls framewark
and its subseguent assessment by intemal audit,

+ common cantrol themes dentified throughout the business,
and where themes were identified, ensunng subsequent
action has been taken to mintmise the nsk,

the annual Audit Committee agenda, and

- the new govemance and nsk management framework,
mncluding a definition of nsk appetite by risk category and
pancipal nsk, put in place throughout the Group

intemal audit

Dunng the penod the following significant nsk areas of the
business were included within intemal audit reviews

+ information secunty and data protection,

- regulatory compliance,

+ T resihence, ntegnty and disaster recovery,
+ business continuity management, and

+ relatonships with networks

In addition, as part of the three-year rolling assurance
programime, audits were performed over the following financial
processes to provide assurance to the Committee that controls
were operating within these areas

» network revenue and commissiens,
+ suppher funding,

+ treasury, and

+ capital expendrture

Whilst considenng any significant issues ansing from the
results of the audits shown above, the Committee also formally
reviewed the effectiveness of internal audit and the adequacy
of its resources

External audd

The external auditor 1s appainted by shareholders to provide
an opimon on the Annuat Repont and Accounts and certain
disclosures prepared by Group management Deloitte LLP
acted as the extermal auditor to the Group throughout the year
The Committee s respensible for oversight of the external
audstor, including approving the annual audit plan and all
assoctated audit fees

The key matters m relation to external audit that were
considered by the Committee were

« The annual audit plan mncluding the appropnateness of the
key nsks dentified and matenality levels appled

+ The annual audit fee and fees for non-audit services which
are set out In note 3 to the Annual Report and Accounts
2015/16, with due regard to the balance between audit and
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non-audit fees and the policy for approval of non-audit fees
paid to the Group's auditor

. The effectveness of the external auditor Feedback on the
effectiveness of the audnt process in addressing areas of
key audit nsk was obtained from members of the Committee
and regular attendess, members of the finance team and
seriar management within the businesses via a specificalty
designied questionnaire The responses were then
considered by the Committee in conjunction with the
outputs recewed and responsiveness of the auditor dunng
the audt process The results showed a positive view of the
audit process and of Delotte LLP as the extemal audtor,
specifically in relation to the high quality and integrity of the
team, the constructive relationship and the effectiveness
of the communication Following due consideration the
Committes continues o be satisfied with the quality and
effectiveness of the audit

+ Sgruficant issues and areas of judgement ansing from
reports from the extemal auditor These areas were set
out in the reports from the extemal audrtor and discussed
with the Committee The Commuttee concluded that the
judgements taken and assumptions made by management
were all far and reasonable

Provision of non-audit services
provided by the external auditor

The Commuttee's adoption of a revised policy on auditor
independence last year had further restncted non-audit
services, and hmited services prowvided by the external audtor
1o audit and certan specific audht-related services (pnmanty
those related to the role of reporting accountant and audi
reports on financial iInformation provided by the Group) All
non-audit fee proposals are subject to pre-approval and must
be submitted to the Group Financial Controliler Where
assignments are expected to generate fees of over £100,000,
pnar approval must be obtained from the Committee

Dunng the pencd under review, the non-audit services
performed by the external audior pnmarily arose from the
finalisation of tax services relating to discontinued operations,
intenm financial review procedures and the requirement in
Greek law for the external auditor of the company to provide
non-audit services The Commuttee has reviewed the services
performed by the external auditor duning the year and s
satisfied that these services did not prejudice the extema!
auditor's independence and that it was appropnate for them
to perform these services

Tha level of non-audit fees paid to the external auditor, which
was approved by the Commuittee 1s set out in note 3 of the
Group’s financial statements and amounted to £0 4 midlion
compared with £1 5 million of audit fees The non-audit fees
as a percentage of audit fees was 28% This i1s considerably
lower than in 2014/15 as a result of one-off, Merger-related
fees last year and the new, more restricted policy goverming
the use of Delotte LLP for non-audit services

Consideration of auditor appointment
and independence

The Committee continues to consider the appropnateness of
the re-appointment of the extemal auditor, including rotation
of the audit partrer Delotte LLP has been the Company’s
external auditor since August 2002, pnor to Carphone
Warehouse's demerger from TaikTalk Delotte LLP was also
the extemnal auditor of Dixons Retal The lead audit partner,
John Adam, has now completed trs five-year terrm and must
be succeeded by a different partner, in accordance with best
practice and the Auditing Practices Board Ethical Standards
we would like 1o take this opportunity to thank John for his
valuable input and guidance and welcome Stephen Gnggs as
his successor

The Company's palicy 15 to comply with the UK Corporate
Govemance Code, introduced by the FRC, to put the extemal
audtt out to tender at least once every ten years In accordance
with the Competrtion and Markets Authonty ("CMA’) Statutory
Audit Services Order, which 1s designed to align with
provisions of the EU Reguiations on extemal audit tender and
rotation, and current guidance the Company s required to
conduct a competitive audit tender by June 2023 This will be
the latest peniod that Deloitie LLP may remain as auditor The
Comnuttee will continue 1o evaluate annually the performance
of the auditor, in particular at each five-year rotation of the lead
audh partner, and will recommend a tender for this service if
the circumstances so warrant

n accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing

(UK and Ireland) 260 and Ethical Standard 1 issued by the
Accounting Practices Board, and as a matter of best practice,
at year end Delaitte LLP formally confirmed to the Board its
ndependence as auddor of the Company

In deterrmining whether to recommend the auditor for
re-appointment this year, the Comrmittee considered the

firm's internal control procedures, the most recent audit
effectiveness review, the tenure of the lead auddit partner and
the ngorous assessment of the replacerment lead audrt partner,
and thereby affirmed that the audrt processes are effectve and
that the appropnate independence continues to be met
Accordingly, the Company confirms that t complied with the
provisions of the CMA Statutory Audit Services Order for the
financial year under review and the Committee concluded that
it was In the best interests of the Company's shareholders to
reappoint Deloitte LLP as the independent auditor of the
Company The Commuittee's recommendation, that a resolution
to re-appoint Deloitte LLP be proposed at this year's Annual
General Meeting, was accepted and endorsed by the Board

Jock Lennox
Chasrnan of the Audit Committea
28 Juna 2016
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Chairman's overview

The Nominations Commuttee has an important role in the
Dixons Carpheone govemance structure, evaluating the skills
required to lead the business effectively and ensunng the nght
talent and expenence 1s available In order to ensure contimuity
of purpose and effective leadership, it 1s important to ensure
succession planning obligations are met

The Committee regularly reviews its obligatons under
govemance guidelines, the last review was in March 2016,
which included an appraisal of Board experence and
composition, diversity, tme commitments of each cirector,
director independence and a review of the Cormmittee’s Terms
of Reference

On 16 December 2015 the leadership of the business was
significantly strengthened by the appointment of Lord
Livingston of Parkhead as Deputy Chawrman and Tony
DeNunzio CBE as Senior Independent Director Lord
Livingston and Tony DeNunzio are both members of the
Nominations and Remuneration committees Lord Livingston
also assumed the positton of Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, on the same date John Gildersleeve and Roger
Taylor resigned as directors of the Company

More mformation about the Nominations Commuttee and its
position In the Company’s governance framework 1s shown on
the nght

Sur Chartes Dunstone
Chaiman of the Nomunations Commiea
28 June 2018

Meetings

+ The Nominations Committee meets as and when required
and at least twice a year

+ The Nomunations Committee met three times dunng the
penod under review

Committee membership and attendance

The members of the Nominatons Cormmittee are shown in
the table below along with therr attendance at scheduled

meetings for the penod under review Biographical detads g

on each member can be found on pages 36 to 37 s
Scheduled :o;

Current members Mestings L4

Sir Charles Dunstone (Chairman) 30of3 g

Lord Livingston of Parkhead™ 1of1 S

Tony DeNunzio CBEM 1of1

Andrea Gisle Joosen® 20f3

Former member

John Gildersieeve™ 20f2

{1} Lord Livingston and Tony DeNunzto attended the one meeting
held following their appaintment on 16 Decemnber 2015

(2} Andrea Gisle Joosen did not attend one meeting due to a
scheduling conflict

{3} John Gildersleave attended both meetings prnior te his
rezgnation an 16 December 2015

The majonty of the members are independent NEDs as
required by the UK Corporate Govemance Code (the
‘Code’) Other members of the Beard or senor
management may be invited to attend meetings at the
request of the Charrman

The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Commuttee
The Committee's deliberations are reported by its Charrman at
the following Boand meeting and the rinutes of each meeting
are circulated to all members of the Board {ollowing approval

Responsibilities
The pancipal duties of the Nominations Commuttee are to

- review the structure, size and composition of the Board, and
recommend changes as necessary,

+ identfy, evaluate and nominate candidates to fill vacancies
on the Board,

» review the leadership requirements with a view to ensunng
the continued abilty of the organisation to compete
effectively and be responsible for succession planning,

+ camy out a formal selection process of candidates,

evaluate the skills, knowledge and expenence of the Board
ncluding reviewing the results of any Board performance
evaluaton,
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« consuder other commitments of directors relative to the time
required for them to fulfil their dutres, and

« make recommendations to the Board regarding the
continuation in office of a director upon the expiry of any
specrfied terms of appointment

The Committee's Terms of Reference are reviewed annually
The last review was in March 2016 and the Terms of Reference
were subsequently approved by the Board The Committee’s
Terms of Reference are available on the Group's corporate
website, www dixonscarphone com

Key matters considered

In additon to the prncipal duties noted above, the Committee
also considered the appomtments of Lord Livingsion and Tony
DeNunzio, and the resignations of John Gildersieeve and
Roger Taylor

The Committee also considers these matters penodically

« an evaluation of the size, composition and structure of the
Board and its committees,

+ the Company's diversity policy,

+ trne commitments of the directors,

« the extemnal appointments policy,

+ the Committee’s performance and Terms of Reference, and

+ areview of the role descnptions of the Chairman, Senicr
" Independent Director and the Group Chief Executive

Board evaluation

Dunng 2015/16 the tnenmal Board evaluation was undertaken
by an independent company, NJMD Corporate Services
Limited The review included the Board and the Audit,
Norminations and Remuneration committees and exarmned all
aspects of the Board's procedures and activiies Further
details of the evaluation process can be found on page 43

Appointments to the Board

The Committee has a formal, ngorous and transparent
procedure for the appointment of new directors Appomntments
are made to the Board based on objecte critena and with due
regard to the benefits of diversity and the leadership needs of
the Company Extemal search consultancies are retamed when
recruting non-executive directors

An independent global search firm, JCA Associates, was
appointed Candidate profiles were developed indicating the
skills, knowledge and expenence required for each role, taking
into account the Board's existing composition and skill sets
The Committee, led by the Charman, undertook a thorough
search and selection process for the most appropnate
cardidates A wide range of high calibre candidates was
considered for the roles of Deputy Chaiman and Senior
Independent Director The Committee and Board confirmed
both Lord Livingston's and Tony DeNunzio's independence
upon appointment and were unanmous n therr decisions to
appoint them

Succession planning

The business requires a talented Board with appropnate
expenence and expertise This year, the Board has placed
further emphasis on succession planning with two new
appointments in Decermber 2015 The Board considers no
addional appointment 1s necessary at this time but 1s mindful
of Baroness Morgan's tenure Board succession and
compasttion will remain a pronty, as the Board is CONSCIOUS
that it must look further and wider for the leaders of the future
in secunng the long-term prospenty of the business, the Board
rust look deeper into the pool of talent that cumrently exists
within the orgarusation, identifying new talent and castng the
net wider, with a longer honzon, far potential directors with the
appropnate skill-sets to meet the demands of an ever more
complex business envirgnment

Diversity

The Board recognises the importance of diversity in achieving
the nght mix of skills, knowledge and expenence to help the
organtsation reach its full potenttal The Board acknowledges
the October 2015 Women on Boards Davies Review ('Review’)
which recommends a voluntary target of 33% to be achieved
by 2020 Currently 23% of the Board, and 17% of the Group
Executive team, are fernale

Whilst noting the recommendations of the Review, the Board
does not establish targets on gender balance as it believes that
candidates should be appointed on ment Our Board suppons
the benefits of greater diversity, which 18 not just gender-
specific but also encompasses age, ethmorty, background and
diversity of thought The Board 1s conscious of the need to give
weight 1o these factors in future appomntments More
information on employee diversity can be found on page 31

In performing 1ts annual review the Board also looked at other
aspects of diversity relevant to the Group With a large
proportion of the business i the Nordics, we have a Swedish
Non-Executive Director on the Board to provide knowledge of
these intemational markets

Re-election

All directors will present themselves for election or re-etection
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting Each of the
directors 18 being unanimous'y recommended by the other
members of the Board due to therr expenence, knowledge and
wider management and industry expenence, continued
effectiveness and commitment to therr role
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Chairman’s statement

On behatf of the Board, | am pleased to present the 2015/16
Drrectors’ Remuneration Report which sets out our phitosophy
and proposed future policy for directors’ remuneration, together
with tha actraties of the Committee for this financial year ended
30 Apnl 2016

Policy review

The integration has gone well and the strong performance of this
year validates the bnnging together of the two businesses Qur
focus now on developing our Connected World Senvtces and
Knowhow businesses, complermenting our core retal and
services offenng, bnngs with it exciting opportunities, supporting
long-term eamings growth Against this background, over the last
few months, the Committee has been reviewing the Group's
approach to executive remuneration and following censultation
with our major shareholders is proposing a new long term incentive
plan and will be seeking approval for thus new plan from
shareholders at the AGM In September this year

The cument long term plan the 'Share Plan’) has been a key
element of tha policy to date seeking o Incentivise management
to deliver supenor shareholder returns through the Merger and
ntegration of our two businesses The performance of the Share
Pian will be measured in July 2017 when, subject to performange,
60% of the shares will vest, with the rermaining 40% vesting

12 months later

The Committee had prewviously indicated that it would not seek to
ather make new awards under the Share Plan, or introduce a new
plan, unbi awards under the current plan had fully vested in 2018
However, on taking over the role as Chairman of the Committee,
we reviewed 1ssues around the recrutment and development of
management 1n our business and came to the clear view that
having no long term scheme in place that would follow on from the
existing scheme would be detnmental {o the business and our
shareholders We also felt that the Company had now reached the
stage that it was appropnate to move to a more standard
annualised award of performance shares These will be based on
EPS growth and relative TSR and is a matenal change in the way
the Comrmuittee 15 seeking to operate directors’ {and other senior
execttives') remuneration in the Company

We have consutted with our major shareholders and reflected their
feedback into the design of the proposed Remuneration Policy
The dstails of the new long term incentive plan are in the Polcy
saction of this Report but in summary are

+ an annual award of performance shares, with a normal
maximum grant of 275% of base salary, with the ability to make
awards of up to 375% of base salary in exceptional
crcumstances, e g recrutment,

+ three-year vesting penod, with a subsequent two-year holding
penod of any net of tax vested shares for executive directors,

for 2016717, performance measured equally against relative
TSR, using the FTSE 51-150 peer group and adjusted EPS
aver the three year penod and

robust withholding and recovery provisions, as with the
Share Plan

Proposed award levels tor executive directors are set out on
page 71 and will, subject to shareholder approval, be granted
shortly after the AGM in September 2016

The Committee recognises that proposing a commaon salary
multiple for the long term incentive plan award to all executive
directors is relatively unusual, but thes s reflective of the close

working relationship and contnbutions of the executive director
team, which have been key to the success of the Group

Whilst relative TSR and adjusted EPS have been chosen as the
performance measures far the awards to be made i 2016/17, the
Comrrittee will retan the discretion to introduce a third measura 1n
future years, If appropnate, to enhance focus on a particular aspect
of business performance In the event that the Committee decided
to do this major shareholders would be consulted and also the
TSR componerit would not be weighted less than 40%, to ensure
engoing focus on shareholder value creation

We have also been very mindful of the cumrent environment n
executive remuneration, base pay increases for 2016 being in ine
with those for the wider workiforce and ne other changes are
proposed to the Remuneration Policy other than

+ tha removal of the ability to pay a retention bonus to executive
directors under the loss of office provisions, and

+ capping of any iong term incentive plan award on recruitment
to 375% of base salary, in line with exceptional awards under
the new long temm plan

In concluson, the Commuttee belleves that the introducton of the
new long term incentive plan and its design are nght for the Group
as It moves into a post-Merger operating environment It 1s aligned
to our overall am to have a remuneration pohcy which promotes
the long-term success of the business through the attraction and
retention of executives who have the ability, expenence and
dedication to deliver outstanding retumns for our shareholders The
Cormmittee 1s also very aware that much of the Group's success IS
cown to the dedication and hard wark of all our employees and we
are delighted with the ongoing success of the Dixons Carphone
Sharesava plan, in which we now have 25% of our UK & treland
workiorce particpating

The proposed new Remuneration Policy as set outin this
Annua Report and Accounts will be put to shareholders for
a binding vote at the AGM on 8 September 2016, where
shareholders will be asked to approve the potcy for a pertod
of three years

Pay and performance for 2015/16

As set out in the Strategic Report this has been a year of strong
financial and operational performance Headline pro forma EBIT
increased by 13%, average net debt was ahead of target and there
were improvements in ROCE, customer net prormaoter and
employee engagement scores This must be considered a very
strong performance in a difficult and competitive market The
Committee approved annual bonus payments of 68 4% of base
salary (73 7% of maximum opportunity) for the executve directors,
which reflected the strong performance, but also the stretching
nature of the targets set by the Commitiee

Full details of the performance targets and actual performance
assessed are provided 1n the Annual Remuneration Report
on page 76

L’__

lan Livingston
Chatrman of the Remuneration Cormmittee
28 June 2016

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Reporn and Accounts 2015/16 57

Corporate Govermnance




Corpuorate Govemnance

Remuneration Report - Remuneration Policy

Introduction

The purpose of this Report 15 to inform shareholders of the
Company's directors’ remuneration for the penod ended
30 Apni 2016 and the Remuneration Policy for subsequent
years This Report is divided into twa sections

+ the Remuneration Palicy, and
*» the Annual Remuneration Report

The current remuneration policy was approved by shareholders
at the annual generai meeting on 10 September 2015
Following several proposed changes to the Policy, a new
authonty will be sought from shareholders in a binding vote

at the Annual General Meeting on B September 2016 and the
new Pglicy will be effective from that date The Annual
Remuneration Report will also be put to an advisory vote

at the Annual General Meeting

The rofe of the Rermuneration Committee {the 'Committee’}
15 to determine on behalf of the Board a remuneration policy
for executive directors and senior management which
promotes the long-tenm success of the business through the
attraction and retention of executives who have the ability,
experience and dedication to deliver outstanding retums for
our shareholders

The Committee has adopted the pnnciples of good govemance
relating to directors’ remuneration as enshnned in section D of
the Corporate Govemance Code (the ‘Code’y and has complied
wrth those pnnciples in the year under review

These reports have been prepared by the Committee on behalf
of the Board in accordance with the Comparues Act 2006,
Schedule 8 to the Large and Medium-sized Compantes and
Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (as
amengded) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authonty The Remuneration Policy (which 1s not subject to
audit) details the role of the Commitiee, the principles of
remuneration and other matters The Annual Remuneration
Report {elements of which are audited) details the directors’
and former directors’ fixed and vanable pay, share awards,
share options and pension arrangements

Remuneration Policy —
unaudited information

Remuneration Committee objectives

The Board has delegated te the Committee responsibility for
detemmining pohicy in relation to the remuneration packages
for executive directors and other semor management Thrs
delegation includes their terms and condrhons of employment
n addition to the operation of the Group's share-based
employee incentive schemes The Committee has clearly
defined Terms of Reference which are available on the
Company's corporate website

Remuneration strategy

Put smply, our aim 1$ to generate supenor retums for our
shareholders and the key to achieving this 1s our people
Qur remuneration strateqy 15 therefore designed to motivate
high-performing people to deliver our business strategy

The objectives of our remuneration strategy are to

+ attract, motvate and retain high quality talent,

» betransparent and align the interests of semor management
and executive directors with those of shareholders, by
encouraging management (o have a significant personal
stake in the long-term success of the business,

« weight remuneration to vanable pay that incentivises
outperformance particularly over the long term whilst
discouraging inapproprnate risk-taking,

- ensure that supenor rewards are only paid for exceptional
performance against challenging targets,

- apply policies consistently across the Group to promote
alignment and teamwaork,

- recognise the importance of delivenng across a balanced set
of metncs to ensure the nght behaviours are adopted and
the long-term health of the business 1s protected, and

» avord rewarding failure
In developing its policy the Committee has regard to

+ the performance, roles and responsibiities of each executive
director or member of senior management,

- arrangements which apply below senior management levels,
ncluding average base salary increases across the
workforce,

» information and surveys from internal and independent
sources,

« the economic environment and financial perfarmance of the
Company, and

» good comporate governance practice
Gudelines on responsible investment disclosure

In line with the Investment Association Gundelines on
responsible investment disclosure, the Committee 1s satisfied
that the mcentive structure and targets for execubve directors
do not raise any environmenial, social or govemnance nsks by
inadveriently motivating wresponsible or reckless behaviour
The Commitiee considers that no element of the remuneration
package will encourage inappropnate nsk-taking by any
member of senior management
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Remuneration Policy table

The indvidual elements of the remuneration packages offered to executive directors are summansed in the following table

Base satary (fixed pay)

+ Pumose and link to strategy

+ Operation

* Maximum opportunity

+ Performance assessment / targets

To awd the recruitment, retention and motivation of high-performing people
To reflect therr skills, expenence and importance to the business

Normally reviewed annually

The review reflects a range of factors inctuding ment levels, intemal relativity, extemal
market data and cost Qur overall policy, having due regard to the factors noted, 1s
normally to target salanes up to the mid-market level

Salanes for new appointments as executive directors will be set in accordance with the
Recruitment Policy set out on pages 65 to 66 of this Remuneration Policy

The Committee takes into consideration the impact of base salary increases on the
package as a whole, as other elements of pay (such as pension contnbutions) are
generaily based on a percentage of salary

Ordinarily, increases for executive directors will be in ine with increases across the
Group Increases beyond those granted across the Group may be awarded in certain
arcumstances such as changes in responsibilities, progression in the role and significant
increases in the size, complexity or value of the Group

Salary levels for current directors are shown in the Annual Remuneration Report
Salanes are nomally reviewed annually by the Committee at the appropnate meeting

having due regard to the mdividual's expenence, performance and added value to
the business

Benefits (fixed pay}

* Purpose and link to stralegy

= Operation

* Maximum opporturity

+ Performance assessment / targets

In line with the Company's strategy to keep remuneration werghted to vanable pay that
incentivises cutperformance, a modest range of benefits 1s provided

Benefits may vary based on the personal choices of the director

Provision of relocation or other related assistance may be prowded to support the
appointment or relocation of a director

Executive directors are entitied to a combination of benefits which include, but are not
himited to

« car allowance,

+ pnvate medwcal cover,

+ long-term incapacity cover,

» lfe assurance,

 holiday and sick pay, and

+ arange of voluntary benefits including the purchase of additional hobdays

Executive directors will be eligible for other benefits which are introduced for the wider
waorkforce on broadly similar terms

Any reasonable business-related expenses (including the tax thereon) can be
reimbursed if determined to be a taxable benefit

Should an executive director be recruited from or be based in a non-UK location,
benefits may be determined by those typically provided in the normal country of
residence and / or reflect local market legislation

Relocation or other related assistance could nclude, but 1s not mited to, removal and
other relocation costs, tax equalisation, tax advice and accommadation costs

The cost to the Group of providing such benefits will vary from year to year in
accordance with the cost of prowding such benefits, which 1s kept under regular review

Not apphcable
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Pension (fixed pay)

+ Purpose and hnk to strategy

- Operation

* Maximum opportunity

A pension 15 provided which is consistent with that provided to managers across the
Group and in kne with our strategy to keep remuneration weighted 1o varable pay that
incentivises outperformance

Defined contnbution plans are offered to all employees A defined benefit pension plan
continues in operation for Dixons' longer-serving employees, which 15 now closed to
new parhcipants and future accrual

Executive directors may choose to receive a cash allowance in leu of pension
contributions

Normal company pension contribution of up to 10% of base salary, which can be taken
tn whole or in part as a cash allowance n lieu of pension However a greater contnbution
of up to 20% may be made where necessary to recruit or retain an executive director

» Performance assessment / targets Not applicable

Annual performance bonus {vanable pay)

« Purpose and link to strategy

+ Operaton

« Maximum opporturuty

+ Performance assessment / targets

Annual performance bonuses are in place to Incentivise the delivery of stretching,
near-term business targets based on our business strategy

These bonuses provide a strong link between reward and performance and dnve the
creation of further shareholder value

The pnnciples and approach are consistently applied across the Group ensuring
ahgnment to a common vision and strategy

They are based on a balanced approach ensunng appropnate behaviours are adopted
and encouraging a longer-term focus

Bonus payments are determined after the year end and subject to & mirumurn profit
threshold being achieved before payment s due

For threshold level of performance a bonus of up to 25% of base salary s payable A
shiding scale determines payment between the minmurm and maximum bonus payable

The annua! bonus 15 typically paid in July / August in cash and 1s non-pensionable,
based on the audited performance over the previous financial year

The annual bonus can instead be settled in shares or a mixture of cash and shares
which could be deferred, at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee

Performance 1s reviewed by the Committee using its judgernent where necessary to
assess the achievemnent of targets The Commuttee retains the discretion to adjust
downwards bonus payments where achievernent of targets would resutt in a payment
of a bonus at a level which would not be consistent with the interests of the Company
and s shareholders

Recovery and withholding provisions apply for matenal misstatement, misconduct and
reputational damage enabling performance adjustments and / or recovery of sums
already paid These provisions will apply for up to three years after payment

Maximur annuat bonus potential for all executive directors 1s 125% of base salary
No bonus 1s payable if the minimum profit threshold 15 not achieved

All measures and targets are reviewed and set by the Committee at the beginning of
the financial year with a view to supporting the achievement of the Group strategy

The bonus scheme has targets based on a balanced scorecard The balanced
scorecard may include both financial and non-financial measures, such as employee,
customer and strategic measures The weighting of measures will be determined by the
Committee each year Fmancial measures (such as profit and cash} will represent the
majonty of the bonus opportunity, with other measures representing the balance
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Long term incentve scheme {vanable pay} Long Term Incentive Plan (‘LTIP")

« Purpose and hnk to strategy

« Operation

* Macamum opportunity

+ Performance assessment/ targets

Long term incentive schemes are transparent and demonstrably aligned with the
interests of shareholders over the long term

The LTIP 1s designed to reward and retain executives over the longer term whiist aligning
an individual’s interests wath those of shareholders and in tum delivenng significant
shareholder value

Discretionary awards of nil-pnced opuons or conditronal share awards are granted over
Dixons Carphone ple shares

Awards will be granted annually and will usually vest after three years subject to
continued service and the achvevermnent of performance conditions

The levet of vesting 15 dependent on achievernent of performance targets, usually over
a three year penod

The post-tax number of share awards vesting will be subject to a further two year
helding penod, during which they cannot be sold, unless in excephonal crcumstances
and with the Committee’s pemmission

Dwvidend equivalents may be accrued on the shares eamed from any award

Awards will be subject to recovery and withholding provisions for matenal misstatement,
msconduct and reputational damage enabhng perforrmance adjustments and / or
recovery of sums already paid These provisicns will apply for up (o three years

after vesting

If employment ceases dunng the vesting penod, awards will ordinanly lapse i full,
unless the Committee exercises its discretion

The Committee has the discretion in certan circumstances to grant and / or settle
an award In cash For the executive directors this would only be used in exceptional
circumstances

tn the event of a change of contro), any unvested awards will vest immediately, subject
to satisfaction of performance conditions and reduction on a time-apportioned basis

Grants under the LTIP are subject to overall dilution hmits

Subject to approval at the forthcoming AGM, the norrmal maximum grant per participant
in any financial year wil be a market value of 275% of base salary, with up to 376%
in exceptional circumstances, e g recrutment

More details on the proposed award levels for executive directors in 2016 are set out
in the Annual Remuneration Report on page 71

Performance targets are reviewed by the Comrmuttee pnor to each grant and are set
to reflect the key priorities of the business at that time

The Commuttee determines the metncs from a range of measures, including but not
limrted to, market-based performance measures such as TSR and the intemal financial
metncs such as EPS The Commitiee retans the flexibility to introduce new measures in
the future f considered appropnate given the business context, although TSR will not be
weighted any less than 40% of the total award Matenal changes will be subject to
consultation with major sharehclders

The proposed metncs for awards will be set out in the Annual Remuneration Report
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All employee share plans

+ Purpose and link to strategy Encourages employees to make a long-term investment in the Cormpany's shares and
therefore be aligned ta the long-term success of the Company

» QOperation Executive directors are eligible to participate in any ali employee share pians operated
by the Company which have been approved by shareholders on the same terms as

other eligible employees

Currently share options are granted under the Dixons Carphone HMRC approved SAYE
scheme, subject to three- or five-year vesting penods

« Maxmum opportunity Participants can save up 1o £500 per month for either three or five years, and in retum
receve a share option granted at up to 20% discount to the market pnce at the time of

the invitation

The Committee reserves the nght to increase this savings limit for future schemes In
accordance with the statutory imits in place from time to time

- Performance assessment / targets  The SAYE scheme 1s not subject to any performance condiions

Share ownership guidehnes

+ Purpose and Iink to strategy Provides close alignment between the longer-term interests of executive directors
and shareholders in terms of the Company’s long-tenm success

+ Operation The Company requires executive directors 1o retain a certain percentage of base
salary in the Company's shares Executive directors have a five-year penod to reach
these limits

The shares which count towards this requirement are beneficially-owned shares (both
directly and indrrectly)

« Maximum opportunity Not applicable

- Performance assessment / targets  The Company requires all executive directors to retain 200% of base salary in the
Company's shares

Details of the directors’ shareholdings are shown in the table on page 80
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Non-executive directors and Chairman / Deputy Chairman fees

* Purpose and link to strategy To provide a competitive fee for the performance of non-executive director duties,
sufficient to attract high calibre individuals to the role

« Operation The fees are set to align with the dutres undertaken, taking into account market rates,
and are normally reviewed on an annual basis Factors taken into consideration nclude
the expected tme commitment and specific expenence

Addiional fees are payable for acting as the Senior tndependent Cirector or for acting
as Charr of any Board commuttee, and for membership of 2 Board Commuttee

Non-executive directars do not participate in the annual performance bonus or the long
term incentive plans or pension arangements

Any reasonable business-related expenses (including the tax thereon) can be
reimbursed if deterrmined to be a taxable benefit

For matenal, unexpected increases in time commitments, the Board may pay extra fees
on a pro-rated basis to reflect additional workload

+ Maximumn opportunity Aggregate annual limit of £2,000,000 imposed by the Articles of Association for
directors’ fees (not including fees m relation to any executive office or Chairman, Deputy
Chairman, Senior Independent Director or Commuttee Charr fees)

- Performance assessment / targets  Not applicable

Notes
{1) The following matenal changes have been made 1o the Remuneration Policy in order to align the pay of executive directars following a
review of iong term incentives

+ no further awards 1o be made under the Share Plan, descnbed in more detall on page 78,

+ introduce a naw Long Term Incentve Plan with maximum award levels of 275% of salary in normal circumnstances and 375% in exceptional
circumstances, an additional two-year ho'ding penod and the inclusion of divdend equivalents on vested long term incentive awards,
removal of the ability to pay a retention bonus to executive directors under the loss of office provisions, and
capping of any long term incentive plan award on recrintment 10 375% of base salary, in hne with exceptional awards under the new Long
Term Incentive Plan
(2) The Committze intends to honour aif commitments previcusly provided 1o executive directors and current employees, including the terms

and conditions of outstanding long term incentives such as those previously approved by shareholders under the Dixons Carphone Share

Plan or Share Opton Pian Details of these awards for executive directors are set out on page 78
(3) Market-pnced options will not be granted to executive drectors
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lllustration of Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Policy scenano chart below illustrates the level and mix of potential total remuneration the current executive

directors could receive under the Remuneration Policy at three levels of performance minimum, target and maxarmum

Remuneration Policy scenarto chart

Corporate Governance

Notes

{1) Fixed pay s based on the basic salary payable as at the start of the current year, taxable benefits and pensien contnbutions

(2) Annual vanable pay represents the annual bonus entitlement No bonus 1s assumed at the minmum performance leve! Targe! performance
assumes a payment of 75% of salary i @ 60% of maximem) and maximum performance a payment af 125% of base salary

{3) Long term incentives refate to the Long Term Incentwe Plan, In which it 18 proposed the executive direciors participate These are illustrative
amounts and the actual outcomaes may differ depending on share pnce growth No awards vest at the mimmum performance lovel Targat
performance assumes a vesting of 151% of salary {i e 55% of maxmum award) and maximum performance vesting of 275% of salary
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Remuneration Committee discretions

The Committee operates the annual bonus plan, long term
incentive and all employee plans in accordance with their
respective rules, the Listing Rules and HMRC rutes (or
overseas equivalent} where relevant The Committee retaing
discretion, consistent with market practice, over a number of
areas relating to the operation and administration of these
plans These inciude but are not imited to

+ entitiement to participate 1n the plan,
« when awards or payments are 1o be made,

- size of award and / or payment (withun the rules of the plans
and the approved palicy),

+ determination of a good leaver for Incentive plan purposes
and the appropnrate treatment based on the rules of each
plan,

= discrebion as to the measurement of performance conditions
and pro-rating in the event of a change of control,

any adjustment to awards or performance conditions for
significant events or exceptional circumstances, and

« the application of recovery and withholding provisions

Shareholder and employee consultation

The Comnrmittee has a policy to consult with its major
shareholders when making any significant changes to the
Remuneration Policy of the Company Any feedback received
15 taken into consideration when determining future policy For
example, n contemplation of a new long term incentive policy
a consultation took place with major shareholders to explain
the Committee’s proposed approach Following constructive
feedback, the Committee determined to put a cap on the level
of award under the Company's Long Term Incentive Plan in
excepticnal circumstances, such as recruitment

The Committee also takes into consideration remuneration
guidance 1ssued by large investor bodies in addion to the
prnnciples of goed govemance relating to directors’
remuneration as set ot in the Code

Whilst employees arg not formally consulted on executive
remuneration, a number of them are shareholders and as such
are able to exercise thewr influence We also monitor our
employee discussion boards and employee forums to ensure
employee feedback in general is considered in all our strategy
execution The Company also conducts regular employee
surveys throughout the business The Comrmittee 15 kept
nformed of general employment conditions across the Group,
ncluding the annual pay review outcomes

Remuneration policy for the wider workforce

Dixons Carphone employs a large number of people across
different countries Our reward framework 1s structured around
a set of common pnneciples with adjustments made to sutt the
needs of the different businesses and employee groups
Reward packages differ for a vanety of reasons including the
impact on the business, local practice, custom and legislation

In deterrruning salary increases to apply across the wider
workforce, the Company takes into consideration Company
performance and other market metncs as necessary When
setiing the policy for executive directors the Committee takes

Into consideration salary increases throughout the Company,
as awhole

Discretionary share plans are extended to both senior
management and other key members of the workfarce,

as the Company feels that it 1s important {o incentivise and
retain these employees over the longer-term in order for the
Company o continue to grow

The Company encourages wide employee share ownership,
and as such the Group's UK & Insh employees who meet the
ehgibility cntena are also invited 10 join the Company’s UK &
frefand approved SAYE

Recrutment or promotion pohcy

On appointment or promotion, base salary levels will be set
talang into account a range of factors including market levels,
expenence, intemal relativities and cost If an indvidual 1s
appointed on a base salary below the desired market
positioning, the Committee retains the discretion to re-align
base salary over one 1o three years, contingent on ndwidual
performance, which may result 1 a higher rate of annuahsed
increase above ordinary levels If the Committee intends to
rely on this discretion, it will be noted in the first remuneration
report following an individual’s appointment Other elements
of annual remuneration will be n line with the policy set out n
the Remuneration Palicy table As such, vanable remuneration
will be capped as set aut In the Policy table

The following excepticns will apply

« in the event that an intemal appointment 1s made or an
executive director joins as a result of a transfer of an
undertaking, merger, reconstruction or simitar
reorgarusation, the Commuttee retams the discretion to
continue with existing remuneration provisions, including
pension contnbutions and the provisian of benefits,

« asdeermed necessary and appropnate to secure an
appointment, the Committee retains the discretion to
make addtional payments inked to relocation (iIncluding
any tax thereon),

= {or an overseas appomntment, the Committee will have
discretion to offer cost-effective benefits and pension
provisions which reflect local market practice and
relevant legisiation,

+ the Committee may set altemative performance conditions
tor the remainder of the utial annual bonus perforrance
penod, taking into account the crcumstances and timing
of the appointment, and

« the Committee retains the discretion to provide an
immediate interest in Company performance by making
a long term incentive award on recruitment (or shortly
thereafter if m a prohibited penod) in accordance with the
Policy Table under its existing long term incentive schemes
or such future schemes as may be introduced by the
Company with the appraval of ts shareholders The
Committee will detenmine the level of the award, the
performance conditions and time honzon that would apply
to such awards at the time of award, taking into account the
strategy and business circumstances of the Company
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Service contracts will be entered into on terms simikar to those
for the existing executive directors, summansed in the
Recruitment table below However, the Committee may
authonse the payment of a relocation and / or repatnatron
allowance, as well as other associated international mobility
terms and benefits, such as tax equalisation and tax advice

In addition to the annual remuneration elements noted above,
the Committee may consider buying out, on a like-for-like
basis, bonuses and / or incentive awards that an indmdual
forlests from a previous ermployer in accephing the
appontment The Committee will have the authonty to rely on
Listing Rule 9 4 2(2) or exceplional irmts of awards ofupto
375% of base saiary within the Long Term Incentive Plan If
made, the Committee will be informed by the structure, bme
honzons, value and performance targets associated with any
forfeited awards while retaining the discretion to make any

Committee may also require the appointee to purchase shares
n the Company in accordance with its shareholding policy

With respect to the appomtment of a new Chairman or
non-executive director, terms of appointment will be consistent
with those currently adopted Vanable pay will not be
considered and as such no maxmum apples With respect to
non-executive directors, fees will be consistent with the policy
al the me of appointment If necessary, to secure the
appointment of a new Chaiman not based 1n the UK, payments
relating to relocation and / or housing may be considered

Elements of remuneration on appomntment are set out in
the Recruitment table below

A tmely announcerment with respect to any director's
appointment and remuneration will be made to the
regulatory news services and posted on the Company's

payment or award ceemed necessary and appropnate The corporate website
Racrutment table

Area Feature Policy

Service contract and  Notice penod - Up to 12 months from either side

ncentive plan Entitiements on termination + As summansed i the Policy on loss of office
provisions + Provisions for mitigation and payment i lieu of notice
Restnchve covenants + Gardening leave provisions
« Non-compete, non-solicitation, non-dealing and confidentalty
ProvISIONS
Vanable elements + The Commuttee has the discretion to detenmine whether an indwidual

shalt participate in any incentive in the year of appontment

- The Committee shall have the discreticn to determine appropnate bonus
performance targets if participating in the year of appontment

Annual remuneration  Salary

To be determined on appointment, taking into account factors mcluding

market levels, expenence, internal relativibes and cost

Salary progression

If appointed at below market levels, salary may be re-aligned over the

subsequent one to three years subject to performance in role In this
situation, the Committee reserves the discretion to make increases
above ordinary levels

This iihiad market postioning and intention to increase pay above the

standard rate of increase in the Policy tahle {subject to performance) will
pe disclosed in the first remuneration report following appointment

Berefits and allowances + The Committee retains the discretion to prowide additional benefits as
reasonably required These may include, but are not restncted to,
relocation payments, housing allowances and cost of living allowances
{including any tax thereon)
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Policy on loss of office
Service contracts contain neither a hquidated damages nor
a change of control clause

The Company shall have a nght to make a payment in heu of
notice in respect of basic salary, benefits, including car
allowance and pension contnbutions only for the director's
contractual penod of notce or, f termination 1s part way
through the notice penod, the amount relating to any unexpired
notice to the date of termination There 15 an obligation on
directors to rmitigate any loss which they may suffer o the
Company tenmunates therr service contract The Committee will
take such mitigation obkigation into account when deterrmining
the amount and timing of any compensation payable to any
departing director

A director shall also be entitied to a payment in respect of
accrued but untaken holiday and any siatutory entitiements
on termination No compensation is paid for dismissal, save
for statutory entittements

A director shall be entitied to recewve a redundancy payment
n circumstances where in the judgement of the Committee
they satisty the statutory tests goveming redundancy
payments Any regdundancy payment shall be calculated by
reference to the redundancy payment policy in force for all
employees in the relevant country at the time of the
redundancy and may include modest cutplacement costs

If a director’'s employment termunates pror to the relevant
annual bonus payrment date, ordinanly no bonus 1s payable
for that financial year The Committee shall retain discretion
{o make a pro-rated bonus payment in circumstances where
it would be approphate to do so having regard to the
contnbution of the directer dunng the financial year, the
circumstances of the departure and the best interests

of the Company

Any entittements under long term incentive schemes operated
by the Company shall be determined based on the rules of the
relevant scheme The default position under the Dixons
Carphone Share Plan is that awards will lapse on the
termination of employment unless the Commuittee exercises the
discretion set out in the scheme rules The Committee retains
the discretron to prevent awards from lapsing depending on
the arcumstances of the departure and the best interests of
the Company The default posiion of the Long Term Incentive
Plan s that awards will lapse on terrmunation of employment,
except where certain good leaver circumstances exist (e g
death, il-health, imury, disability, redundancy, transfer of an
undentaking cutstde of the Group or retirement or any other
circumstances at the Committee’s discretion) whereby the
awards may vest on cessation, or the normal vesting date,

in both cases subject to performance and time pro-rating,
although the Committee can decide not to pro-rate an award
(or pro-rate to a lesser extent) if it regards it as appropriate

to do so In the particular crcumstances

The Committee shall be entitled to exercise ts judgement with
regard to settlement of potential claims, including but not
hrmited to wrongful dismmissal, unfar disrmissal, breach of
contract and discnmination, where it 1s appropnate to do 50 in
the mterests of the Company and its shareholders

In the event that any payment 1s made n relatton to tenmination
for an executive director, this will be fully disclosed in the
following Annual Remuneration Report

A bmely announcement with respect to the tenmination of any
director's appointment will be made to the requiatory news
service and posted on the Cormpany’s corporate website

Service agreements

Service agreements for executive chirectors

Each of the executive directors’ service agreements
prowides for

+ the rembursement of expenses incumed by the executive
director in performance of ther duties,

» 25 days’ pad holiday each year for Sebastian James,
Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe (full time
equivalent), 27 days for Andrew Hamson and Graham
Stapleton,

+ sick pay, and

+ notce penods whereby Sebastian James, Humphrey Stnger
and Katie Bickerstaffe each have a notice penod of 12
months from the Company and six moenths from the director
Andrew Hamson has a notice penod of 12 months and
Graham Stapleton six months frorm either party

in situations where an executive direcior 1s dismissed, the
Commuttee reserves the nght to make addittonal exit payments
where such payments are made in good faith, such as

- n discharge of a legal obligaton, and

+ by way of settlement or cornpromise of any claim ansing in
connection with the terrmmabon of the director’s office and
employment
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Letters of appointment

Each of the non-executive directors has a letter of
appontment The Company has no age hmi for directors
Non-executive directors denve no other benefit from their
office, except that the Commuttee retams the discretion to
continue with existing remuneration provisions, including
pension contnbutions and the provision of benefits, where
an executive director becomes a non-executive director ltis
Company policy not lo grant share options or share awards
to non-executive directors The Chairman, Deputy Chaimman
and the other non-executive directors have a nolice penod
of three months from esther party

Appointments are reviewed annually by the Nominations
Committee and recommendations made to the Board
accordingly

External appontments

The Board supports executive directors taking non-executive
directorships as a part of ther continuing development, and
has agreed that the executive directors may retain their fees

from one such appointment Further detalls on current external

drrectorships and fees can be found n the Annual
Remuneraton Report on page 70

Availabihty for inspection

The service agreements for the executive directors and letters
of appointments for the non-executive directors are availlable
for inspection at the registered office of the Company, and at
the offices of the Company's solicitors, Freshfields Bruckhaus

Dennger LLP, 65 Fleet Street, London EC4Y 1HT, dunng usual

business hours on weekdays (excluding pubhc holidays n
England and Wales) until the date of the AGM They will also
ke available for inspection at the AGM from 10 45arn on the
day of the meeting untll the conclusion of the meeting

Legacy amangements

Fer the avoidance of doubt, in approving the Remuneration
Palicy, authonty 1S given to the Company to honour any
commitments previcusly entered into with the current

or former directors

Diution Limits

All the Company's equity-based incentive plans incorporate
the current investment Association Share Capital Management
Guidelines {‘Guidelines”) on headroom which provide that
overall dilution under all plans shoukd not exceed 10% over a
ten-year penod n relation to the Company's 1ssued share
capital {or reissue of treasury shares) In addition, f approved
by shareholders, the Long Term Incentive Plan wili operate
with a 5% 1n ten-year dilution it {excluging histonc
discretionary awards) The Company regularty monitors the
position and pror to making any award the Company ensures
that it will remain within these bmits Any awards which will be
satisfied by market purchase shares are excluded from such
catcutations As at 30 April 2016, the Company's headroom
position, which remains within the current Guidehines,

was 4 9%
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Remuneration Report - Annual Remuneration Report

Introduction

This part of the report has been prepared in accordance with
Part 3 of Schedule 8 to the Large and Medum-Sized
Companies and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations
2008 (as amended), and contain those elements required by
section 9 8 6R and stipulated n 9 B 8 of the Listing Rules This
Annual Remuneraion Report will be put to an advisory vote at
the Company’s 2016 AGM

The following sections set out how the Remuneration Policy
was implemented dunng 2015/16 and how it will be
implemented for the following year

Service agreements

Service contracts

The following table summarises key terms of the sernvice
contracts in place with the executive directors

Datg of contract
Sebastian James 29 Mar 12
Andrew Hamison 290ct 13
Humphrey Singer 2Sep N
Katie Bickerstaffe 29 Mar 12
Graham Stapleton 50ct 11

With the exception of Andrew MHamson, all the above executive
directors were apponted to the Board on 6 August 2014

More detals are set out in the single figure of directors’
remuneration tables on pages 74 to 75

Letter of appoiritment

Non-executive directors are normally appointed for three year
terms, although appointments may vary depending on length
of service and succession planning considerations
Appontments are reviewad annually by the Nominations
Committee and recommendations made to the Board
accordingly The date of the letters of appointment and expiry
of current terms are shown below

Letters of Expiry of

appantment cument temn

Sir Charles Dunstone 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Tony DeNunzio 16 Dec 15 16 Dec 18
Andrea Gisle Joosen 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Tim How 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Jock Lennox 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Lord Livingston of Parkhead 16 Dec 15 16 Dec 18
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 17 Jun 14 t6Jun 17
Gerry Murphy 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17

Tony DeNunzio and Lord Livingston were appointed to the
Board on 16 December 2015 and on the same date both John
Gildersleeve and Roger Taylor stepped down from the Board
More details are set out in the single figure of directors’
remuneration 1ables on pages 74 to 75

Remuneration Committee membership and attendance

Members

Membership of the Committee compnses four
non-executive directors, therr names and attendance
record are set out in the table below and therr biographies
and qualfications are set out on pages 36 to 37 The
Comrittee's Terms of Reference are available on the
Company's corporate website

Meetings

The Remuneration Commuttee rmet four scheduled times
dunng the penod under review with one further
unscheduled meeting Since the year end there have been a
further two meetings

Scheduled
meslings

Members duning the year

Lord Livingston of Parkhead (Chawman) 10f1

Tony DeNunzig® 10f1

Andrea Gisle Joosen S5of5

Tim How 50f5

Former members

John Gildersleeve® 40f4

Roger Taylor® 40f4d

(1] Appointed to the Commuttes 16 December 2015
{2) Resigned 16 December 2015

Only members of the Commitiee are entitied to attend
Committee meetings but the Group Chief Executive and
Group Finance Director {or other semior management) may
attend meelings by invitatian and in an adwisory capacity
only Meetings are also regularly attended by the Company
Secretary (who acts as Committee secretary), Deputy
Company Secretary, Group Human Resources Drrector and
Group Reward Director

No director participates in discussions about their own
remuneration

Responsibilities

Responsibibty for the estabhshment of an overall remunerabon
policy for the Group hes with the Beard The Remuneration
Commuttee has the following prncipal duties

« making recommendations to the Board on the Company's
framework of executive remuneration,

+ determining the fees of the Charman and Deputy Charman,

+ considenng and making recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of the executive directors and semor
management relative to performance and market data,

+ approving contracts of employment which exceed defined
thresholds of tatal remuneration or have unusual terms or
terminaton penods,
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+ considerng and agreemng changes to the Remuneration
Policy or major changes to employee benefit structures, and

+ approving and operating employee share-based
incentive schemes and associated performance
conditions and targets

Activities dunng the year
The principal actvities of the Commttee dunng 2015/16
ncluded

+ reviewed and approved the Directors’ Remuneration Report,

+ approved share awards to senior management
appointments under the long tenm incentive plans,

= approved the Sharesave grant,

« assessed the performance of executive directors aganst
pre-determined targets set for the 2014/15 annual bonus
and approved the payments,

» agreed design of 2015/16 annual bonus Including
performance measures and targets,

- reviewed the current Share Plan and considered a new plan
design for 2016/17,

« monitored the developments in the corporate govemance
environment and nvestor expectations, including post AGM
investor feedback, and

« nated remuneration practices across the Group

Advice

The Commuttee appointed Aon Hewitt in Apnl 2016 as
independent advisors, having used Towers Watson pnor to
this in 2015/16 Aon Hewitt (and previously Towers Watson)

15 engaged to provide advice to the Committee and to work
with the directors on matters relating to the Group's executive
remuneration and its long term incentives Aon Hewtt and
Towers Watson are members of the Remuneration Consultants
Group and operate under its code of conduct in relation to the
provision of executive remuneration advice in the UK Aon
Hewitt and Towers Watson have confirmed that they adhered
to the Code duning the relevant penods of 2015/16 for all
remuneration services provided 1o the Group Towers Watson
recenved fees of £26,000 (2014/15 £82,000) in relation to the
provision of those services Towers Watson also provided
actuanal services on behalf of the defined benefit pension
scheme, however, the Committee has satisfied itself that
Towers Watson's advice was objective and independent

The Committea may also take external legal advice, where
required, 1o assist it in carmying out its duties

Extemal directorships

The policy retating to extemal directorships i1s outlined in the
Remuneration Policy for 2015/16, the following external
directorships were undertaken and the fees retained by the
executive directors

+ Andrew Hamson was appointed a non-executive director
of Ocado Group plc on 1 March 2016 and was paid a fee
of £8,000 from appontment to 30 Apnl 2016

+ Sebastian James has been a non-executive director of
Direct Line Insurance Group plc during 201516 and was
paid a fee of £85,000 for the peniod to 30 Apnl 2016

- Katie Bickerstatfe has been a non-executive director of
Scottish and Southemn Energy plc duning 2015/16 and was
patd a fee of £70,000 for the penod to 30 Apnl 2016

- Humphrey Singer was appeinted a non-executive director
of Taylor Wimpey plc from 9 December 2015 and was pad
a fee of £22,000 from appointment to 30 Apnl 2016

How the Remuneration Policy will be apphed in 2016/17
Executive directors

i) Base Salary

Executive directors' salanes were last reviewed at the time
of Merger The following increases will be apphed dunng the
2016/17 financial year

Salary ot Increase in Salary at
30 Apnl Satary In 1 August

2016 2016417 2016
£000 £ 000 £'000
Current directors
Sebastian James 820 16 836
Andrew Harmmison 550 11 561
Humphrey Singer 475 10 485
Katie Bickerstaffe 500 10 510
Graham Stapleton 460 9 469

1} Pension Contnbutions

Company pension contnbutions or allowance in ieu will
continue 1n 2016/17 at therr current levels of 10% for Sebastian
James, Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe and 5% for
Andrew Harnson and Graham Stapleton

ni} Annuat performance bonus

The maximum annual bonus for 2016/17 will be 125% of base
salary and will operate on a simtlar basis as in the previous
year The measures have been selected to reflect our key
abjectives and are aligned to our Group balanced scorecard,
with a minsmum profit gate that must be achieved before any
bonus s paid out The proposed target levels for the year have
been set to be challenging relative to the business plan Tha
Committee feels that specific targets relating to the 2016/17
bonus scheme are curently commercially sensitive and as
such will not be disclosed Retrospective disclosure of the
targets and performance against them will be provided in next
year's Remuneration Report
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The performance metnics and therr werghtings for 216/17 are
shown In the table below

Walghnng (as a parcantage of

The relative TSR condition will be assessed over a three year
penod, with vesting determined as follows

Aank of Company TSA egainst Comparator % o1 TSR etamant vesung

mhaximum bonus Group TSR

opportunity)
Below Median 0%

EBIT 60%
Net Debt 10% Medan 25%

et Del

o Between Medhan and Upper Pro rata between 25%
ROCE 10% Quartile and 100% on a straight
Customer net promoter score 10% line basis
Employee engagement 10%  Upper Quartile or above 100%

Recovery and withholding provisions apply for matenal
musstatement, misconduct and reputational damage enabling
performance adjustments and / or recovery of sums already
pad These provisicns will apply for up to three years

after payment

W) LTIP

Subject to shareholder approval at the AGM on 8 September
2016, the Committee intends to make an award of 275% of
salary to each of the executive directors in 2016717, which

will vest after three years based on continued service and the
achievernent of the performance measures noted below
These awards will be subject to a further two-year post vesting
holding penod, during which the executive director is not
permitted to sell any shares vesting, other than those required
to settle any tax obligations

When setting the proposed award levels, the Committee took
account of a number of reference points, including the
potential total remuneration against a number of scenanos of
performance The Committee believes that the greater
weghting of vanable pay towards long term incentives 1s better
aligned with the interests of shareholders and focuses on
sustamnable long-tenm performance The cammon level of long
termm incentive plan award to all executive directors is reflective
of the collegiate approach of the executive director team,
which was establbshed through the Merger and has been

a key part of the success of the Group

For 2016/17 these awards will be subject to two equally
weighted perfermance condions Half of the awards will be
subject to the achievernent of a relative TSR performance
condition, measured against the compantes ranked FTSE
51-150 at the stant of the perfonmance penod The remaining
haf of the awards will be subject to the achievemment of
adjusted EPS growth targets

EPS growth will be assessed over a three year penod Due to
current uncertainties in the market, the Comnuttee 1s
deliberating further over the appropnate EPS targets for the
awards to be made in September 2016, subject to
shareholders approving the new LTIP The EPS targets will be
published on the Company's website in sutficient tme before
the AGM for shareholders to review them ahead of voting on
the new LTIP

When setting the EPS growth target range the Commttee will
take intoc consideration a number of reference ponts including
the intemal business plan, extermal market consensus, the
strong growth in 2015/16, a broad view of the macroeconomic
environment and, to a tesser extent, growth targets in other
simitarly sized retalers The Committee will set a range of
targets straddling consensus, with consensus at or shghtly
below the middle of the range The target range proposed will
provide the correct batance between incentvisation and further
performance motivation, without creating any undue nsk

Calculations of the achievement against the targets will be
independently performed and approved by the Commitiee
The Comumittee will retain discretion to adjust for matenal
events which occur dunng the performance pencd and will
make full and clear disclosure of any such adjustments in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report, together with detasls of the
achieved levels of performance, as determined by the above
definitions at the end of the performance penod

Awards will be subject to recovery and withholding provisions
for matenal misstatermment, misconduct and reputational
damage enabling performance adjustments and / or recovery
of sums already paid These provisions will apply for up to
three years after vesting
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Remuneration details for 2015/16

Performance graph

The graph below shows the Group's performance measured
through TSR on a holding of £100 in the Company's shares,
compared with the FTSE 350 Index, since 29 March 2010
The FTSE 350 has been used as it is a broad market which
includes the Company and a number of ts competitors

Tota! shareholder return
Source Datastream

Start date of the graph reflects date of admittance to the London
Stock Exchange of Dixans Carphone ple, previously called
Carphone Warehouse plc

Group Chiet Executive pay

The following table shows, over the same six year penod as
the performance graph, the Group Ctuef Executive’s single
total figure of remuneration, the amount of bonus eamed as a
percentage of the maximum remuneration possible, and the
vesling of kong term awards as a percentage of the maximum
number of shares that coutd have vested where applicable

Long term
incentive
Annual vesting
bonus rates
CEQ single payout against
figure of oganst maximum
remuneration™ maximum opportunity
Year £'000 % %%
2015/16 Sebashan James 1,616 68% n/a
Sebastian James 1,687 100% n/a
Andrew Harnison 420 100% na

2014/15 Total 2,107
Andrew Hamison 679 54% na
Roger Taylor 159 nfa n/a

2013/14 Total 838
2012/13 Roger Taylor 958 55% nfa
2011/12 Roger Taylor 474 0% n‘a
2010/11 Roger Taylor 1,183 82% n/a

{1) Excludes remuneration recewed from long termt incentive schiemes

established by Old Carphone Warehouse pnor to the demerger
from TalkTalk because thal company 15 not part of the current
Group Delarls of remuneration associated with Old Carphone
wWarehouse incentive schemes were provided in that company’s
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2012 Future reports
will include long term incentives operated by the current Group
when they have vested

{2} Roger Taylor waived a bonus of 25% maximum potentiat and
nstead chose for it to be pard directly to chanty
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Percentage change in remuneration

The table below prowides the percentage change in remuneration for the Group Chief Executive and the percentage change for
all UK head office based employees as this group provides the best ike-for-ike companson Changes in satary relating to
changes iy roles and / or responsibilities have been excluded from the increase presented for the wider group

UK head

Groug Chist office

Exscutive  empioyess

Salary and fees 2% 2%
Taxable benefits™ 0% 0%
Annual bonuses {32)% (26)%

{1) The percentage change in taxable benefits 1s considered to be 0% since there have been no matenal changes i Group benefits

Relative importance of spend on pay
The following table sets out both the total cost of remuneration for the Group compared with pro forma Headline EBIT and
profits distnbuted for 2015/16 and the prior year

2015016 201415
Smiltion Cmilion  Changs %
Dinidends pad™ 106 52 104%
Headline EBIT 468 413 13%
Total staff costs - continuing operations® 1,061 a00 18%
Number Number Changa %
Average employee numbers — continuing operations® @ 41,847 32,834 27%
Id

(1} Extracted irom note 23 to the Group financial statements

{2) Extracted from note 5 to the Group financial statements

(3} The average number of employees for 2014/15 15 made up of legacy Carphone Warehouse employees for the full 13 month penod and
legacy Dixons Retail employees for the penod post Merger
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Audited information
Single figure of directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 Apnl 2016

2013/18
salar?::; Penslon Annual Taxoble Total LTIP Tota!
te03  contnbutions® bonus benefits!™ gmolyments payments®™ remunsration
£'000 £'000 €000 "000 £ 000 £'000 £000
Executive
Current directors
Sebastian James 820 82 70 13 1,616 - 1,616
Andrew Harnson 550 28 470 1" 1,059 - 1,059
Humphrey Singer 475 48 406 13 942 - 942
Katie Brckerstaffe® 490 50 428 11 979 - 979
Graham Stapleton® 460 23 3s3 892 1,768 - 1,768
2,795 231 2,398 940 6,364 - 6,364
Non-executive
Current directors
Sir Charles Dunstone 280 - - - 280 - 280
Tony DeNunzio™ 34 - - - 34 - 34
Andrea Gisle Joosen 70 - - - 70 - 70
Tim How 65 - - - 65 - 65
Jock Lennox 75 - - - 75 - 75
Lord Lringstan of Parkhead™ 54 - - - 54 - 54
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 65 - - - 65 - 65
Gerry Murphy €5 - - - 65 - 65
Former directors
John Gildersleeve! 53 - - — 53 —_ 53
Roger Taylor*® 97 - - 1 98 - 98
858 - - 1 859 - 859
3,653 231 2398 841 7,223 - 7,223

M

2)
()]

(@}
o)

©

(&)
&

Remuneration 18 shown for the penod served on the Board Tony DeNunzio and Lord Livingston were appointed to the Board on

16 Decamber 2015 and the fees shown were from appointment to 30 Apnl 2016 John Gildersleeve and Roger Taylor resigned from the
Board on 16 December 2015 and fees are from 3 May 2015 to date of leaving

Katie Bickerstatfe purchased annual leave under the Group’s holiday purchase scheme, reducing her salary by £10,000 n 201516
Pansion contabutians compnsa the Company's contnbution or allowance in lieu together with the salary supplement which is based on the
difference between basic salary and the scheme earmings cap set by the Company The contnbution amount was 10% of salary for
Sebasthan James, Humphrey Singer and Kate Bickerstafie and 5% for Andrew Hamson and Graham Stapleton

Taxable benefits include prvate medical insurance and car allowances

The taxabla benefits of Graham Stapleton includes the waver of a loan, together with accrued interest of £880,268 relating to 2 long term
incentive scheme of Carphone Warehouse that he took part in prior to him becoming a director of the Company The scheme vasted
following the sale of the Best Buy Europe business and awards became exercisable dunng 2013, but all shares awarded were subject o a
sales restnction untl 2015 Al the ume of exercise Graham Stapteton, along with the other participants was prowded with a company laan
to be used 1o settle the outstanding tax labiities that were created at the point of exercise Dunng 2015, the sales resinctions elapsed and
at that bme the Company confirmed the wnting off of the outstanding loan This decision refiected the treatment afforded to other
participants of this plan and the past practice used by Carphone Warehouse Thists a legacy pre-Merger obligaton made before Graham
Stapleton was appointed to the Board

LTIP payments would compnse amounts under the Share Plan, however, the performance penod ends 1n July 2017

Roger Taylor continued to receive private medical insurance benefits until 16 December 2015 when he stepped down from the Board

No payments were made to former directors and na payment for tass of office was made dunng the year

Lord Livingstan has a deferred pension in the Dixons Retirement and Employee Secunty Scheme

-
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Single figure of directors' remuneration for the period ended 2 May 2015

2014N5
Basic salary Pension Anmnaal Taxable Toal LTP Tatal
and lees coninbutions® bonus® bengfits™ empluments payments™ remuneration
£ 000 £ 000 €000 £ 000 £000 £ 000 £ 00D
Executive
Current directors
Sebastian James™ 590 59 1,025 13 1,687 - 1,687
Andrew Harrison 570 28 745 14 1,357 - 1,357
Humphrey Singer® 342 34 594 13 983 — 983
Katie Bickerstaffe!¥ 360 36 625 12 1,033 - 1,033
Graham Stapleton!™ 343 17 623 10 Q93 — 993
Former directors
Nigel Langstatf® 117@ € — 4 127 - 127
2,322 180 3.612 66 6,180 - 6,180
Non-executive
Current directors
Sir Charles Dunstone 290 - - - 290 - 290
Roger Taylor 179 - - 1™ 180 - 180
Andrea Gisle Joosen'" 50 - — - 50 - 50
John Gildersleeve a7 - - - a7 - 87
Tim How!V a7 - — — a7 - 47
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 70 - - - 70 - 70
Jock Lennox!" 54 — - — 54 - 54
Gerry Murphy 67 — - - 67 - 67
Former directors
John Allan™ 75 - - - 75 - 75
John Allwood™ 28 - — — 28 — 2B
947 — - 1 948 - 948
3.269 180 3,612 67 7.128 - 7.128
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Remuneration 18 shown for the penod served on the Board The following directors were apponted on 6 August 2014 Sebastian James
Humphrey Singer, Katie Bickerstatfe, Graham Stapleton, Andrea Gisie Joosen, Tim How and Jock Lennox Remuneration / fees for

these directors 15 shown from appointment to 2 May 2015 John Allan was appointed to the Board on 6 August 2014 and resigned on

17 February 2015 and the fees shown are for this penod Nigel Langstaff and John Allwood resigned from the Board on 6 August 2014

and remuneratton / fees are from 1 Apnl 2014 to date of leaving

Pensgion contrbutions compense the Company's coninbution or allowance in heu together with the salary supplement which 15 based on the
difference between basic salary and the scherne earnings cap set by the Company This additonal amount was 109% for Sebashan James,
Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstatfe and 5% for Andrew Hamson, Niged Langstafl and Graham Stapleton

Annual bonus for Graham Stapleton and base salary and annual banus for Andrew Harnson represents the amount earned over 13 months
follkowing the alignment of the financial year eng Annual bonuses for Sebastian James Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffa represent
the amount earned over the 12 months to 2 May 2015, which includes the penod pnor to the Merger All bonuses are calculated based on
the directors' annval salary as at 2 May 2015

Taxable benefits inciude pnvate medical insurance car allowance and Sharesave gains of £4,000 for Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer
and Katie Bickerstaffe in respect of options granted on 26 February 2015 as set out in the table on page 79

LTIP payments would compnse amounts under the Share Plan, however, the performance penod ends in July 2017

In additon to the above remuneralion and subseguent to resigning from the Board on 6 August 2014, Nigel Langstaff recewved a
redundancy payment of £247,000 upon leaving the business in December 2014 Nigel also received £350,000 as a payment in heu of notice
in respect of basic salary, £19,700 tn respect of benefits {including car altowance, permanent health insurance and life cover) and £17,500 in
respect of pension contnbutions There was no paymen! for accrued holiday untaken These amounts were in ine with contractual
entilements and the Group's redundancy payments policy and no discrebion was applied in therr determination The Committee determined
to apply discretion to pay a bonus of £437,500 in respect of the penod of service 1n the 2014/15 financial year and in respect of ongoing
support up to the announcement of the prefirunary results for 2014115

Roger Taylor continued to receive pnvate medical nsurance benefits
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Long term incentive plans (LTIP)
The Share Plan awards made dunng 2014/15 vest in July 2017 {60%) and July 2018 {40%)

Detais of the awards made and the loans granted to the directors to enable them to subscnbe for shares under the Share Plan
are detailed tater in this report

No LTIPs have vested dunng the year for the directors whilst senving on the Board

Annual bonus for 2015/16
The maximum bonus opportunity for all executive directors s 125% of base salary based on performance in the 12-month

period to the end of the financial year

The Commuttes determined at the beginming of the year that the disclosure of performance targets were commercidlly sensitive
and therefore these were not disclosed This was because targets were set within the context of a longer term business plan and
this disclosure could give infarmation to competitors to the detriment of business performance The Commitiee has however
disclosed in the table below the targets on a retrospective basis and the actual performance agamst these

The maxmum annual bonus of 125% of base salary 15 payable at the maximum level of performance, 25% of base salary on
achievement of threshold performance and 75% of base salary on achievement of target performance

Ag 8 percentage of
maximum bonus

Messurs opporunity Threshoid Target Maximum Actual Payout
Pro forma Headline EBIT 60% ©450 million £475 muithon  £500 million  £468 rmillion 29%
Pro forma average net

{debt) / funds - vanance vs budget 10% £(50) million Budget £50milion  £54 million 10%
Return on Capital Employed 10% 201% 20 6% 211% 21 0% 9%
Customer net promoter score 10% Worse Target Better Better 10%
Employee engagement score 10% Worse Target Better Better 10%

It should be noted that customer net promoter and employee engagement scare targets were set in the context of a high base
point The mprovement in actual performance was therefore considered an exceflent result The actua! scores for these
measures are still considered to be commercially sensitive and therefore cannot be drsclosed 1n full

Overall bonus payments will be at target levels and will be paid n cash at 68 4% of base salary The Committee 1s comfortable
that the result 1s an appropnate reflection of overall performance dunng the year under review The bonus amounts to be pad to
the executive directors i respect of 2015/16 are set out in the single figure of directors’ remuneration table on page 74
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Non-executive directors' and Chainnan's fees

The fees for the iIndependent non-executive directors, nchuding the Deputy Chaimman, are determined by the Board (excluding
non-executive directors) after considenng external market research and are reviewed on an annual basis Faclors taken into
consideration mciude the required time commitment, specific expenence and / or quahfications A base fee 1s payable and
additonal fees are paid for chainng and membership of commuttees The Chairman 1s not invelved in the setting of his own salary
which 1s dealt with by the Remuneration Commttee annually Non-executive directors recewe no vanable pay and recewe no
additonal benefits, except In situations where an executive director becomes a non-executive director and benefit andd pension
amangements contnue

The Chairman, Deputy Charman and Senior Independent Direclor recewve all inclusive fees reflecting therr duties Other
Independent non-executive directors recewed a basic fee of £60,000 (2014/15 £60,000) and additional fees as set cut in the
table below for chainng or membership of committees Fees will remain unchanged for 2016/17

2015418 2014/15

£'000 £ 1000
Chairmantt 280 280
Deputy Charrman® 140 140
Semor Independent Director 90 N/A®
Chaur of Audit Commuttee 15 15
Member of Audit Committee 5 5
Member of Nominations Committee 5 5
Member of Remuneration Committee 5 5

{1} The Chairman's fee includes Chaimanship of the Nominations Commuttee

(2) The Deputy Chawrnan’s fee includes Charmanship of the Remuneration Committee and membership of the Nominations Committee
{3) Fees for previous Deputy Chaiman

{4} The Semor Independent Director’s fee includes membership of the Nominations and Remuneration committees

{5) The Senwor Independent Director dunng 2014/15 was also Deputy Charman and received no additonal fee for this
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Directors' interests in the Share Plan

The executive directors previously participated i the Dixons Carphone {tormerly Carphone Warehouse Group pic) Share Plan
approved by Carphone Warehouse shareholders Participants acquired st markst value parhcipaton shares ina subsidiary
company that holds the Company's interests in the Group's main aperating businesses The Group granted ioans to participants
at a commercial rate of interest 1o acquire the shares Loans are ordinanty repayable 1n full f performance conditions are met

The performance of the plan will ordinanty be measured at the end of the performance penod (in or around July 2017 for the
current participants), when 60% of the shares vest, with 40% deferred for a further year When the awards vest, the value of the
shares held by participants will be based on the ncremental value (if any) of Dixons Carphone ple in excess of the opening
valuation together with the mimmum retum on nvested captal These shares will then be purchased by the Company for cash

and / or the Company's ordinary shares

The total pood for distnibution to participants 1s subject to a cap of 4% of the total issued share capital of the Company on the
measurement date Under the Share Plan there are now two pools, one for the onginal grant in December 2013 and one for the
second grant in October 2014, each being subject to a cap of 29 of the total 1ssued share capital of the Company

The Share Plan is designed to share 10% of the ncremental value created i Dixons Carphone in axcess of an opening vatuation
{assessed over an appropnate period) and beyond an annual rate of retumn of 7% on invested capital The plans also
underpinned by a minmum annual compound TSA growth of 5% and outperformance of the median TSR of the FTSE 250

The table below shows the allocation 1o the executive directers of participation shares in the subsidrary, New CPW ULmited, n
refation to the Share Plan, together with details of the loans 1ssued 10 enable the directors to subscnbe for the participation shares

AQrdinary BOwingry A Ordimary B Ordinary
shanes in shares in shares in sharas in

y y y idlary A ] v Allocati A ion Loan Losn
altocated allocated allocatsd pllocated of A pool of B poal ol A pool of Bpool ouislanding outstanding
as al as at as at as at as at as at as ol as ot asel a3 at
2 May 2 May 30 Apnl 30 Apni 2 May 2 May 30 Apnil 30 April 2 May 30 Apnl
2015 20157 2016t 2016= 2015 20159 2016™ 2016% 2015 2016
Number Number Numbar Number % % "% % 000 £ 000

Current directors
Sebastian James - 1,100 - 1,100 - 11% - 11% 2,239 2,306
Andrew Hamson 700 200 700 200 7% 2% 7% 2% 810 834
Humphrey Singer — 700 - 700 - 7% - 7% 1,425 1,487
Katie Bickerstaffe - 700 - 700 - 7% -— 7% 1,425 1,467
Graham Stapleton 600 100 600 100 6% 1% 6% 1% 549 565

{1} Allocation refates to the pre-Merger pool in respect of A ordinary shares Face value 1s not included as due to the structure of the Share Plan
it 15 not considered a rapresantative figure

(2) Allocation relates to the post-Merger pool in respect of B ordinary shares Face valus 1s not included as due 1o the structure of the Share
Ptan it »s nol considarad a representative figure
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Directors’ share options
As part of the Merger, participants of the Dixons Retall Sharesave Plan were offered the opportunity to roll over their Sharesave

awards into options over Dixons Carphone ple Those awards rolled over by the directors, in addition to other ophions owned by
the directors over the Company, are shown in the table below

Lapsed ar
At Awarded torfpited At
Exercise 3 Mey nthe lnthe  Erxcrosed® 30 Aprit  Date fromwhich Exgury of tho
Oate of gram price {p) 2015 period™ period in period 2018 first exorcisable oxarcise period
Sebastian James
Sharesave 23 Jul 2013™ 209 35 601 - - - 601 10ct2016 31 Mar 2017
26 Feb 2015 34400 4,866 - - - 4,866 1Apr2018 30 Sep 2018
5,467 - - - 5,467
Andrew Harnson
Sharesave 10Jan 2014 22400 4,017 - - - 4,017 1 Mar2017 31 Aug 2017
4,017 - - - 4,017
Humphrey Singer
Sharesave 23 Jul 20120 9148 1,377 - - {1,317 —  10ct2015 31 Mar 2016
23 Jul 2013 209 35 601 - - - 601 10ct2016 31 Mar 2017
26 Feb 2015 34400 4,500 - - - 4,500 1Apr2018 30 Sep2018
25Feb 2016 37700 - 334 - - A34 1 Apr2019 30 Sep 2019
6,478 334 - {1,377} 5,435
Katie Bickerstaffe
Sharesave 23 Jul 2012 91 48 1,377 - - (1,377 -  10ct 2015 31 Mar 2016
23 Jyl 2013 209 35 601 - - - 61 31 0ct2016 31 Mar 2017
26 Feb 2015 34400 4,500 - - - 4,500 1 Apr2018 30 Sep 2018
25 Feb 2016 377 00 - 334 - - 334 1 Apr2019 30 Sep 2019
6,478 334 - (1,377} 5435

{1} Share options that were granied under the Oixons Retall Sharesave Plan and rolled over in1o options over Dixons Camphone plc shares
The exercisa pnce shown 15 the roll over pnce over Dixons Carphone plc shares
{2) The options exercised by Katie Bickerstafte and Humphrey Singer on 1 October 2015 had a markat pnce of £4 25 on the date of axercise
{3) The face value of awards granted on 25 February 2016 for the sxecutive dwectors was £1 460 for Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe
The exercise prce was set at a 20% discount to the mid-market closing share price at 27 January 2016 of £4 71
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Directors’ shareholding
Details of directors’ interests in shares of the Company are shown in the following table

Boneficialty awned Rastricted interests in share plans
Total Total
boneficial beneficial
interasts share
under share nierasis
Share Plan® Share Plan® Sharesave ownership asa
a5 at as a as at guidetinas % of salary'®  Exercised
30 Apnl a0 Apnl 30 Aprit 30 Apnl 30 April 30 Apm dunng
20167 2 May 2015 2018 2018 2016 2018 2018 2015/18
Executive directors
Current directors
Sebashan James 908,234 908,234 - 1,100 5,467 908,234 467%
Andrew Harrison 5,000,000 5,000,000 700 200 4,017 5,000,000 3,835%
Humphrey Singer 616,147 617,770 - 700 5,435 619,147 550% 1,377
Katie Bickerstaffe™ 408,967 657,590 - 700 5,435 408,967 5% 1,377
Grahamn Stapleton®® 490,034 880,034 600 100 - 490,034 44%%
Non-executive directors
Current directors
Sir Chartes Dunstone 134,758,481 134,758,481 - - - - -
Tony DeNunzio 50,000 - - - - - -
Andrea Gisle Joosen 6,076 6,076 - - - - -
Tim How 12,400 12,400 - - - - -
Jock Lennox 11,625 11,625 - - - - -
Lord Livingston of Parkhead - - - - - - -
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 991 931 - - - - -
Genry Murphy 20,000 20,000 - - - - -
Former diractors
John Gridersieeve 122,568 122,568 - - - N/A N/A
Roger Taylor 9,808,554 9,808,554 - - - N/A N/A

(+} Data of appowniment if later

{2} The shares listed here are in A ordinary shares of New CPW Limited as part of the shares purchased in relation to the Share Plan These
have been subscnbed for by the Direclors A ordinary shares have a different opening valuation to B ordinary shares as descnbed in note
(3), refiecting the valug of the Company at appropnate times pror (o the grants

(3) The shares histed here are in B ordinary shares of New CPW Limited as part of the shares purchased in relation to the Share Plan These
have been subscnbed for by the Directors B ordinary shares have a different opening valuation to A ordinary shares, as descnbed in note
(2), reflecting the value of the Company at appropnate tmes pnor to the grants

{4) The percentage excludes the Share Plan participation shares and Sharesave oplions and (s based on basic salary as at 30 Apnl 2016 and

an average share pnce over the month to 30 Apnl 2016 of £4 218

(5) On 18 August 2015, Katie Bickerstaffe sold 105,796 shares at £4 419, on 21 August 2015, she sold 108,034 shares at £4 338 and on
24 August 2015, she sold a further 35,170 shares at £4 084

(6} On 18 August 2015, Graham Stapleton sold 165,060 shares at £4 419 on 21 August 2015, he sold 170,110 shares a1 £4 338 and on
24 August 2015, he sold a further 54 830 shares at £4 084

(N} Date of resignation, «f earher

There were no changes mn the directors' restncted or unrestncted share interests between 30 Apnl 2016 and the date of this report
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Statement of voting at shareholder meetings (not audited}

The Company 1s committed to ongoing shareholder dialogue in respect of directors’ remuneration, and takes an active interest
mn voiing outcomes and in particular we have consulted with our shareholders on the Remuneration Policy being put to the vote
at the AGM Where there are substantial votes against resoluttons, explanatory reasons will be sought, and any actons in
response will be communicated to shareholders

The following tables set cut the voting results in relation to the resolutions put to the 2015 annual general meebng

Resobyuon Yotes for % Votes agalnst % Withhald
Approval of Remuneration Policy 771,708,963 94 09 48,431,387 591 88,989,962
Approval of Annual Remuneration Report 621,991,756 7285 230,588,119 2705 56,551,437

As the annual remuneration report receved significant shareholder votes against it at the annual general meeting 1n 2015 (see
table above for voting outcomes at the previous annual general meeting), dunng the recent consultation process, the Company
encouraged feedback from its key shareholders to understand the reasons behind the dissent We are aware of shareholders’
concems regarding the transparency and communication of the Company's Remuneration Report and have focused on
providing clearer reporting on past remuneration

Comphiance
As required by the Regulations, a resolution to approve thus Remuneration Report will be proposed at the AGM to be held on
8 September 2016

tan Livingston
Chawrman of the Remuneration Committee
28 June 2016
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for prepanng the annual report and the financial statements i accordance with applicable law
and regulations

Company faw requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the directors are
required to prepare the consclidated financial statements in accondance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and
Article 4 of the 1AS Regulation and have elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with Financial
Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework Under company law the directors must not approve the accounts
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and far view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the profit

or loss of the Company and the Group for that penod

In prepanng the Company financial statements, the directors are required to

. selact suitable accounting polictes and then apply them consistently,

+ make judgements and accounting esbtmates that are reasonable and prudent,

. state whether Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework has been followed, subject to any matenal
departures disclosed and explained in the financial staterments, and

« prepare the financial statements on the going concem basis unless it 1s Inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue In business

In prepanng the consohdated financial statements, IAS 1 *Presentaticn of Financial Statemenis’ requires that directors

* properly select and apply accounting policies,

= present nformation, Including accounting polices, N a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information,

- provide additional disclosures when comphance with the specific requirements in IFRS are nsufficient to enable users to
understand the mpact of particular fransactions, other events and condiicns on the Group's financial position and financial
performance, and

+ make an assessment of the Group'’s ability to continue as a going concem

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's
transactions and drsclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial pesition of the Company and the Group and enable
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Comparues Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other iregulanties

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the corporate and financial information ncluded on the

Group's webstte Legislation in the United Kingdom goverming the preparation and dissemunation of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other junsdictions

Responsibilty statement
Wa confirm that to the best of cur knowledge

- the financial staterments, prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, give a true and farr view of
the assets, labilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidatron
taken as a whole,

« the Strategic Report includes a farr review of the development and performance of the business and the posibon of the
Company and the undertakings included in the consoldation taken as a whole, together with a description of the pnncipal
nsks and uncertainties that they face, and

« the annual report and financial statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and the Company's performance, business model and strategy

By Order of the Board

Schastan James Humphrey Singer
Group Chigt Executive Group Finance Cireclor
28 June 2016 28 June 2016
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Independent Auditor’s report

Opinton on the financial statements of Dixons Carphone plc

In our opmion,

« the financial stalements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent company’s affairs as at 30 Apn
2016 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended,

+ the Group financial statements have been properly prepared n accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union,

- the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with Unrted Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, including FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’, and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Comparues Act 2006 and, as regards

the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

The financial statements compnse the Consolidated ncome statement, the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income,

the Consolidated balance sheet, the Consolidated statement of changes in equity, the Consolidated cash flow staternent, the
Company balance sheet, the Company statement of changes in equrty, and the related notes 1 to 31 and C1to C10 The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements 1s apphcable law and
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union The financial reporting framework that has been applhed in the preparation of the
parent company financial statements s applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards {United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Pracuce), including FRS 101 *Rectuced Disclosure Framework'

Separate opimon 1n relation to IFRSs as issued by the IASB

As explained in note 1a) to the Group financial statements, in addrion to complying with its legal obhigation to apply IFRSs
as adopted by the European Union, the Group has also applied IFRSs as 1ssued by the Intemational Accounting Standards
Board (lASE)

In our opinion the Group financial statements comply with IFRSs as 1ssued by the IASB

Going concem

As required by the Listing Rules we have reviewed the directors’ staternent regarding the appropnateness of the going concem
bass of accountng contained within nate 1a) to the financial statements and the directors' statement on the longer-term viability

of the group contaned within the strategic report

We have nothing matenal to add or draw attention to in relation to

+ the directors' confirmation on page 45 that they have camed out a robust assessment of the pnncipal nsks facing the Group,

including those that would threaten iis business model, future performance, solvency or kquidity,
- the disclosures on pages 20 to 23 that descrnbe those nsks and explan how they are being managed or mitigated,

concem basis of accounting in prepanng them and thewr identification of any matenal uncertanties to the Group's ability to
continue to do so over a penod of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements,

« the directors’ explanation on page 29 as to how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what period they have
done so and why they consicer that period to be appropnate, and ther statement as to whether they have a reasonable
expectation that the group will be able to continue in operation and meet its hiabilities as they fall due over the penod of thewr
assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualfications or assumptiens

Wae agreed with the directors’ adoption of the going concem basis of accounting and we did not identify any such matenal
unceriznties However, because not all future events or condiions can be predicted, this statement 1s not a guarantee as
to the Group's ability to continue as a going concem

Independence

We are required to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standards for Auditors and we confinm that we are
independent of the Group and we have fulfiled our other ethical responsibiliies in accordance with those standards We also
confinm we have nol provided any of the prohubrted non-audit services referred 10 in those standards

the directors’ statement In note 1a) to the financial statements about whether they considered 1t appropriate to adopt the going
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Financial statements

Independent Auditor’s report

Our assessment of nsks and matenal misstatement

The assessed nsks of matenal russtatement descnbed below are those that had the greatest effect on our audit strategy,
the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team The key nsks we identified are

- impaiment of goodwill and other intangible assets
» Revenue recognition — UK network commissions

« UK supplher funding

» Inventory prowvisioning (Dixons)

= Property rationahisation provisioning

Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the nsk

timpawrment of goodwill and other intangible assets

The Group has significant acquisition related
intangible assets, nctuding goodwill, (£3,402 milkon
at 30 Apnl 2016 including £3,054 million of googwilt
and £348 milion of acquisition intangibles} pnmanly
related to the CPW Europe and Dixons Retail plc
acquisihons in previous years The Group’s
assessment of impaimment of acquisiion related
inangible assets 1s a judgemental process which
requires estimates concerming the future cash flows
and associated discount rates and growth rates
based on management’s projections of future
business performance and prospects The key
judgements and estimates involved are descnbed
n more detal n notes 1]}, 1k) and 1s) to the Group
financial statements

We assessed the assumptions used by management in the
impaiment modets for goodwill and acquisition related intangible
assets, mclucing specifically the cash flow projections, discount rates
{utlising the assistance of our valuation speciahists), arnd long-term
growth rates used aganst lnstoncal performance, our understanding
of the future prospects of the busmess and companson aganst
market rates and the prevailing Group cost of capital at the year end
We have audited the mecharics of the impaimnent models prepared
by management

Revenue recognttion — UK network commissions

The monetary value of commission recenvable on
sales, being commisston for which there s a
contractual entitlement based on mobile phone
connections already made, and for which there are
no ongeing performance obligations, 15 dependent
on custormer behaviour beyond the point of sale
Management i1s therefore required to exercise
judgement in respect of the level of customer default
withun the contract penod, expected levels of
customer spend and customer behaviour beyond
the initial contract penod The key judgements

and estimates involved are descnibed in more
detail in notes 1d), 1s) and 26h) to the Group
financial statements

We evaluated the design and implementation of both the relevant
manual and automated controls over the revenue recognition process
n respect of commissions receivable, utilising IT specialists to assist
with testing of automated controls In addition we tested that these
contrals were operating effectively threughout the pencd

We have tested the valuation of revenue recogrised through review
of the Group's contractual amangements, substantive testng of
management assumptions including tenure, ine rental, and churm
1o data receved from networks and testing of cash receipts

We have also assessed any changes in estmate n comparnson to the
pnor year and reviewed year on year movement in key assumptions

~

UK suppher funding

The Group holds a number of signficant funding
arangernents with suppliers Agreements in relation
to suppher funding are based predominantly on
volume related targets, for both purchases and sales,
and are most commonty agreed as a fixed
percentage of targets up front These targets are
generally a mix of quarterty and annual targets The
timing of recogrution of this ncome 1S sometmes
judgemental, in particular where the target penod for
measunng achievements spans the year end and it 15
necessary to ensure there s sufficient evidence
justifying recogrution The key judgements and
estimates involved are descnbed in more detail in
note 1s) to the Group financial statements

We updated our understanding of the key supplier funding
amangements across the Group As part of this, we met with the key
commercial and finance process owners, we tested the design and
implementation of the Group's key controls In operation, pnncipally
focused on those that determine the appropnate timing of recognition
for supplier funding batances, and we performed an analytical
assessment of movements in supplier funding throughout the current
year to histoncal trends

To ensure there is sufficient evidence to support the recognition of
supphier funding, we substantvely tested and recalculated a sample of
amounts with reference to signed supplier contracts We also obtaned
confirmations following circutansation of a sample of supplers
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Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the risk

Inventory provisioning {Dixons)

Inventory 1s a significant balance for the Group
{£958 mulon at 30 Apnl 2016} and there are a number
of judgemental areas including obsolescence and
shnnkage provisioning  This nsk has a significant
effect on our audi strategy, the allocation of
resources m the audit and directing the efforts of the
engagemnent team i the legacy Dixons side of the
business only, given the nature and relative
significance of the inventory balances within each
part of the Group Further information in relation to
this area s discussed in notes 1o0) and 1s) to the
Group financial statements

We have performed testing of the operating effectiveness of controls
around the inventory business cycle and attended a sample of
inwventory counts at 34 stores and the distnbution centres across the
Dixons UK and Nordics businesses, including visiting the Group's
man distnbution centre in Newark on four separate occasions, which
enables us 10 assess management’s processes for monitonng
inventory We performed audit tests to assess whether inventory 1s
valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value We reviewed,
recalculated and assessed the inventory provisioning for
reasonableness, including challenging the appropnateness of
prowvisioning with reference to mventory ageing, both histoncal and
post year end perfarmance and a review of the provision as a
percentage of gross stock year on year We have also considered the
impact of range changes and other specific known areas of overstock
on the required provision calculation

Property rationahisation provisioning

The Group has recorded a charge of £70 milion in
relation to restructunng of the property portfolto in the
UK bustness The magnitude of the associated
restructunng provision involves the use of estimates
and judgernent, particularly with regard to property
exit and onerous lease costs Further information is
included in notes 1), 1s) and 4ui) to the Group
financial statements

We have obtaned an understanding of the process undertaken by
management to quantfy the expected costs ansing from the
rationalisation of the property portfolio and have evaluated the design
and tmplementation of the associated controls We have assessed the
appropnateness of the provisions to ensure they meet the relevant
cntena for recogniion in accordance with the accounting standard
We have reviewed a sample of contractual lease agreements and
assessed management's judgements in relation to sublet income,
rent free penods and dilapidations agamst past evidence availlable

for similar properties We have substantively tested a sample of the
costs incurred during the penod to supporting documentation

Last year our report tncluded three other nsks which are not included in our report this year acquisition accounting {there have
been no significant acquisitions dunng the year following the acquisition of Dixons Retail plc last year), assets held for sale,
discontinued operations and disposal accounting (as the accounting for the disposals was largely completed last year), and
taxation (there have been no significant changes noted in the current year and it is no longer an area which has a significant
effect on cur audit strategy and the efforts of the engagement team) In the current pencd, we have included an additional nsk
n relation to property rationalisation provisioning, reflecting the announcement of the restructunng of the property portfolio

made by the Group dunng the year

The descnption of nsks above should be read in comjunction with the significant issues considered by the Audit Committee

discussed on pages 52 to 53

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opivon on these matters

Qur apphcation of matenality

We define matenality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economec

decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced We use matenality both in planning the scope
of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our wark

We determined matenality for the group to be £17 5 mithon {2014/15 £14 0 mulhon), which 1s below 5% (2014/15 5%} of
adjusted Headhine profit before tax, and below 1% (2014715 1%) of equity In using adjusted Headlne profit before tax, we have
followed the Group's defintion of Headline results in note 1a} and adjusted this to Include the impact of the amortisation of
acquisihion intangibles and pension finance costs due to thewr recumng nature This is the same basis on which we calculated
matenality in the pror year and the increase in matenality in the current year 1s due to the increase in the Group's Headhne profit
before tax We have assessed the use of a Headine measure to be appropnate as this continues to be a key driver of business
value, 1s a cntical component of the financial statements and the main measure which management uses to monitor the
performance of the business and communicate this to shareholders

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £600,000
(2014715 £500,000), as wel as differences below that threshold that, n our view, wamranted reporting on qualitative grounds
We also report 1o the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the
financiat statements
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Independent Auditor’s report

An overview of the scope of our audit

Wa have reassessed our Group audit scope following the completion of the disposal of certain European operations dunng the
year and accordingty have not performed a full scope audit in Spain or an audit of specified account balances in Greece, both
of which we did in the pnor year, although these components are both still subject to local statutory audits and are subject to
analytical procedures as part of work performed at the parent entity level

Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and fis enviranment, including Group-wide controls,
and assessing the risks of matenal misstatement at the Group leve! Based on that assessment, we focused our Group audt
scope pnmanly on the audit work of the retail operations in the UK and the Nordics Each of these components requires a local
statutory audit

These locations represent the principal business units and account for approximately 84% of the Group's revenue from
continuing operations (2014/15 93%;) and 84% of the Group's Headling profit before tax Each location was selected to prowide
an appropnate bass for undertaking audit work 1o address the risks of matenal misstatement dentfied above Qur audt work at
these locations was executed at levets of matenality applicable to each incividual entity which were lower than Group matenality
and ranged from €3 million to £10 milion (2014/15 £3 rmillion to £8 millien)

At the Dixons Carphone plc parent entity level we also tested the consohdation process and camed out analytical procedures
to confirm our conclusion that there were no significant nsks of matenal rmisstatement of the aggregated financiat information
of the remaining components not subject to audit or audit of specified account balances

The Group audt team 1s closely invalved in the audit of the UK components, being the largest part of the Group, throughout the year
including attendance at key audit planning and closing meetings In addition, the Group audiit tearm continued to follow a programme
of planned wisits to overseas components that has been designed so that a seror member of the Group audit team visits the most
signficant locations where the Group audit scope was focused at least once each year For the year ended 30 Apn! 2016, senior
members of the Group audit team wistted Norway, where the Nordics head office 1s located, on two occasions

Opinion on other matters prescnbed by the Companies Act 2006
In our optnton

« ihe part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006, and

+ the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of explanations receved and accounting records
Under the Comparnies Act 2006 we are required to report 10 you f, 1n our opinion

- we have not receved all the information and explanations we require for our audtt, or

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or retums adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us, or

» the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retums
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters

Drrectors’ rernuneration

Under the Companes Act 2006 we are also required to report if 1 our opirion certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration
have nat been made or the pan of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited 1s not in agreement with the accounting
records and retums We have nothing to report ansing from these matters

Corporate Govemnance statement
Under the Listing Rules we are also required 1o review part of the Corporate Govemnance Statement relating to the Company’s
comphiance with certain provisions of the UK Corporate Govermance Code We have nothing o repart ansing from our review

Our duty to read other information in the Annual Report and Accounts
Under Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), we are required to report to you if i1 our opinion, nformation in the
Annual Report and Accounts I1s

+ matenally inconsistent with the information in the audited financial staternents, or

« apparently matenaily ncomect based on, or matenally nconsistent with, our knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of
performing our audd, or

» otherwise musleading
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In particular, we are required to consider whether we have identified any mconsistencies between our knowledge acquired
dunng the audit and the directors’ statement that they consider the annual report 15 farr, balanced and understandable
and whether the annual report appropnately discloses those matters that we communicated to the Audit Committee
which we consider should have been disclosed We confirm that we have not identified any such inconsistencies or
misleading statements

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explamed more fully n the Statement of Directors’ responsibilittes, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our responsibility 1S to audht and express an
opimion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable faw and Intemational Standards on Auditing {UK and Iretand)
We also comply with Intermational Standard on Qualty Control 1 (UK and Ireland) Our audit methodology and tools am to
ensure that our qualty control procedures are effective, understood and applied Our quality controls and systems include cur
dedicated professional standards review team and independent partner reviews

This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, m accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might slate to the Company's members those matters we are required 10
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
respensibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for thus repont, or
for the opinions we have formed

Scope of the audtt of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining ewidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal rmsstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate 1o the Group's and the parent company’s circumstances and
have been consistently apphed and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estmates made by the
directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements in additton, we read all the financial and non-financial
information it the annual report to identify matenal nconsistencies with the audited financial staternents and to dentify any
information that 1s apparently matenally incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the
course of performing the audit If we become aware of any apparent matenal rmisstatements or inconsistencies we consider the
implications for cur report

G
John Adam {Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behatf of Delortte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London, Untted Kingdom
28 June 2016
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Consolidated income statement

Year anded 30 Apn) 2018

13 months endet 2 May 2315

Non- Non
Hoadling®*  Headline Total Hagdine Headune Total
HNote Tmillion Emifllon £millon Cord llon Lmilion Crlllon
Continuing operations
Revenue 2 9,738 - 9,738 8,255 - 8,255
Profit / {loss) from operations before share of
results of joint ventures 2 472 {164) 308 400 (76} 324
Share of results of joint ventures 12 (4} - (4} - - -
Profit / {loss) before interest and tax 23 468 (164) 304 400 (76) 324
Finance income 17 - 17 15 - 15
Finance costs (38) {20) (58) (39) (13) (52)
Net finance costs 6 (21 (20) (41) (24) (13) {37)
Profit / (loss} before tax 447 {184) 263 376 (89) 287
Income tax {expense} / credit 7 {110) 26 (84) 91) 15 (76)
Profit / (loss) after tax - continuing operations 337 (158} 179 285 (74) 211
Loss after tax — discontinued operations 25 - {16) (18) - (114) (114)
Profit / (loss) after tax for the penod 337 (176) 161 285 (188) 97
Earnings per share (pence) 8
Basic — continuing cperations 29 3p 15.6p 29 7p 22 0p
Dijuted - continuing operations 28 4p 15 1p 28 7p 21 2p
Basic - total 14 Op 101p
Diluted - total 13 6p 9 8p

Headline resutts exclude amortisation of acquisition intangibles, Merger integration and transaction costs, property rationalsation costs,
acquisition related costs, net interest on defined benefit pension schemes and discontinued operations [compnrsing Virgin Mobile France
and Phone House opetatians in Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal) Such excluded stems are described as 'Non-Headhne’ For further

detalls see notes 4 and 25 10 the financial statements
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

13 months
Year endod ended
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
Ermiltion Emitlion
Profit after tax for the penod 161 a7
Iterns that may be reclassified to the income statement in subsequent years
Cash flow hetges
Farr value remeasurement losses {12) (4)
Gains transferred to carrying amount of inventories - 4
Exchange differences ansing on translation of foreign operations 66 (107
Other foreign exchange differences 2 3
56 (114)
ftems that will not be reclassified to the mncorme statement in subsequent years
Actuanal (losses) / gains on defined benefit pension schemes — UK L33 (72)
— Overseas 2 N
Taxation on defined beneftt pension schemes (9) 15
Foreign exchange movements - ()]
(12) (59)
Other comprehensive income / (expense) for the penod (taken to equity) 44 (173)
Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the period 205 {76)
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Consolidated balance sheet

30 Apnid 2 May
2018 2015
Nole £millton £mulion
Non-current assets
Goodwi!! 9 3,054 2,989
Intangible assets 0 540 525
Property, plant & equipment 1 366 327
Interests in yomnt ventures 12 5 -
Trade and other recevables 14 408 318
Deferred tax assets 7 234 263
4,607 4,422
Current assets
Inventory 13 958 920
Trade and other recevables 14 1,13 907
Cash and cash equwvalents 15 233 163
2,322 1,990
Agsets held for sale 25 - 137
Total assets 6,929 6,549
Current habihties
Trade and other payables 16 (2,310) (1,961)
Detferred and contingent consideration 17 {12) (25)
Income tax payable (89) (89}
Loans and other borrowings 18 - (55}
Finance lease obhgatons 19 {2} {2)
Provisions 20 (78) (54)
(2,491) {2,186)
Liabilites associated with assets held for sale 25 - {68)
(2,491) (2,254)
Non-current hatilties
Trade and other payables 6 (423) (485)
Deferred and contingent consideration 17 {21) (8)
Loans and other borrowings 8 {409) {330)
Fmnance lease obligations 19 {&9) (89)
Retirement benefit obligations 21 {474) (489)
Deferred tax babilities 7 (1185) (101)
Prowvisions 20 a7 21)
{1,578} (1,532)
Total habilites (4,069) (3,786)
Net assets 2,860 2,763
Capital and reserves
Share capital 2 1 1
Share premium reserve 2,256 2,256
Accumulated profits 1,398 1,369
Translation reserve {45) (113)
Demerger reserve {750) {750)
Equity attnbutable to equity holders of the parent company 2,860 2,763

The financial statements were approved by the directors on 28 June 2016 and signed on ther behalf by

/

Sebashan James,
Group Cheet Executive

Humphrey Singer,
Group Finance Director
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Share prusr‘r:ll:: Accumutated Transtation Oemergor Totad
capital resarve praofits reserve reserve equity
Note £miikon Cmilion Crilllon Lmiliron £mullon Cmillkon
At 29 March 2014 1 283 1,355 {9) (750) 880
Profit for the penod - - 97 — - 97
Other comprehensive income and expense
recognised directly in equity — - {69) {104) - (173)
Total comprehensive Income and expense
for the penod - - 28 (104) - (76)
Qrdwnary shares issued - 1,973 - — - 1,973
Equity dvidends 23 - - (52) - - (52)
Net movement in relation to share schemes — - 21 - - 21
Tax on items recogmised directly in reserves — - 17 - - 17
At 2 May 2015 1 2,256 1,369 (113} {(750) 2,763
Profit for the penod - - 161 - - 161
Other comprehensive Income and expense
recogrused directly in equity - - {24) 68 - 44
Totat comprehensive income and expense
for the period - - 137 68 - 205
Net purchase of own shares 5 —_ - {5) — - {5)
Equity dividends 23 - - {106) - - {106}
Net movement in relation to share schemes - - 10 - - 10
Tax on items recogrused directly in reserves - - N - - N
At 30 Apnl 2016 1 2,256 1,398 {45) (750) 2,860
2]
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Consolidated cash flow statement

13 months
Year anded andod
30 apni 2 May
2016 2015
Note frrullion Emution
Operating activities - continuing operations
Cash generated from operations 27 485 110
Special contributions to defined benefit pension scheme (35) {28)
Income tax pad (56} (39)
Net cash flows from operating activihes 394 43
Investing activities - continuing operations
Interest received - 1
Cash acquired on the Merger - 347
Net cash outflow anising from acquisition of subsidianes (50) (235)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment 24 11
Proceeds on sale of business and short term investments - 8
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment and other intangibles (221) {1686)
Investment in joint ventures 9 -
Net cash flows from investing activities {256) 176
Financing activities - continuing operations
Interest paid {20} (30}
Repayment of obligations under finance leases {6} {7
Net purchase of own shares 5) -
Equity dividends paid {(106) (52)
Increase / {decrease) in borrowings 25 {211)
Bond redemption prermium - (38)
Facility arrangement fees paid {5} (4}
Net cash flows from financing activities (117} {342)
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Continuing operations 21 (123}
Discontinued operations 25 az 3
53 {120)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginming of the pernod 163 283
Currency translation differences 17 -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the penod 27 233 163
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Notes to the Group financial statements

1 Accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial staternents have been prepared on
a going concem basis in accordance with (FRS as adopted
by the EU, IFRS 1ssued by the Intemational Accounting
Standards Board, those parts of the Companes Act 2006
applicable to those companies reporting under IFRS and
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

The financial statements have been presented in UK Sterling,
the functional curency of the Company, and on the histoncal
cost basis except for the revaluation of certain financ:al
instruments, as explained below All amounts have been
rounded to the nearest £1 milion, unless otherwise stated
The prncipal accounting policies adopted are set out below

On 6 August 2014, the Group completed the merger of Dixons
and Carphone (the ‘Merger’), which was implemented by way
of a scheme of arangement of Dixons

Histoncally, the Group prepared its financial statements to the
Saturday closest to its accounting reference date of 31 March
Following the Merger, the Group changed its accounting
reference date to 30 Apni which was the accounting reference
date of Dixons, but continues to draw up accounts to the
nearest Saturday Accordingly the comparative financial penod
1s for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015

Tha Group’s ncome statement and segmental anatysis dentify
separately Headline performance and Non-Headlne items
Headline performance measures reflect adjustments to total
performance measures The directors consider ‘Headline’
performance measures to be a more accurate reflection of the
ongong trading performance of the Group and believe that
these measures provide additional useful information for
shareholders on the Group's perfarmance and are consistent
with how business performance is measured internally

Headhne results are stated before the resulls of discentinued
operabions or exited / to be exited businesses, amortisation of
acquisition intangibles, acquisrtion related costs, any
exceptional tems considered so one-off and matenal that they
distort underiying performance (such as reorgarusation costs,
tmpairment charges, property rationalisation costs and other
non-recurmng charges) and net pension interest costs
Businesses exited or to be exited are those which the Group
has exited or commutted to or commenced to ext through
disposal or closure but do not meet the defimtion of
discontinued operations as stipulated by IFRS and are matenal
to the results and operations of the Group

Non-Headline iterns in the current and prior penod compnse
amortisation of acquisition intangibles, Merger integration and
transaction costs, property rationalisation costs, acquisition
related costs, net interest on defined benefit pension schemes
and discontinued operations {compnsing Virgin Mobile France
and Phone House operations n Germany, the Netherlands and
Portugal) A reconciiation of Headline profit and losses to total
profits and losses 1s shown in note 2 Items excluded from
Headline results can evelve from one financial year to the next
depending on the nature of exceptional items or one-off type
activities descnbed above

Headline performance measures and Non-Headhne
performance measures may not be directly comparable with
other similarly titted measures or ‘adjusted’ revenue or profit
measures used by other companies

Gains on disposal of non-core businesses in Southem Europe
in the pnor penod have been included in Headine results net of
restructunng costs The net impact of these activities totalled
£5 rllion

Gong concem

The Group's funding arrangements and processes for
managing its exposure to hquidity nsk are set out in notes
18 and 26

In therr consideration of going concem, the directors have
reviewed the Group’s future cash forecasts and profit
projections, which are hased on market data and past
expenence The directors are of the optnion that the Group's
forecasts and projections, which take into account reasonably
possible changes in trading performance, show that the Group
15 able {0 operate within its current faciitres and comply with ds
banking covenants for the foreseeable future In amving at ther
conclusion that the Group has adequate financial resources,
the directors were mindful of the level of borrowings and
facthihes as set out In note 18 to the Group financial statements
and that the Group has a robust policy towards iquidity and
cash flow management

Accordingly the directors have a reasonable expectation that
the Company and the Group have adequate resources to
continue in operation for the foreseeable future and
consequently the directors continue to apply the going
concem basts in the preparation of the financial statements

The pnncipal accounting policies are set out below
b) Accounting convention and basis of consohdation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entittes controlled by the
Company {15 subsidianes} Control 1s achieved where the
Company has the power over the investee, 1s exposed, or has
nghts, to vanable retum from its involvement with the investee,
and has the ability to use its power to affect its retums

The results of subsidianes and joint ventures acquired or sold
dunng the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the
effective date of disposal as appropnate, which is the date
from which the power to control passes Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financal statements of
subsidianes to bnng the accounting policies used into ine with
those used by the Group All intercompany transactions and
balances are eliminated on consolidation
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Notes to the Group financial statements

c) Foreign currency transiation and transactions

Matenal fransactions in foreign currencies are hedged using
forward purchases or sales of the relevant currencies and are
recognised m the financial statements at the exchange rates
thus obtaned Unhedged transactions are recorded at the
exchangs rate on the date of the transaction Matenal
monetary assets and kabilities denominated in foreign
cumrrencies are hedged, mamnly using forward foreign exchange
contracts to create matching abilites and assets, and are
retranslated at each balance sheet date Hedge accounting
as defined by 1AS 39 ‘Financial Instruments Recognition

and Measurement’ has been applied by marking to market
the refevant financial instruments at the balance sheet date
and recognising the gain or loss in reserves in respect of
cash flow hedges, and through profit ar fass i respect of farr
value hedges

The results of overseas operations are translated at the
average foreign exchange rates for the year, and therr balance
sheets are translated at the rates prevailing at the balance
sheet date Goodwill and acquisition ntangible assets are held
n the currency of the operation to which they relate Exchange
differences ansing on the translation of net assets, goodwill
and results of overseas operations are recognised in the
translation reserve All other exchange differences are included
in profit or loss in the year in which they anse except where the
Group designates financral instruments held for the purpose of
hedging the foreign currency exposures that result from
rmatenal transactions undertaken in foreign currencies as cash
flow hedges, hedge accounting as defined by IAS 39 ‘Financial
instruments Recogrihon and Measurement’ 1s appled The
effective portion of changes in the farr value of financial
instruments that are designated as cash flow hedges s
recogrused n other comprehensive income The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recogrised in profit or loss
Amounts previously recogrused in equity are reclassified to
profit or toss In the penods when the hedged item s
recogmised in profit or loss

where a foregn operation 1s disposed of, the gan or loss on
disposal recognised in profit or loss 1s determined after taking
nto account the cumutative currency translation differences
that are attnbutable to the operation The pnncipal exchange
rates aganst UK Stering used in these financial statements are
as follows

Average Closing

2016 2045 2018 2015

Euro 1.36 128 128 135
Norwegian Krone 12.51% 10 86 177 1161
Swedish Krona 1265 1185 174 1272

d) Revenue

Revenue compnses sales of goods and services exchuding
sales taxes The following accounting pohcies are applied to
the principal revenue generating activities in which the Group
15 engaged

+ ravenue from the sale of goods 1s recogrised at the point
of sale or, where later, upon defivery to the customer and
15 stated net of retums,

- revenue eamed from the sale of customer support
agreements 15 recognised over the term of the contracts
when the Group obtains the nght to consideration as a result
of performance of its contractual obhgatons Revenue inany
one year 1S recogrsed by reference to the stage of
completion of the contractual terms at the balance sheet
date The slage of completion 1s estmated with reference to
the proportion of the expected costs of fulfiling the Group's
total obligations under the agreements, determined by
reference to extensive histoncal claims data Relance on
histoncal data assumes that current and future expenence
will follow past trends The directors consider that the
quantity and quality of data avallable provides an appropnate
proxy for current trends,

+ revenue ansing on services (including delivery and
nstallation, product repars and product support), 15
recognised when the relevant services are provided,

. commission recevable on sales, being commission which is
contractually commutted, and for which there are no cngomng
performance obligations, 15 recognised when the sales to
which the commussion relates are made, net of any provision
for promotional offers and network operator performance
penalties Commussion includes a share of consumer artime
spend, to the extent that t can be reliably measured and
there are no ongoing service obligatons Where the time
value of money has a matenal )impact, an appropnate
discount 15 applied such that revenue 1s recognised at an
amount equal to the present value of the fulure
consideration 10 be receved,

+ other ongoing revenue is recognised as it 1s eamed over the
lives of the relevant customers,

. volume bonuses receivable from network operators are
recogrused when the condittons on which they are eamed
have been met,

« insurance revenue relates to the sale of third party msurance
products Sales commussion receved from third parties s
recognised when the insurance policies to which it relates
are sold, to the extent that it can be reliably measured and
there are no ongoing service obligations Revenue from the
provision of insurance administration services 15 recognised
over the ife of the relevant policies,
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For MVNO operations where the Group 15 the pnncipal,
revenue 1s recognised n the penod in which the
telecormmmunication service, such as arrtime or data, 1s
provided,

revenue from the sale of prepaid credits is geferred until the
customer uses the arime or the credit expires, and

+ revenue generated from the prowsion of fixed and mobile
network services is recognised as it 15 eamed over the Iives
of the relevant customers

e) Discontinued operations and assets and habilities
held for sale

A discontinued aperation 1s a component of the Group which
represents a significant separate line of business, esther
through its activity or geographical area of operation, which
has been sold, 1s held for sale or has been closed

Where the sale of a component of the Group 1s considered
highly probable and the business i1s avalable for immedhate
sale inits present condition, it 1s classified as held for sale
Such classificatron assumes the expectation that the sale wall
complete within one year from the date of classification Assets
and habilities held for sale are measured at the lower of
carrying amount and farr value less costs to sell Once
classdied as he!d for sale, imtangible assets and property, plant
& equipment are no longer amorhised or depreciated

f) Share-based payments

Equity settled share-based payments are measured at farr
value at the date of grant, and expensed on a straight ine
basis over the vesting penod, based on an estimate of the
number of shares that will eventually vest

Where share-based payments are subject only to service
conditions or internal performance cntena (such as EPS
targets), farr value 1s measured using either a Binomial mode!
or a Black Scholes model Where share-based payments have
external performance cntena (such as TSR targets} a Monte
Carlo mode! s used to measure far value

For all schemes, the number of opticns expected to vest 1S
recalculated at each balance sheet date, based on
expectations of leavers pnor to vesting For schemes with
internal performance critena, the number of options expected
to vest 15 also adjusted based on expectations of perfomance
against larget No adjustment 1s made for expected
performance aganst external performance cntena The
movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance
sheet date 1s recogrused i the income statement, with a
comresponding entry in reserves

Charges also anse on loans that are provided to employees
to fund the purchase of shares as part of long temn incentive
plans To the extent to which the loans are not, in certan
circumsiances, repayable, the cost of the relevant part of
such loans 1s expensed over the course of the relevant
incentive plans

g} Retirement benefit obkgations

Company contnbutions to defined contnbut:ion pension
schemes and contnbutions made to state pension schemes for
certain overseas employees are charged to the income
statement on an accruals basis when employees have
rendered service entiting them to the contnbutions

For defined benefit pension schemes, the difference between
the market value of the assets and the present value of the
accrued pension labilities 1s shown as an asset or liability in the
consolidated balance sheet The calculation of the present
value 1s detenmined using the projected umit credit method

Actuanal gains and losses ansing from changes in actuanai
assumptions together with expenence adjustments and actual
return on assets are recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive ncome and expense as they anse Such
amounts are not reclassified to the income statement in
subsequent years

Defined benefit costs recognised i the income statement
compnse mainly net interest expense or ncome with such
interest being recogrised within finance costs Net interest (s
calculated by appiying the discount rate to the net defined
benefit hability or asset taking into account any changes in the
net defined benefit obhgation dunng the year as a result of
contnbution or benefit payments

h) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the nsks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee The determination of the classification
of property leases 1s made by reference to the land and
buildings elements separately Al leases not classified as
finance leases are classified as operating leases

The Group as a lessor

Rental Income from operating leases is recogmsed ona
straight-line basis over tha term of the relevant lease Inital
direct costs incurred In negotiating and arranging an cperating
lease are added to the camying amount of the leased asset and
recogrused on a straight-line basis over the lease term

The Group as a lessee

Finance leases

Assets held under finance leases are capitahsed at thexr far
value on acquistion or, if lower, at the present value of the
murirnurm lease payments, each determined at the inception of
the lease and depreciated over therr estmated useful ives or
the lease term if shorter The comesponding obligation to the
lessor 15 ncluded in the balance sheet as a hability Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease obhgation Finance charges are charged
to the income statement over the term of the lease In
proportion to the caprtal element outstanding

Operating leases

Rental payments under operating leasas are charged to the
income statement on a straight-ine basts over the penod of
the lease Contingent rentals ansing under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period n which they
are ncurred
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Notes to the Group financial statements

Benefits receved and recewvable as an incentive to enter into
operating leases are amortised through the income statement
over the penod of the lease

i) Taxation

Current tax

Current tax, s provided at amounts expecled to be pad
or recovered using the prevailing tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance
steet date and adjusted for any tax payabte i respect of
previous years

Deferred tax

Deferred tax habilities are recognised for all temporary
differences between the camying amount of an asset or iability
in the balance sheet and the tax base value and represent tax
payable in future penods Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that 1t &5 probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences

can be utlised

Deferred tax kabilities are recogmsed for taxable temporary
differences ansing on nvestments in subsidianes, except
where the Group 15 able 1o control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it 15 probable that the temporary
difference wili not reverse in the foreseeable future No
provision 1s made for tax which would have been payable on
the distnbution of retained profits of overseas subsidianes or
associated undertakings where it has been determined that
these profits will not be distnbuted i the foreseeable future

A deferred tax asset is recogmsed only to the extent thatitis
probable that future taxable profits will be available aganst
which the asset can be uthised Current and Ceferred tax 1s
recognised in the income statement except where it selates to
an tem recogrised directly in reserves, in which case its
recognised directly in reserves

Deferred tax 1s measured at the average tax rates thatare
expected to apply In the years in which the timing differences
are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that
have been enacted, or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date

Deferred tax assets and Labilities are offset aganst each other
when they relate to income taxes levied Dy the same tax
unsdiction and when the Group ntends to settle its current
tax assets and labilties on a net basis Deferred tax balances
ara not discounted

i) Goodwill

On acquisthion of a subsidiary or associate, the fair vaiue of the
ccnsderation 1s allocated between the Wentfiable net tangible
and intangible assets and habilties on a farr value basis, with
any excess consideration representing goodwill At the
acqusiton date, goodwill ts allocated to each Cash Generating
Unit {CGU) expected to benefit from the combination and held
in the currency of the operations to which the goodwill relates

Goodwill 1s not amortised, but 1s reviewed annually for
imparment, or more frequently where there 1s an indication
that goodwill may be imparred Impaiment 1s assessed by
measunng the future cash flows of the CGUs to which the
goodwill relates Where the future discounted cash flows are
less than the camying value of goodwill, an impairment charge
15 recognised in the Income statement

On disposal of subsidiary undertakings and businesses, the
relevant goodwill 1s ncluded in the calculation of the profit or
loss on disposal

k) Intangible assets

Acquisition intangibles

Acquisiion intangibles compnse brand names and customer
relationships purchased as part of acquisitions of businesses
and are capitahsed and amortised over ther useful economic
Ives on a straight ine basis These intangible assets are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation and, where appropnate,
provision for impawment in value or estimated loss on disposal

Amartisation 1s provided to wnte off the cost of assets on a
straight ine basis on the following bases

Brands 7% to 20% per annum

Custormer relationships 13% to 50% per annum

Software and licences

Software and licences include costs incurred to acquire the
assets as well as internal infrastructure and design costs
ncurred in the development of software i order to bnng the
assets into use

Intemally generated software 1s recognised as an intangible
asset only if it can be separately identified, it 15 probable that
the asset will generate future economic benefits which exceed
one year, and the deveiopment cost can be measured rehiably
Where these conditions are not met, development expenditure
1s recognised as an expense in the year in which it 1s incurred
Costs associated with developing or mamtaining computer
software are recognised as an expense as incumed unless they
ncrease the huture economic benefits of the asset, in which
case they are capitaised

The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of matenals,
drect labour and an appropnate proportion of overheads
Subsequent expenditure s capitalised only when it ncreases
the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset
to which it refates

Software I1s stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and,
where appraopnate, provision for impairment i value or
estimated loss on disposal Amortisation 1s provided to wnte
off the cost of assets on a straight line basis between three
and exght years
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[} Property, plant & equipment

Property, plant & equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accurnulated impairment
losses

With the exception of land, deprecration 1s provided to wnte oft
the cost of the assets over their expected useful lives from the
date the asset was brought into use or capable of being used

Rates applied to different classes of property, plant &
equipment are as follows

134% ~ 4% per annum
10 - 33%4% per annum

Land and buildings
Fixtures, fithngs and equipment

Assets capitalised as finance leases are depreciated over the
term of the lease

Property, plant & equipment are assessed ¢n an ongoing

basis 1o determme whether crcumstances exist that could lead
to the conclusion that the net book value 1s not supportable
Where assets are 10 be taken out of use, an impairment

charge is levied Where the property, plant & equipment form
part of a separate CGLJ, such as a store or group of stores, and
business indicators exist which could lead to the canclusions
that the net book value is not supportable, the recoverable
amount of the CGU s detemmined by calculating its vatue mn
use The value in use is calculated by applying discounted
cash flow modelling to management’s projection of future
profitability and any imparment 1s determined by comparnng
the net book value with the value in use

m) Fmancial assets and investments

The Group's financial assets comprise cash and cash
equivalents, and those receivables which involve a contractual
nght to receve cash from extemal parties Financial assets
compnse all tems shown in notes 14 and 15 with the
exception of prepayments Under the classifications stipulated
by LAS 39, cash and cash equivalents and denvative financial
mstruments, which are further descnbed in notes 1p) and 26,
are classified as 'loans and receivables' and ‘held for trading
unless designated in a hedge relationship’, respectively Trade
and other recevables (exciuding denvative financial assets) are
classified as ‘loans and recewables’

n) Interests in joint ventures

Joint ventures are joint arrangements whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arangement have nghts to the net
assets of the arrangement These consolidated financial
statements include the Group's share of the total recogmised
gans and losses of joint ventures using the equity method less
any impawrment losses When the Group's interest in a joint
venture has been reduced lo mil because the Group's share of
losses exceeds its mnterest in the joint venture, the Group only
provides for additional losses to the extent that it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations to fund such losses, or where
the Group has made payments on behalf of the joint venture
Any associated goodwill 1s included within the carrying value
of the investrment and 1s assessed for impairment as part of
that investment

o) Inventones

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value Cost compnses direct purchase cost and those
overheads that have been incurred in bnnging the mventones
to therr present location and condition less any attnbutable
discounts and bonuses received from suppliers in respect of
that nventory Net realisable value 1s based on estmated
seling pnce, less further costs expected to be incumed to
disposal Provision is made for obsolete, slow moving or
defective items where appropnate

p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in
hand, bank overdrafts and short term highly kquid deposits
which are subject to an insignificant nsk of changes in valug
Bank overdrafts, which form part of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the cash flow statement, are shown under
cumrent habibties

q) Borrowings and other financial habilibes

The Group's financial habilites are those which involve a
contractual obligation to deliver cash to external parties at a
future date Financral habilties compnse all items shown in
notes 16 to 19 with the exception of deferred mcorme and other
non-finkneial crediors

Borrowings

Borrowings In the Group's balance sheet represent commutted
and uncommitted bank lcans Borrowings are inihally recorded
at the consideration recerved less directly attnbutable
transaction costs Transaction fees such as bank fees and
legal cosls associated with the secunng of financing are
capitalised and amortised through the income statement over
the term of the relevant faciity All other bomrowing costs are
recognised in the income statement in the penod in which they
are incumed

Under the classifications stipulated by [AS 39, borrowings,
finance lease obligations and tracle and other payables
{excluding denvative financial liabilites) are classified as
‘financial habities measured at amortsed cost' Denvative
financial nstruments, which are descabed further in note 26,
are classified as ‘held for trading unless designated in a
hedge refationship’

Trade and ather payables

Trade and other payables {excluding denvative financial
llabilities) are recorded at cost Denvative financial nstruments,
are \nibally recorded at farr value and then subsequently
remeasured to far value at each balance sheet date and

are held within assets or labilities as appropnate Gains and
losses ansing fror revaluation at the balance sheet date are
recogrused in the income statement unless the dervatives

are designated as hedges and such hedges are proved to

be effective
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r} Provisions

Prowisions are recognised when a legal or constructive
obhigahon exists as a result of past events and it 1s probable
that an cutflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation Provisions are discounted where the time
value of money 13 considered to be matenal

All provisions are assessed by reference to the best avalable
information at the balance sheet date

8) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty

Cntical accounting jJudgements and estimates used in the
preparation of the financial statements are continually reviewed
and revised as necessary

Whilst every effort 1s made to ensure that such judgements and
estimates are reasonable, by ther nature they are uncertan,
and as such changes may have a matenal impact The
principal items subject to such judgements and estimates are
as follows

Revenue recognition

For certain transactions with MNOs, commussion recewvable on
mobile phone sales depends on customer behaviour after the
point of sale The method of rmeasunng the far value of the
revenue and associated recevables at the date of sale i1s to
estimate all future cash flows that will be receved from the
network and then discount these based on their trming of
recetpt The assocrated recewvables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost with remeasurements due to
changes in customer behaviour recognised in the income
statement Assumptions are therefore required, particularly in
relation to levels of customer default within the contract period,
expected levels of customer spend, and customer behaviour
beyond the initial contract penod Further details of estimates
used to value commussion recevable, camying amounts at the
balance sheet date, effects on the current year income
statement of changes i estimates and sensitwity analysis of
the carrying value can be found in note 26

Income recemved from suppiiers such as volume rebaltes

The Group has provided enhanced disciosure on suppler
funding following guidance 1ssued by the Financial Reporting
Council in December 2014 This disclosure 1s aimed at assisting
the users of the financial statements i understanding the
judgements and estimates made in the recognition of supplier
funding in the Group’s financial statements

The Group's agreements with suppliers contain a pnce for unts
purchased as well as other rebates and discounts which are
summansed below

Volume Rebates This ncome 15 linked to purchases made from
suppliers and 1s recogrused as a reduction to cost of goods sold
as inventory 1s sold Uneamed rebates that relate to inventory
not sold are recogrised within the value of inventory at the
penod end Where an agreement spans pencd ends, judgement
i1s required regarding armounts to be recogrised Forecasts are
used as well as histoncal data in the estmation of the level of
incorne recogrised Amounts are only recogrised where the
Group has a clear entittement to the receipt of the rebate anda
reliable estimate can be made

Discounts This income 1s received from suppliers on a pnce per
untt basis The level of estimation is minmal as amounts are
recogmised as a reduction to cost of goods sold based on the
agreement terms and only once the item s sold

Marketing income Trus income 15 receved in relation 1o
marketing actvihes that are perferrmed on behalf of supphers
Judgement 15 required 1o ensure that ncome 1s only recognised
when all performance obligations within the contract have been
fulfilled and the income 1s expected to be collected

Suppher funding amounts that have been recogrised and
not invaiced are shown within accrued income on the
balance sheet

Inventory valuation

inventones are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value Cost compnses direct purchase cost and those
overheads that have been incurred in banging the nventones
to therr present location and conditbon Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling pnce fess all estimated and
directly attnbutable costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in marketing, selling and distnbution Net realisable
value includes, where necessary, provisions for slow moving
and damaged mventory The provision represents the
difference between the cost of stock and its estmated net
realisable value, based on ageing and other factors
Calculation of these provisions requires judgements to be
made wiuch include forecast consurner demand, the
promotional, competitive and economic environment and
inventory loss trends

Recoverable amount of non-current assels

All non-current assets, ncluding geodwill and other intangible
assets, are reviewed for potential impawrment using estimates
of the future economic benefits attnbutable to them Any
estimates of future economic benefits made in relation to non-
curent assets may differ from the benefits that ultmately anse
and matenally affect the recoverable value of the asset The
methodology and key assumptions used in assessing the
carrying value of goodwill 15 set out in note 9 and m respect of
intangible assets and property, plant & equipment in note 1k}
and 1)

Trade and other receiwvables

Provisions for imecoverable recevables are based on extensive
histoncal evidence and the best avalable information in
relation to specific 1ssues, but are unavoidably dependent

on future events
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Taxation

Tax laws that apply to the Group's businesses may be
amended by the relevant authonties, for example as a result of
changes in fiscal circumstances or pnontes Such potential
amendments and therr application to the Group are monitored
regularly and the requirement for recognition of any habilities
assessed where necessary The Group 1s subject to income
taxes 1n a number of different junsdictions and judgement is
required in determining the appropnate provision for
transactions where the ulttmate tax determination is uncertain
In such circurnstances, the Group recognises labiities for
anticipated taxes due based on best information availlable and
where the anticipated hability 15 probable and estmable Where
the final cutcome of such matters differs from the amounts
inhiafly recorded, any differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the year to which such
determination is made Where the potential habiihes are not
constdered probable, the amount at nsk 1s disclosed untess an
adverse outcome 15 considered remote The Group has
recognised provisions in relation to uncertain tax postions of
£54 mithon at 30 Apnl 2016 (2015 £41 million)

Deferred tax is recognised on taxable losses based on the
expected ability to utidise such losses This ability takes
account of the business plans for the relevant companies,
potential uncertainties around the longer term aspects of these
business plans, any expiry of taxable benefits and potental
future volatility in the local tax regmes

Provisions

The Group's provistons are based on the best information
available to management at the balance sheet date
Judgement 1s required to assess the kelihood of success of
any ctam made against the Group and if any liability will anse
The most sigruficant provision currently 15 in relation to the
store reorganisation programme descnbed in note 4 The costs
and timing of cash flows are dependent on exiting the property
lease contracts or subletting the property Significant
assumptions are used in estmating the ultimate cost to the
Group including the nature, trning and cost of exiting a lease
and the leve! of sublease ncome The future costs assumed
are inewitably only estimates, which may differ from those
ultimately incurred Refer to note 20 for further information

Defined benefit pension schemes

The surplus or deficit In the UK defined benefit pension
scheme that 1s recogrised through the consclidated staternent
of comprehensive Income and expense 1s subject to a number
of assumptions and uncertanties The calculated habihtves of
the scheme are based on assumptions regarding salary
ncreases, inflation rates, discount rates and member longewity
Such assumptions are based on actuanal adwice and are
benchmarked agamnst similar pension schemes Refer to note
21 for further mformation

Acquisition acCourting

Accounting for the Merger involved the use of assumptions in
relation to the future cash flows associated with acquisitron
imangibles, and the use of valuation techniques in order to
amve at the far value of the other non-current assets and
abilities acquired The assumptions apphed were based on
the best mformation available 1o management and valuation
techruigues were supported by third party valuation experts
Nevertheless, the actual performance of these assets and
liaiities may differ from the valvations denved through this
exercise Judgement was required in identifying the acquirer
in accordance with the cntena detailted in IFRS 3 ‘Business
Combinatrons' The factors considered when identifying the
acquirer included i) the entity which issued equity to effect the
transaction and the terrns on which equity interests were
exchanged 1) the relative voting nghts of the entities ui) the
composition of the board and sentor management post
transaction w) the existence of any significant minonty
nterests, and v) the relative size of the entiies On the basis of
this analysis we concluded that Carphone Warehouse Group
plc was the acquirer

Duwons Carphone ple Annual Report and Accounts 201516 a9

Financlal statements




Financial statements

Notes to the Group financial statements

) Recent accounting developments

There were no new IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that had to
be implemented dunng the year that significantly affect these
financial staterments

The following new standards, which are applicable to the
Group, have been published but are not yet effectve and have
nct yet been adopted by the EU

» IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ This standard s the first step
In the process to replace IAS 39 'Financial instruments
Recogrition and Measurement' IFRS 9 introduces new
requirements for classifying and measunng financial assets
and affects the accounting for financial assets - IFRS 91s
applicable for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

« IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers' provides
guidance on the recognition, timing and measurement of
revenue IFRS 15 1s applicable for penods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018

« IFRS 16 'Leases’ establishes pnnciples for the recognition,
rmeasurement, presentation and disclosure of leases ~
IFRS 1615 apphcable for penods beginning on or after
1 January 2019

1t 15 not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the
effect of the adoption of the above standards until a detaled
re'new has been complete, however, IFRS 16 will require the
Group to recognise a lease hability and a nght-of-use asset for
most of those leases previously treated as operating leases
Tris will affect both non-cumrent and current habihties, fixed
assets and the measurement and disciosure of expense
associated with the leases which under the new standard will
be treated as depreciation and financing expense which were
previously recognised as operating expeses over the term of
the lease

Certamn other new accounting standards, amendments to
existing accounting standards and interpretations which are in
1ssue but not yet etfective, erther do not apply to the Group or
are not expected to have any matenal impact on the Group's
net results or net assets

2 Segmental analysis

The Group's operaling segments reflect the segments routinely
reviewed by the Board and which are used to manage
performance and allocate resources This information 1S
predominantly based on geographical areas which are either
managed separately or have similar trading charactenstcs
such that they can be aggregated together into one segment

As explained in note 25, Virgin Mobile France, the Phone
House operations in Gemmany, the Netherlands and Portugal
have been treated as discontinued operations and are
therefore excluded from this segmental analysis

The Group's reportable segments have been identified
as follows

. UK & freland compnses operabons in the UK and Ireland
as well as operations in arports in the UK and Ireland

+ Nordics operates n Norway, Sweden, Finiand, Denmark
and lceland

+ Southem Europe compnses operations in Spain and Greece

» Connected World Services 1s the Group's B2B operation
which leverages the specialist skills, operating processes
and technology of the Group to provide managed services
to third parties looking to develop therr own connected
world solutions

UK & Irefand, Nordics and Southem Europe are involved in the
sale of consumer electronics and mobile technology products
and services, pnmanty through stores or onfine channels

Transactions between segments are on an amm's length basis
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2 Segmental analysis continued
(a) Segmental results

Year ended 30 Apsil 2018

Connected
UKk & Southermn World
Ireland Nordics Europe Sarvices Eliminations Total
tmititon Cmilion fmilllon Emillion Emillion Emillion
Headhine external revenue 6,404 2,632 550 152 - 9,738
Inter-segmentat revenue 60 - - - {60) -
Total Headline revenue 6,464 2,632 550 152 {60) 9,738
Headline EBIT before share of results of
joint ventures 365 79 17 1 - 472
Share of Headiine results of joint ventures - —_ - - (4) - {4)
Headline EBIT 365 79 17 7 - 468
Reconciliation of Headline profit to total profit before tax
Year ended 30 Apnl 2018
Amortisation
Headlina of Dixons Property Pension Totat
profit/  acquisition Ratad  rat ltsath quisii L profit/
{loss) mtanglibles Merger costs related imerest (loss}
Emullion £mitllon Lrmllion £million Emilban £rilion £milion
UK & Ireland 365 (24) 37 (70) {1) - 23
Nordics 79 (13) {5) - (5) - 56
Southern Europe 17 2) - - - - 15
Connected World Services 1" {1) (6) - - - 4
EBIT before share of results of joint ventures 472 {40) 48) (70) (6) - 308
Share of results of jont ventures (4} - - - - - (4)
EBIT 468 {40) {48} (70) {6) - 304
Finance income 17 - - - - - 17
Finance costs {38) - (4) - - {16) (58)
Profit / (loss) before tax 447 {40) {52) {70) {8) (16) 263
3
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2 Segmental analysis continued
(a) Segmental results continued

13 months endad 2 May 2015

Connected
UK & Southern word
N Leland Nordics Eurcpe Sanaces Eiminatons Totak
Crrulkon Cmilion Crifion Cmibon Cmilion Crmiltion
Headne external revenue 5,506 2,055 564 130 - B,255
Inter-segmental revenue 64 - - — (64) =
Total Headline revenue 5,570 2,055 564 130 (64) 8,255
Headlne EBIT before share of results of
joint ventures 313 60 20 7 - 400
Share of Headhne results of joint ventures - - - - - -
Headline EBIT 313 60 20 7 - 400
Reconcihation of Headhne profit to total profit before tax
13 months ended 2 May 2015
Hoaghne Amortisation Duxonis Pansion Tatai
profit/  of acqushion Retait schema profit/
{toss) intangibles. Mergar interest {loss)
Cmilten Lrmuihon £mdion Tenifhon £million
UK & Ireland 313 (22) (13) - 278
Nordics 60 (10} (4) — 46
Southern Europe 20 {2) - - 18
Connected World Services 7 (1 - - 6
Unallocated - — (24) - (24)
EBIT betore share of results of joint ventures 400 (35) 41) - 324
Share of results of joint ventures - - - — -
EBIT 400 {35) (41) - 324
Finance mcome 15 - - - 15
Finance costs {39) - - {13} (52)
Profit / (loss) before tax 376 (385) (a1) {13} 287

Unallocated Merger related costs compnse those that are not directly attnbutable to a specific segment
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2 Segmental analysis continued
b) Geographical information

Revenues are allocated to countres according to the entity's country of domucile Revenue by destination 1s not matenally

different to that shown by domicile

c) Other information

Non curmrent assats Capital expendiure Depraciation/Amortsation
13 months 13 months 13months
Year anded ended  Year anded ended Year ended ended
30 Apnl 2 May 30 Apnl 2 May 30 April 2 May
2016 2015 2018 2015 2018 2015
Cmitlion tminlon £mitiion Cmiilion Lmilhon Emillion
UK & Ireland 3,086 2,916 152 127 129 106
Nordics 1,203 1,182 57 30 40 32
Southern Europe 62 86 5 4 6 ]
Connected World Services 17 5 7 5 2 2
4,368 4,159 221 166 177 149
*Non-cument assets above exclude deferred tax assets and assets related to discontinued operations
3 Revenue and profit / (loss) before interest, taxation and share of results of joint ventures
Year andoed 30 Apni 2016 13 months 2 May 2005
Non- Non-
Headlino Headhme Total Hegacling Headne Total
Emillion Emillion omifllon rnillion £milion Eroidion
Revenue 9,738 - 9,738 8,255 - 8,255
Cost of sales (7,553) - (7,553) (6,118) - (6,118)
Gross profit 2,185 - 2,185 2,137 - 2,137
Operating expenses (1,713) {164) (1,877) (1,737 {76y {1,813
Profit / {loss) before interest, taxation and share
of results of joint ventures 472 {164) 308 400 {76} 324

Revenue can be further analysed as follows

Year sndad 30 Apnl 2016

13 months ended 2 May 2015

Non- NOon-
Headine Headline Total Headline Headine Total
Lmillion Lmilllon fmillkon Emilion Tmilion Cmitson
Sale of goods 7,018 - 7,018 5,641 -~ 5,641
Revenue from services 2,720 - 2,720 2,614 - 2,614
9,738 - 9,738 B,255 - 8,255

Revenue from services predominantty compnses those relating to commissions from MNOs, insurance, customer support

agreements, delivery and instaflation, product repairs and product support
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4 Revenue and profit / (loss) before interest, taxation and share of results of joint ventures continued
Profit / (loss) before miterest and taxation for continuing operations 15 staled after charging / (crediting) the following

13 months
Year ended arxied
30 April 2 May
2018 2ns
Erullien Trmalkon
Depreciation of property, plant & equipment a8 83
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 40 35
Amortisation of other intangibles 39 K|
Impairment of trade recevables 11 8
Impairment of inventory 85 68
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 1 5
Cost of tnventory recogrised as an expense 7,343 6,069
Rentals paid under operating leases
Non-contingent rent 340 304
Contingent rent 17 22
Rentals received under operating leases - subleases (6) 5)
Investment property rental income (1) {1)
Net foreign exchange lasses 2 1
Share-based payments expense 10 10
COther employee costs {see note 5) 1,054 890
Auditor's remuneration compnses the following
13 months
Year encad andad
, 30 Apri} 2 May
2018 015
Crrilion Ermilhon
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company's annual accounts 01 01
Fees payable to the Company's audior and its associates for thewr audit of the
Company's subsidhanes 14 19
Total audit fees 15 20
Tax advisory services - o2
Tax compliance Services 02 02
Other assurance services 02 13
Other services - 02
19 39

In addition to the above fees, £0 1m (2014/15 £0 1m} of non-audit fees were paid 1o the auditor in respect of tax comphance and
ta« advisory services to discontinued operations Other assurance services in the prior penod related pnmanly to the Merger in
respect of which the extemal auditor acted as reporting accountant
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4 Non-Headline tems

13 months
Yaar onded anded
30 Agnl 2 May
2018 2015
Nota Smilllan Smallton
Inctuded in profit / {loss) before interest and tax
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles fo} {40} (35)
Exceptional tems- Dixons Retail Merger (0} (48) (41)
- Property rationalisation costs {0 {70) -
- Acquisition related fiv) (6) -
{164) (76)
Included in net finance costs
Net non-cash finance costs on defined benefit pension schemes ] (16) {13)
Exceptional tems - Dixons Retall Merger i 4) -
Total impact on proht / (loss) before tax (184) (89)
Tax on Non-Headline items 26 15
Total impact on profit / (loss) after tax (158) (74)

Non-Headlne items also include discontinued operations, which compnise the results of Virgin Mobile France and the Phone
Hause operations n Germany, the Netherlands, and Portugal The post-tax results of these businesses have been reported

separately and are further descnbed in note 25
() Amortisation of acquisition intangibles

A charge of £40 million arose dunng the year in relation to acquisition intangibles anising on the CPW Europe Acquisiion and

the Dixons Retall Merger (2014/15 £35 million}

Dixons Carphone pic Annual Repont and Accounts 2015/16 105

Financial statements




Financial statements

Notes to the Group financial statements

4 Non-Headline tems continued
(i} Exceptional tems - Dixons Retail Merger

13 manths

Yoar ended anoed

30 Apsib 2 May

2018 2015

Cmilron £milion
Merger transaction costs - @
Merger integration costs (48} (32)

Revolving Credit Facility fee wnte off (L)) -
{52) (41}

The Dixons Retail Merger 1s descnbed further in notes 1 and 24 The Merger has gen nse to the following costs which have
been treated as excepltional items
« Merger transaction costs compnse banking and professional fees in relation to the transaction
« Merger integration costs relate 1o the reorganisation of the Group folowing the Merger and compnse the rationalisation
of certain operational and support functions These costs mainly compnse professional fees, employee severance and
property costs associated with the integration process

+ Revolving Credit Facility fee wnte off relates to the deferred facilty fees wntten off following the recent refinancing
The fees ncurmed were a result of the Merger and the financing required to faciltate the Merger at short notice

Property rahonaiisation costs

Foliowing the Merger it was announced that the Group would launch a major roli out of its fully refurbished 3-m1 store
concept In the UK & Iretand  This involves merging the remaining PC World and Currys stores and inserting a Carphone
Warehouse, reducing the overall store portfolio by 134 The costs associated with this initiative, beng early lease temmination
premiums, cnerous lease provisions, dilapidations and fixed asset impainments, have been treated as exceptional tems In
addition a further 50 stores have been exited in the year in the normal course of business and their exit costs have not been

ncluded in the above item

(iv) Acguisrtion related

v

Acquisition refated compnses an increase in the defered consideration payable on a business acquired by Dixons in the
Nordics 1n 2011/12 following better than expected actual and farecast trading (£5 million), and current year costs incurred
n the acquisition of Simpbifydigital and Infocare (£1 milion) (note 24)

Net non-cash financing costs on defined benefit pension schemes

Under IAS 18 ‘Employee Benefits', the net interest charge on defined benefit pension schemes 1S calculated by applying the
corporate bond yield rales applicable on the tast day of the previous financial year to the net defined benefit obligation
Corporate bond yieid rates vary over tme which in tum creates volatility in the income statement and balance sheet and
results In a non-cash remeasurement cost which can be volatile due to corporate bond yield rates prevaling on a particular
day and 1s also unrepresentative of the actual investment gains or losses made or the habiibes paid and payable Consistent
with a number of other companies, the accounting effects of these non-cash revaluations of net defined benefit pension
llabilities have been excluded from Headline earmings
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments
a) Employee costs

The aggregate remuneration recogrised In the income statement for continuing operations 15 as follows

13 months.

Your anded anded

30 Apnl 2 May

2016 2015

£mittion Cmulion

Salaries and performance bonuses o21 781
Social secunty costs 107 89
Other pension costs 23 20
1,051 880

Share-based payments 10 10
1,061 900

Aggregate remuneration for discontinued operations are salanes and performance banuses of £6 million (2014/15 £46 milion),

social securty costs of £1 milion {2014/15 €8 milhon) and other pension costs of £nil (2014/15 £1 million)

The average number of employees for continuing operations i1s

13 menths
Year anded anded
30 Aprit 2 May
2016 2015
Numbor Number
UK & Irelang 27,608 23,582
Norches 10,283 6,492
Southern Europe 3,764 2,675
Connected World Services 192 85
- 41,847 32,834
‘The average number of employees for discontinued operations s 341 (2014115 2,127)

Compensation earned by key management, compnsing the Board of directors and senior executives, 1s as follows
13 months
Year endsd snasd
30 April 2 May
2018 201%
Emllion €midon
Short-term employee benefits 12 15
Termnation benefits - 1
Share-based payments 2 1
14 17

Dunng the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 and year ended 29 March 2014 loans were advanced to members of key management
i relation to the Carphone Warehouse Share Plan At 30 Apnl 2016, foans to key management in relation to these schemes

1otalled £10 mdlion (2015 €16 mulon) Interest i1s charged on loans at market rates and interest of £0 3 milhon has been

reccgrused dunng the penod (2014/15 £0 4 milhon)

Further informatron about indiwvidual directors’ remuneration, share interests, share options, pensions and other entittements,

which form part of these financial staterments, 1s provided in the Remuneration Repart
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments continued
b) Share-based payments

§} Share Plan

Dunng the year ended 29 March 2014, the Group introduced the Share Plan which allows participants to share 10% of the
mcremental value created m the Group in excess of an opening value (assessed on the value of CPW over a three-month penod
prior to approval of the plan by shareholders in June 2013 and, for new entrants gunng the 13 months ended 2 May 2015,
assessed on the aggregated value of CPW and Dixons Retail over a cne-month period pnor to the announcement of preltminary
merger discussions in February 2014) and beyond an annual rate of retum of 7% on nvested capital The plan s underpinned
by a minimum annual compound TSR growth of 5% and outperformance of the median TSR of the FTSE 250

Participants acquired, at market value, participation shares in a subsithary company that holds the Group's interests in CPW
Europe and, since the Merger, Dixons Retal The Group granted loans to participants at a commercial rate of interest to acquire
the shares Loans are ordinanly repayable i full if performance conditions are met

The performance of the scheme will ordinanly be measured on or around June 2017, when 60% of the shares vest, with 40%
deferred for a further year When the awards vest, the value of the shares held by partcipants will be based on the incremental
value (if any) of Dixons Carphone i excess of the opening valuation together with the mirmimurn returm on invested capitat These
shares will then be purchased by the Cormpany for cash and / or the Company's ordinary shares

A ‘bad leaver’ will be required to transfer the participation shares 1o such party as the Company designates for an amount equal
to the total amaunt outstanding under the loan If the market value of the shares s less than the amount of the outstanding loan
{and any accrued interest) then the participant may be required to repay up to 20% of the shortfall out of therr own resources

A participant shall be a 'good leaver' at the sole discretion of the Remuneration Committee and may be permitted to retain an
award notwithstanding the termination of therr employment

The mechanics of the plan may be vaned by the Remuneration Commatee it necessary to ensure that participants are neither
advantaged nor chsadvantaged by a vanation of the share capital of the Company, bona fide merger, reconstruction or simiar
reorgarisation

1} Share option schemes
Dunng the year ended 29 March 2014, the Group introduced a share aption scheme which allows nil-pnced options to be
offered to senior employees who are not participants in the Share Plan

Optons were first granted under the scheme in January 2014 The options are subject to continuing employment and are subject
to performance conditions based on a combination of absolute TSR performance and relative TSR performance aganst the
FTSE 250 or FTSE 350

Following the Merger with Dixons Retait pic on 6 August 2014, the Company assurned the obligation to satisty outstanding
Dixons share options awarded under the Dixons Retail Employee Share Option Scheme and Executive Share Option Plan, with
employees elgible to acquire G 155 Dixons Camphone shares for each Dixons option held Al outstanding Dixons awards had
vested before the Merger, and were exercisable within six months post-Merger
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments continued
b) Share-based payments continued

#) Share option schemes continued
The following table summanses the number and weighted average exertise pnce of share options for these schemes

Year anded 13 months ended

30 April 2016 2 May 2018

Numbaer WAEP Numbor WAEP

rmillion £ mllion £

Qutstanding at the beginming of the pened 17 - g -

Dixons options assumed on Merger - - 1 -

Granted duning the period 1 - 11 -

Lapsed during the penod {4) - 3 -

Exercised dunng the penod - - M —

Outstanding at the end of the pernod 14 - 17 -

Exercisable at the end of the period - - - —

13 months

Year onctad ended

30 April 2 May

2018 2018

Weighted average market price of options exercised in the pericd - £418

Werghted average remaining contractual life of awards outstanding B3yrs S1yrs

Exercise pnice for options cutstanding el Srut
m) SAYE scheme

The Group has SAYE schemes which allow participants to save up to £500 per month for erther three or five years At the end

of the savings pencd, participants can purchase shares in the Company based on a discounted share prce determined at the
commencement of the scheme Participants in the Dixons Retail ple SAYE scheme had the opportunity to rell over their awards
Into options over shares in the merged entity, Dixons Carphone, on compietion of the Merger Employees who chose 10 roll over
receved 0 155 options n Dixons Carphone in exchange for each Dixons option held The savings penod and exercise date of
these options remamn urchanged If employees chose not 1o roll over therr options, they could exercise the value saved within

stx months of the Merger in return for 0 155 Dixons Carphone shares for each Dixons option held

The following table summanses the number and WAEP of share options for these schemes

Year ended 13 months endad

30 April 2018 2 May 2015

Number WAEP Number WAEP

milion £ millbon £

Qutstanding at the beginning of the penod 13 27 3 224
Dixons options assumed on Merger - - 6 120
Granted durning the penod 4 ar? 7 344
Exercised dunng the penod 2) 1.03 2) 224
Lapsed during penod {2) 3.13 (4] 176
QOutstanding at the end of the penod 13 3.2 13 27
Exercisable at the end of the period - - - -
13 months

Yaar ended ended

30 Aprit 2 May

2018 2015

Weighted average market pnce of options exercised in the penod £4 38 £3 82
Waeighted average remaining contractual Iife of awards outstanding 28yrs 28yrs
£209- €092-

Range of exercise prices for options outstanding £377 £3 44

Dwons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015A16

109

Financial ststements




Financlal statements

Notes to the Group financial statements

5 Employee costs and share-based payments continued
b) Share-based payments continued

w) Fair value model

The fair value of options was estimated at the date of grantusing a Monte Cario modei The mode! combines the market pnce
of a share at the date of grant with the probablity of meeting performance cntena, based on the histoncal performance of
Carphone Warehouse and, for options 1ssued subsequent to the Merger on 6 August 2014, the tustorical performance of Dixons

The weighted average farr value of options granted dunng the period was E0 74 {2014/15 £1 34) The following table hsts the

nputs to the mode!
13 months
Year ended ended
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
il - St =
Exercise price £3.77 £344
Dividend yield 23% 22%
27% - 31% -
Historical and expected volatility 28% 35%
4- 4-
Expected option hife 10 yrs 10 yrs
Wetghted average share price £4 35 £414

v) Change to the mcome staternent and entnes i reserves

During the year ended 30 Apni 2018, the Group recogrised a non-cash accounting charge to profit and loss of £10 million
(13 months ended 2 May 2015 £10 milan) in respect of equity settled share-based payments, with a coresponding credit

through reserves
¢) Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT)

30 Aprll 2016 2 May 2015
Mameot Nominal Marke! Nomingl
valuve value Number value valug Numpes
Emilson Smillion million Cmimon Crllion rkiin
Investment in own shares 3 - [+ 0rg 4 - 09
Maximum number of shares held during the penod 10 - 22 18 - 52

The Group has two ESOTSs for the purposes of satistying potential awards to employees under the Group's share plans The
number of shares held by the trusts, which are shown in the table above, reman held for potential awards under cutstanding
plans The costs of funding and administenng the ESOTs are charged to the income statement in the year to which they relate

Sharehoiders’ funds are reduced by the net book value of shares held in the ESOTs

Dunng the year, 19 milion shares were purchased by the Dixens Retail plc ESOT for net cash consideration (after the receipt

of the exercise pnce from employees) of £5 million
The ESOTs have waved their nghts to recewve dividends and the shares have not been aflocated to specrfic schemes
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6 Net finance costs

13 months

Year endad endeg

30 Apnl 2 May

2018 2015

Emillion Emikion

Unwind of discounts on trade receivables 17 15
Finance income 17 15
Interest on bank overdrafts and loans {16) {17
Finance lease interest payable {6) {4)
Net interest on defined benefit penston obligations® (16) {13)
Unwind of discounts on habilities (10) (L}
Amortisation of facility fees 2 3)
Revolving credit facility fee wnte off @ 4 -
Other mterest expense 4) @)
Finance costs (58) (52}
Total net finance costs (41} (37}
Headline total net finance costs (21) (24)

() Headine finance costs exclude net interest on defined benefit pension obligations and the wnte off of revolwing credit facility fees (ses note 4)
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7 Tax
a) Tax expense
The corporation tax charge compnses
13 months
Yeor ended anded
30 April 2 May
2018 2015
£miton Trralbon
Current tax
UK corporation tax at 20% (2014/15 20 32%%) - Headline Al 61
- Non-Headline ' {15) (12)
Overseas tax - Headhne 23 25
~ Non-Headline . 2) 3)
7 71
Adjustments made in respect of prior years
UK Corporation tax - Headline (1) 6
- Non-Headline . {6} -
Overseas tax - Headline {5) 2
(12) 4
Total current tax 65 75
Deferred tax
UK tax - Headline 19 10
- Non-Headhne * - 2
Overseas tax ~ Headline 2 2)
- Non-Headline * (3 3)
18 7
Adjustments in respect of pnor years
UK Corporation tax - Headline 2 8)
- Non-Headhne * - 1
Overseas tax - Headline (L)) 1
1 (6
Total deferred tax 19 1
Total tax charge 84 76
Headline tax charge® 110 91

() The UK corporation tax rale for the 12 months ended 30 Apn! 2016 was 20% (13 months ended 2 May 2015 was 21% for the 12 months to
3 March 2015 and 20% thereafter)
{) The Headhng tax charge excludes those items marked

Tax related to discontinued operations 1s iIncluded i the figures set out N note 25
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7 Tax continued
b) Reconciliation of notonal to actual (effective) tax rate

The pnncipal differences between the total tax charge shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate
of UK corporation tax to profit / {loss) before taxation are as follows

Year endad 30 April 2016 13 months enced 2 May 2015
Non- Non-

Headiine Headline Stawutory Hoadine Heading Statutory

Crrdlion Lrrullion Ermillion Lmilion £million frmiion

Profit / {loss) before taxation 447 {184) 263 376 {89) 287

Tax at UK statutory rate of 20% (2014/15 21%) 89 (30 52 79 (19) 60

Differences in effective overseas tax rates 5 - 5 7 (1) 6
Adjustments in respect of prior years (5} (6) (11) {2 - @

ltems attracting no tax rehef or hability 15 16 31 1 5 16
Movement in unprovided deferred tax 2 1 3 (5) - (5)

Effect of change in statutory tax rate 3 - 3 — - -

Other differences 1 - 1 1 - 1

Total tax charge / (credit) 110 {26) B84 al (15) 76

The effective tax rate on Headline eamings of 25% (2014/15 24%) has increased compared to the pnor year due to the change
in statutory tax rate and ceriain non-deductible items mamnly in the UK

Although a further reduction in the UK corporation tax rate to 17% from 1 April 2020 has been announced by the UK
Govemment, this has not been substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and so has not been used n the recognition
of defered tax balances

ltemns attracting no tax relief or habilty refate pnmanly to non-deductible lease exit costs and capital expenditure upon which no
tax deductions are avalable in respect of capital allowances (2014/15 related pnmanly to non-deductible lease exit costs)

c) Deferred tax
Accelerated Retrement Losses Othar
capital banafit carsd tamporary
allowances obligstions forward differances Total
Cmitllon Emulion Ermilion Lrmltion Cmillion
At 28 March 2014 21 - 3 12 36
Dixons Retall Merger (41) 83 - 58 100
Credited / (charged) directly to mcome statement 3 - 1 5) {1)
Crechited to equity - 15 — 12 27
At 2 May 2015 17 a8 4 77 162
Charged directly to income staternent 7} —_ 1) {11 (19
Charged to equity - {13) - () (24}
Reclassification - N - 1 -
At 30 Apnl 2016 (24} 84 3 56 119
Deferred tax compnses the following balances
30 April 2 Meay
2018 2015
Crnillion £milion
Deferred tax assets 234 263
Deferred tax labihties (115) (101)
119 162
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7 Tax contnued

Analysis of deferred tax relating to tems (charged} / credited to equity in the penod
Yoar ended 13 months
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
£milion Srmithon
Defined benefit pension schemes 13) 15
Share-based payments m 12
Other temporary differences i) —
{24) 27

The Group has total unrecognised deferred tax assets relating to tax losses of £1,414 milion (2014/15 £1,444 million) No
deferred tax asset has been recognised In respect of the losses due to the lack of certainty regarding the availabiity of future

taxable profits The unrecognised tax losses may be camed forward indefiritety

There were no temporary differences associated with undistnbutable eamings of subsidianes for which deferred tax iabilbes
had not been recogrised at the end of exther year
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8 Eamings per share

13 months
Yaar ended ended
30 April 2 May
2018 2015
Emiltion Cmitlwon
Headline earnings
Continuing operations 337 285
Total earmings / (loss)
Continuing operations 179 211
Discontinued operations {18} (114
Total 161 97
Million Milion
Weighted average number of shares
Average shares in ISsue 1,151 964
Less average holding by Group ESOT {1} 3
For basic eamings per share 1,150 961
Driutive effect of share options and other incentive schemes a8 32
For diluted earnings per share 1,188 993
Pance Pance
Bastc eamings per share
Total (continuing and discontinued operations) 140 101
Adjustment in respect of discontinued operations 16 119
Continuing operations 156 220
Adjustments for Non-Headhne - continuing operations {net of taxation) 137 77
Headline basic eamings per share 29.3 297
Diluted earnings per share
Total (continuing and discontinued operations) 136 98
Adjustment in respect of discontinued operations 15 114
Continung operations 151 212
Adjustments for Non-Headhne - continiing operations {net of taxation) 13.3 75
Headline diluted earmngs per share 284 287

Basic and diluted eamings per share are based on the profit for the period attnbutable to equity shareholders Headline eamings
per share 1s presented 1n order to show the underlying performance of the Group Adjustments used to determine Headline

eamings are descnbed further in note 4
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9 Goodwll

30 Apnl 2 May

2018 2015

Emillron £milkon
At begunning of penod 2,989 481
Adddions (note 24) 26 -
Diwxons Retal Merger - 2,629
Impairment - (35)
Foreign exchange 39 (86)
Al end of period 3,054 2,989
Cost 3,054 2,989
Accumulated impairment - -

3,054 2,989
a) Carrymmg value of goodwill
The components of goodwill compnse the following businesses

30 Apnl 2 May

2018 2015

Emillion £mittion
UK & freland —~ Dixons 1,634 1,633
UK — Carphone Warehouse 405 405
Ireland ~ Carphone Warehouse 7 7
Nordics 959 916
Spann 30 28
Simplhfydigital 19 -

3,054 2,989
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9 Goodwnll continued
b} Goodwill impairment testing

As required by IAS 36, goodwill 1 subject to annual impairment reviews These reviews are carned out using the
following cntena
+ business acquisittons generate an attributed amount of goodwill,

+ the manner in which these businesses are run and managed 1s used 1o detenmine the CGU grouping as defined in 1AS 36
‘Impaiment of Assets’,

+ the recoverable amount of each CGU group 1s determungd based on calculating s value in use (VIU),

+ the VIU is caloulated by applying discounted cash flow modeling to management's own projections covenng a five-year
penod,

+ cash flows beyond the five-year penod are extrapolated using a long-term growth rate equivalent to long-term forecasts
of Gross Domesuc Product (GDP) growth rates for the relevant market, and

+ the VIU is then compared to the carrying amount in order 1o detenmime whether impairment has occurred

The key assumptions used In calcufating value in use are

* management's projections,

= the growih rate beyond five years, and

+ the pre-tax discount rate

The long tenm projections, which have been approved by management, have been prepared using three-year strategic plans as
a base extrapolated to five years and which have regard to the relative performance of competitors and knowledge of the current
market together with management's views on the future achievable growth in rmarket share and impact of the committed
mhatives The cash flows which derive from these five-year projections include ongoing capital expenditure required to develop
and upgrade the store network In order to maintain and operate the businesses and to compete in therr markets In forming the
five-year projections, management draws on past expenence as a measure to forecast future performance

Key assumptions used in determining the five year projections compnse the growth in sales and costs over this penod The
compound annual growth rate i sales and costs can nse as well as fall year-on-year depending not only on the year five targets,
but also on the cument financial year base These largets, when combined, accordingly dnve the resulting profit margins and the
profit in year five of the projections which 1s in turn used 10 calculate the terminal value in the VIU calculaton Histoncal amounts
for the businesses under impaiment review as well as from other parts of the Group are used to generate the values atinbuted
to these assumptions

The value attnbuted to these assumptions for the most significant components of goodwill are as follows

30 Apnl 2018 2 May 2015
Compeund  Compound Compound Compound
: annual annual  Growth rate Pre tax annual annual  Growth rate

growth growth beyond discount growth growth Beyond Pra \ax

insales in costs five years rate in sales In costs. five years  discount rate

UK — Carphone Warehouse 28% 26% 21% 8 8% 32% 25% 29% 95%
UK & Ireland - Dixons 223% 21% 21% B 8% 23% 20% 29% 95%
Nordics 4 4% 43% 20% 81% 4 9% 48% 22% 85%

Growth rates used were determmed based on third party long-termn growth rate forecasts and are based on the GDP growth rate
for the temtonas in which the busnesses operate The pre-tax discount rates applied to the forecast cash flows reflect current
market assessments of the time value of money and the nsks specific to the CGUs

¢) Goodwill impairment sensitivity analysis

A sensitrvity analys:s has been performed on each of the base case assumptions used for assessing the goodwill wath other
vanables held constant Consideration of sensitivities to key assumpt:ons can evolve from one financial year to the next

The directors have congluded that there are no reasonably possible changes in key assumptions which would cause the carrying
amount of goodwill to exceed its value In use
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10 Intangible assets

Acguistion intangibles

Software
Customer and
Brunds mlatonships Sub-total ticences Total
Lrmullion Lmilbion Emillion Emiliion Emillian
Balance at 3 May 2015 336 26 362 163 525
Acquired on acquisition of subsidhary (note 24) - 20 20 3 23
Additions - - - 83 63
Arnortisation {26} (19) 40} (39) 79)
Foreign exchange 7 (1) 6 2 8
Balance at 30 Apnil 2016 N7 31 348 192 540
Cost 364 73 437 277 714
Accumulated amortisation and iImparment losses a7 42) (89) (85) {174}
Balance at 30 Apr! 2016 a7 i 348 192 540
Acquistion intangibles
Softwarg
Brands valgiggr;‘:s' Sub-total !I:an-ac Tot
Cmanon £miffon Emilfion £mtion £milion
Balance at 30 March 2014 8 42 50 86 136
Dixons Retall Merger 365 8 373 30 403
Additions - 2 2 a6 88
Amortisation (21) (17) (38) (32) (70)
Imparment {1} {6) (7 (3 (10}
Disposal of business - (1) (1 - 4]
Reclassification to held for sale - — - {2) 2
Foreign exchange (15) {2) (7 (@) {19)
Balance at 2 May 2015 336 26 362 163 525
Cost 357 54 411 209 620
Accumulated amortisation and imparrment losses {21) (28) (49} (46) 95)
Balance at 2 May 2015 336 26 362 163 525

Software and licences include assets with a cost of £17 milllon {2015 £35 million) on which amortisation has not been charged

as the assets have not yet been brought into use

Inchividually matenal intangible assets

Customer relationships and brands include inlangible assets which are considered individually matenal to the financial

statements The pnmary intangible assets, their net book values and remaining amortisation penods are as follows

Aamainng

Mot beok  amortsation

value penod

Emillion Years

CurrysPCWorld 151 14
Elgiganten 66 14
Elkjep 49 14
Grgantt 31 14
Simplifydigital 20 5
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11 Property, plant & equipment

Fuxtures,
fittings and
:;:::I;;: mulm: Total
Cmilion fmullion Ermallion
Balance at 3 May 2015 93 234 327
Acquisition of subsiciary (note 24) - 1 1
Additions 33 124 157
Depreciation (6) 92) (98)
Disposals {20) {3} 23)
Impairment (note 4) - {4} (4)
Foreign exchange - 6 6
Balance as at 30 Apnl 2016 100 266 366
Cost 117 451 568
Accumulated depreciation {17) {185) (202)
Balance as at 30 Apnl 2016 100 266 366
Included wn net book value as at 30 Apnl 2016
Land not depreciated 8 - 8
Assets in the course of construction - 40 40
Assets held under finance leases 57 - 57
Fucturns
tand and mngi:nr:
butidings  eguipment Totat
£mion £miion Cmilion
Balance at 30 March 2014 40 50 g0
Dixons Retail Merger 70 1986 266
Additions 4 81 85
Depreciation ® (75) (83
Disposals {9 5) (14)
Transferred to assets held for sale (2) (2) (4)
Impairment Wt @ Q)
Foreign exchange (1) 9) (10}
Batance as at 2 May 2015 a3 234 327
Cost . 104 319 423
Accumulated depreciation (11) (85) (96}
Balance as at 2 May 2015 93 234 327
Inctuded in net book value as at 2 May 2015
Land not depreciated 8 - 8
Assets in the course of construction - 16 16
Assets held under finance leases 65 2 67

Freehald land and buildings include the Group's investment property The farr value of investment property was determined by

an extermnal, ndependent property valuation expert as £14 milion (2015 £14 millon) The valuation expert has appropnate

recogrised professional qualifications as well as recent expenence in the focation and category of the properties being valued
The valuation of properties was perfarmed by reference 1o appraopnate yield rates and market evidence of recent transactions
Future mimmum lease income i respect of the Group's investment properties 1s set out n note 30
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12 Interests in joimt ventures
The principal mterests in jont ventures are as follows

30 Apri 2 May

2016 2018

Nams Country ot incorporation or reglstration Nature of business interest Interest

Sprint Connect LLC United States of America Distnbution 50 0% n/a
The Group's interests In joint ventures are analysed as follows

30 Apn) 2 May

2018 2015

Emillion Emilton

Opening balance - -

Additrons 9 -

Share of results (4) -

Closing balance 5 -

The share of results recognised all relate to continuing operations There were no terns of other comprehensive income 1n the
penod and therefore the share of results represents the Group's share of total comprehensive income The Group has entered
Into a joint venture with Sprint Corporation to manage Sprint branded stores in the US The Group has comrmutted to nvesting up
to $32 million to fund the roli-out and operation of up to 500 stores

13 Inventory
30 Apn! 2 May
2018 2018
Lrution Lrmulhon
Finished goods and goods for resale 958 920
14 Trade and other recevables
30 Apnl 2 May
2016 2015
Tmilion £milion
Trade receivables 1,304 1,010
Less provision for bad and doubtful debts (20} (20
1,284 920
Prepayments 100 124
Other recevables 115 74
Accrued income 22 22
Dervative financial assets 18 15
1,539 1,225
Non-current 408 318
Current 1,131 a07
1,539 1,225

The majonty of trade and other receivables are non-interest beanng Non-current receivables mainly compnse CommIssion
recevable on sales Where the effect 1s matenal, trade and other recevables are discounted using discount rates which reflect
the relevant costs of financing The camying amount of trade and other recevables approximates far value

120  Dixons Carphone plc Annual Repart and Accounts 2015/16




14 Trade and other recewvables continued

30 Apnl 2018 2 May 2015
Gross trade Neitracda Gross trade iNet (rade
roceivables Provision receivables  recavables Provision  receivebles
£mullion Lrsilbon Lmillicn £mion £m: hon Emillion
Ageing of gross trade receivables and provisions
Not yet due 1,186 (14] 1,179 B48 {6} B4z
Past due:
Under two months 57 (1) 56 52 (5} 47
Two to four months 14 (1) 13 17 - 17
QOver four months 47 {(11) 36 93 (9) 84
118 {(13) 105 162 (14) 148
1,304 {20} 1,284 1,010 {20} 990
Movements in the prowvision for impaimment of trade receivables 15 as follows
30 April 2 May
2018 2015
Emillion £mithon
Operning balance (20} (20}
Dixons Retail Merger - {(19)
Charged to the incorme staterent (1) 8)
Receivables written off as rracoverable 1 16
Disposals - 2
Transferred to assets held for sale - 8
Foreign exchange - 1
Closing balance (20} {20)

The Group's trade recewvables included the following amounts which were past due, but for which the Group has made no

provision based on histoncal rates of recoverabilty

30 Apnd 2 May
2018 2015
fmiltlion Lmilhon
Under two months 58 47
Two to four months 13 17
Over four months 36 84
105 148

15 Cash and cash equivalents
30 Apnit 2 May
2018 205
Crmittion Crmiion
Cash at bank and on deposit 233 163

Cash at bank and on deposit ncludes short term bank deposits which are available on demand Within cash and cash

equvalents, £67 million (2015 £92 million) 1s restncted and predominantly compnses funds held under trust to fund potental
customer support agreement babiiies as well as by the Group’s insurance businesses to cover regulatory reserve requirements

These funds are not availabie to offset the Group's barrowings
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16 Trade and other payables
30 Apn) 2018 2 May 2015
Non- NHen-
Current current Current cumreni
Errillion Crmillion Cmithon Crmuttion
Trade payables 1,373 - 1,097 -
Other taxes and sccial secunty 274 - 205 -
Oenvative financial instruments 42 —_ 26 —_
Other creditors 108 206 103 277
Accruals 360 60 384 72
Deferred income 156 157 146 147
2,310 423 1,961 496

Non-current other creditors relate pnncipally to property leases that are deemed fo be over-rented These habilities are unwound
over the penod of the relevant lease, of up to 21 years The carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates their

farr value
17 Deferred and contingent cons:deration
30 Apnl 2018 2 May 2015
Non- Non-
Current curremt Current current
Tmullon £milleon Crmithan Ermiflion
Deferred consideration 12 21 25 6
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 215
Emilllon fmitiion
Opening batance ki 50
Dixons Retart Merger - 6
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary {note 24) 23 -
Settiernents {26) (25}
Change in valuation (note 4) 5 -
Closing balance 33 31

Eam-out consideration of up to £23 million is payable n cash and 1s contingent on the performance of Smplifycigital and
the Epoq kitchen business against earmings growth targets over a penod of up to five years The far value of contingent
consideration arrangements has been estimated by applying the ncome approach A reduction in growth assumptions
used i the far value methodology would result in a reduction n the amount of contingent cons:deration payable
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18 Loans and other borrowings

30 Apet 2 May
2018 2015
Emilliion Cmillion
Current habiities

Bank overdrafts - 55
- 55

Non-current iabilsties
Loans and other borrowings 409 330
409 330

Committed faciities

On 8 October 2015 the Group signed a new multi-currency revolving credit facility for £800 million, which matures in October
2020 and replaced the mutti-currency term and revoiving credit facility which was previously n place The rate of interest payable
on borrowings 1s a margin of 1 35% per annum over the applicable reference rate

The facilities require guarantees to be provided by certain Group enlites under the facilities

Bank overdraft and other uncommutted faciities

The Group has overdraft ang uncommitted money market faciities totalling approxsmately £128 million {2015 £157 million)

19 Finance lease obligations

30 April 218 2 May 2015

Presant Present

value of value of

Minimum minimum Min mum mmimum

lease lepsa lease lgasa

paymants paymants payments payments

Ermulhon Lrmilion £milkon £milon

Amounts due

Within one year 9 8 8 8

In more than one year and not maore than five years a5 29 a3 26

In more than five years 111 54 114 57
155 1] 155 91

Less futura finance charges (64} - {64) -
Present value of lease obligations 91 91 a1 a1
Less amounts due within one year (2) {2) (2) (2)
Amounts due after more than one year 89 89 89 89

The majonty of finance leases relate to preperties n the UK where obligations are denominated in Sterling and remaining lease
terms vary between 9 and 20 years The effective borrowing rate on indmidual leases ranged between 5 51% and 8 67% (2015
551% and 8 15%) Interest rates are fixed at the contract date Al leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arangements

have been entered into for contingent rental payments

The far value of the Group's tease obligations approximates their carrying amount
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20 Provisions

30 April 2016 2 May 2015
Raorg- Reorg-
anisation Ssios Property Gther Total aniganon Sales Proparty Other Total
Emillion Emililon Emilion Lrmullion Lrllion Ermulen Cmulhon Crifion £millon Emilion
At beginning of
period 23 6 25 21 75 22 10 - 18 50
Dixons Retail Merger -— - - - - 3 - 27 - 58
Additions 15 42 71 4 132 39 2 1 6 48
Released in the
period - - - (1) {1 4 - - - (4)
Utlised in the period {26} (40) {6) 9) 81} {63} {5} (] 1 (72)
Reclassification 10
held for safe - - - - - ) _ - ) @
Disposal of business - - - - - - - - (1} m
Foreign exchange - - - - — (1) {1} — - (2)
At end of penod 12 8 80 15 125 23 6 25 21 75
Analysed as
Current 12 7 44 15 78 20 6 7 21 54
Non-current - 1 a6 - a7 3 — 18 - 21
12 8 g0 15 125 23 6 25 21 75

Reorgansation provisions relate pnncipally to Merger related costs and redundancy costs and other onerous contracts ansing
as a result of reorganisation, and are only recogrised where plans are demonstrably commidted and where appropnate
communication to those affected has been undertaken at the balance sheet date

Sales prowisions relate to 'cash-back’ and similar promotions, product warranties, product returns, and network operator
performance penalties The anticipated costs of these items are assessed by reference to histoncal trends and any other
mnformation that 1s considered to be relevant

Property provisions relate mainly to costs associated with cperating lease early exist premiums, Onerous leases and provisions
for difapidations Additions dunng the year ended 30 Apnl 2016 relate pnncipally to property ratienalisation costs as described
in note 4

Cther provisions relate 10 wananties provided in relation to business disposals and provisians In respect of the expected costs
of insurance claims, contingent habiities recognised through business combinations, and other onerous contracts

Non-current provisions are expected to be utiised over a penod up to ten years
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21 Retrement and other post-employment benefit ocbligations

30 April 2 May

2018 2015

Ermilion Cmillion

Retiremnent benefit obligations — UK 472 486
- Nordics 2 3

474 489

The Group operates a defined benefit and a number of defined contnbution schemes The principal schermne which operates in
the UK inciudes a funded defined benefit section whose assets are held in a separate trustee administered fund The scheme is
valued by a qualified actuary at least every three years and contnbutions are assessed in accordance with the actuary's advice
Since 1 September 2002, the defined benefit section of the scheme has been closed to new entrants and on 30 Apnl 2010 was
closed to future accrual with automatic entry into the defined contnbution section being offered to those active members of the
defined benefit section at that time Membership of the defined contnbution section 15 offered to eligible employees

In the Nordics division, the Group operates small funded secured defined benefit pension schemes, which are also closed
to new entrants, with assets held by a Ife msurance company as well as an unsecured pension arrangement In addition,
contnbutions are made to state pension schemes with defined benefit charactenstcs

The defined benefit pension schemes expose the Group to actuanal nsis such as longer than expected longewty of members,
lower than expected retum on investments and higher than expected inflation, which may increase the labilites or reduce the
value of assets of the plans

a) Defined contnbution pension schemes
The pension charge in respect of defined contribution schemes was £23 million (2014/15 £20 million)
b) UK Defined benefit pension scheme - actuanal valuation and assumptions

A full actuanal valuation of the scherne was last camed out as at 31 March 2013 and showed a shortfall of assets compared
with labilites of £373 million A 'recovery plan’ based on this valuation was agreed with the Trustes post the Dixons Retail
Merger such that contnbutions in respect of the scheme year end of 31 March of £35 million were made in 2015/16, nsing to
£36 milhion for 2016/17 Contnbutions rise to £47 million by 2024/25 The next tnennial valuation has commenced and will be
as at 31 March 2016

The pnncipal actuanal assumptions as at 31 March 2013 were

Rata per annum

Discount rate for accrued benefits! - Growth portfoiio 59%

- Matching portfolio 38%
Rate of increase to pensions 0% -38%
Inflation 34%

t The discoun? rate s based on 2 inear de-nsking methodology which assumes the Scheme s investment strategy switches investments from
growth assets {such as equities) to matching assets (such as bonds) over a penod of 30 years from 2013 te 2043 so that in 30 years' time
the asset portfolio 1s projected to be 80% invested in ratching assets

At 31 March 2013, the market value of the scheme's investments was £812 milhon and, based on the above assumptions,
the value of the assets was sufficient 10 cover 63% of the benefits accrued to members with the hatalitres amounting to
£1,185 mullon
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21 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued
<) UK Defined benefit pension scheme - IAS 19

The foliowing summanses the companents of net defined benefit expense recognised in the consalidated income statement,
the funded status and amounts recognised in the consohdated balance sheet and other amounts recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income The methodologies set out in 1AS 19 are different from those used by the scheme actuanes in

determining funding arrangements

) Pnncipal assumptions adopted
The assumptions used In cafculating the expenses and obligations are set by the directors after consultation with the

ndependent actuanes

30 April 2 May
2018 2005
Ermillion Cmilkon

Rates per annum
Discount rate 35% 35%
Rate of increase In pensions in payment / 29%/ 29%/
deferred pensions (pre / post Apni 2006 accrual) 21% 19%
Inflation 295% 31%

The Group uses demographic assumptions underlying the last formal actuanal vafuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2013

In particular, post retrement mortality has been assumed to follow the standard mortality tables 'S1' All Pensioners tables
published by the CMI, based on the experience of Self-Administered Pension Schemes (SAPS) with muttiphiers of 105% for
males and 110% for females In addion, an aliowance has been made for future improvements in longewty from 2003 by using
the new CMI 2013 Core projections with a long term rate of improvement of 1 5% per annum for men and 1 25% per annum for
wormnen Applying such tables results in an average expected longevity of between 87 2 years ard 88 @ years for men and

between 88 9 years and 80 3 years for women for those reaching 65 over the next 15 years

() Amounts recogrised in consoldated mncome staterment

13 months.
Year anded anded
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
Emllon Cmulion
Net interest expense on defined benefit obligation 16 13
(si) Amounts recogrised i1 the consolidated statement of comprehensive mcome
13 months
Year ended ended
30 Apnil 2 May
2018 2015
£millton Cmblon
Remeasurernent of defined benefit obligation — actuanal gans / (fosses) ansing from
Changes in financia) assumptions 25 (168)
Expenence adjustments 27 19
Change in demographic assumptions - ]
Remeasurement of scheme assets
Actual returm on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense) 57 86
Cumulative actuarial 10ss (5) 72
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21 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued
fiv) Amounts recogmised in the consciidated balance sheet

30 Apnl

2 May

2018 2015
Emiilion Cmilhon
Present value of defined benefit obligations (1,395) (1,437)
Fawr value of plan assets 923 945
Net obligation 472) {486)
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
30 April 2 May
2018 2015
Emillion tmiion
Openmng obligation at 3 May 2015 1,431 -
Dixons Retall Merger - 1,259
Interest cost 49 38
Remeasurements in other comprehensive income — actuarial losses / (gains) ansing from changes in
Financial assumplions (25} 168
Expenence 27 (19)
Demographic assumpticns - 9
Benefits pad (33} {24)
Closing abligation 1,395 1,431
The weighted average matunty profile of the defined benefit cbiigation at the end of the year 15 21 years
Changes in the fair value of the scheme assets
30 Apnl 2 May
2016 2018
£million £rillon
Opening far value at 3 May 2015 945 -
Dixons Retail Merger - 830
Interest income a3 25
Employer special contnbutions a5 28
Remeasurements in other comprehensive income
Actual return on plan assets (excluding interesi income) {57) 86
Benefits paid {33) (24)
Closing fair value 923 945
127
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21 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued
Analysis of scheme assets

30 Aprt 2 May

a6 2015

Emilllon £milkon

Overseas and global equities ~ Listed 217 286
Diversified growth - Listed 170 182
- Unlisted 11 10

Multi-asset credit funds ~ Listed 28 29
- Unhisted 24 23

Ernerging market muth asset funds ~ Listed 45 49
- Unlisted 3 3

Private equity ~ Unhsted a7 47
Property ~ Unhsted 13 15
index-linked gilts - Listed 102 101
Corporate bonds - Listed 80 75
Liability driven investments (LDI} - Listed 112 69
Cash and cash instruments - Unlisted 20 5
Other ~ Unlisted 1 1
923 945

The investment strategy of the scheme 15 determined by the independent Trustee through adwice provided by an independent
nvestment consultant The scheme invests in a diverse range of asset classes as sel out above with ratching assets pnmanly

compnsing holdings n inflation linked gilts and comporate bonds
Actual retum on the scheme assets was a loss of £24 million (2014/15 ganof £111 miflton}

v) Sensitivities

The value of the UK defined benefit penston scheme assets are sensitive 1o market conditions, particularty equity values which
compnse approximately 64% of the scheme's assets Changes in assumptions used for determining retirement benefit costs

and habilihes may have a matenal impact on the 2015/16 mcome statement and the balance sheet The main assumptions are
the discount rate, the rate of inflation and the assumed mortality rate The following table provides an estimate of the potential
impacts of each of these vanables if appled to the current year consolidated income statement and balance sheet

Mat fingnce COSS Mot deficit
Year 13 months
a0 Apnl 2 May 30 Apnil 2 May
2016 2% 2016 208
Emilkon Cermtion Lmilion Emition
Positive / (negative) effect
Discount rate O 25% increase 2 2 75 73
Inflation rate 0 25% ncrease’ 2 @ (52) 57)
Mortahty rate 1 year increase (2) (2 {41) (a2)

t The increase in scheme benefits provided to members on retirement 1 subject to an inflation cap

The sensitmty analysis presenied above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined bensfit obligation as it1s

unhkely that the changes in assumptions would occur in 1solation of one angther as some of the assumptions may be comrelated

d) Other post-employment benefits - IAS 19

The Group offers other post-employment benefils to employees in overseas temtones, i particular n Greece These benefits are

unfunded At 30 Apnl 2016 the net cbligation in relation to these benefits was £3 million (2015 £3 million)
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22 Share capital, retained earmngs and reserves

a) Share capnal
30 Apnl 2 May 30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015 2018 2015
million mikon Lmition Crnltion
Authonsed, allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 0 1p each 1,151 1,151 1 i
30 Apni 2 May 30 Apnl 2 May
018 2015 2018 2015
mitlien mukon fmilion Emiton
Qrdinary shares of 0 1p each in 1ssue at the beginring of the perod 1,151 576 1 1
Issued as consideration to Dixons shareholders [0} - 575 - -
Ordinary shares of 0 1p each in 1ssue at the end of the perod 1,151 1,151 1 1

) As part of the Dixons Retail Merger, 574 7 milkon shares with a mid-market pnce of £3 432 were ssued as part of the all-share merger with

Ducons as descnbed in note 24

b) Retained eamings and reserves

Movement in retained eamings and reserves dunng the reported penods are presented in the consolidated statement of changes

" equity

Retained eamings at 30 April 2016 includes £18 million (2015 £6 mithon) of losses associated with dervatives which were

designated and effective as cash flow hedges and interest rate hedges Own shares held by the Group’s ESOTs are recognised
in retained eamings — refer to note 5 for further information The demerger reserve arose as part of the demerger of the Group

from TalkTalk in 2010

23 Equity dwdends
30 Apnl 2 May
2016 2015
Crmtlion £million
Amounts recognised as distnbutions to equity shareholders in the penod
—on ordinary shares of 0 1p each
Final dwidend for the year ended 29 March 2014 of 4 00p per ordinary share - 23
Intenm dividend for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 of 2 50p per ordinary share - 29
Final dividend for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 of 6 00p per ordinary share 69 -
Intenim dividend for the year ended 30 April 2016 of 3 25p per ordinary share 37 -
106 52

The following distnbution 1s proposed but had not been effected at 30 Apnl 2016 and :s subject to shareholders’ approval at the

forthcoming Annuat General Meeting

fmillion

Final dividend for the year ended 30 Apnil 2016 of 6 50p per ordinary share

75
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24 Acquisttions and Merger

2015/16, Acgquisition of Infocare Workshop and Simplify Digital Limited

On 30 November 2015 the Group acquired 100% of the 1ssued share capital of Infocare Workshop Infocare Workshop s a
service and repar company in the Nordics region and was acquired to strengthen the Group's strategy of owning the complete
end-to-end customer service journay In that region

On 31 March 2016 the Group acquired 100% of the 1ssued share capital of Simphfy Digial Limited Simphify Digital Lirmited 15 the
UK's largest and fastest growing mu'ti-channel switching platform, offenng consumers an Ofcom accrediled pnce companson
and switching senvice for broadband, digital TV and fixed Iine telephone contracts The company was acquired to further the
Group's position as the best place for customers to receve independent advice across all therr technology, connectivity, medha
content and service needs

a) Fair value of assets and labiities

The combined far values of identifiable assets and habilities of Infocare Workshap and Simphfy Digital Limited as at the
acquistion date were as follows
Note Emillion

Assets

Intangible assets 23

Property, plant & equipment 1

Trade and other receivables 0 10

Cash and cash equivalents 1

Total assets 45

Liabilities

Trade and other payables (13)
Total habilities (13}
Total far value of identifiable net assets acquired 32

Provisional goodwill () () 26

Total consideration ()] 58

) The far value of trade and other receivables represents trade recevabtes accrued ncome and prepayments whose gross contractual value
and far value are deemed to be £10 mihon

(i) The finahsation of the fair value of the acquired assets and iabiities of Simpify Digial Lmited will be completed within 12 months of the
acquisibon and therefore remains provisional ustil 31 March 2017 owing to the proximity of acquisition 10 the balance sheet date Itis
therefore possible that adjustments to goodwill could anse up untl 31 March 2017

(i) The gocdwill ansing on the acquisitions 1s not deductible for Income tax purposes and consists largely of the synergses and economies
of scale expected from combuung the operations

v} Total consideration includes the fair value of contingent consideration arrangerments of £13 million which 1s payable subject to the
achievernent of certain eamings growth targets The tolal maximum payable under these amangements 1s £13 mikon The farr valug of
contingent consideration amangemants has been estimated by applying the Income approach (note 16) Total conskderation also meludas
deferred consideration of £10 milion payable within one year
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24 Acquisttions and Merger continued
b) Other information

Acquisition related costs (included within non-headhine expenses) amount to £1 million {note 4) The contnbution to revenue and
operating profit of acquisions completed in the year was not matenal

2014/15 All-share merger of Dixons and Carphone

On 6 August 2014, the Group completed an all-share merger of Dixons and Carphone after which the shareholders of Dixans
and Carphone each held 50% of Dixons Carphone on a fully diluted basis taking into account extsting share options and awarg
schemes for both comparues

Under the tenms of the Merger, Dixons shareholders received O 155 of a new Dixons Carphone Share in exchange for each
Dixons share In accordance with the ¢ritena in IFAS 3 ‘Business Combmations’ it has been determined that Carphone
acquired Dixons

The provisional farr values of dentifiable assets and liabihties of Dixons as at the acquisition date were reported in the annual
report for the penod ended 2 May 2015 In finatising the far value of identifiable assets and habibties, no changes have been
made to the provisional farr values

25 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale

As reported at 2 May 2015, Virgin Mobile France and the Group’s retail operations in Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal
were treated as discontinued operaticns following the decision to exit these businesses The assets and habiities associated
with Germany, the Netherfands and Pertugal were recogmsed as held for sale at 2 May 2015 The sale of operations in Germany
was completed on 5 May 2015, the Netheriands on 30 June 2015 and Portugal on 31 August 2015, whilst Virgin Mobile France
was sold on 4 December 2014

a) Loss after tax - discontinued operations

The results of disconbinued cperaticns are compnsed as follows
Year ended 30 April 2016

Phone Phone Phone

House House Houss
Germany Nethertands Portugal Totgl
Cmltion Crmlkon Cmidion Crniliian
Revenue - 19 13 32
Expenses - {20) (16) (36}
Loss before tax - (1) ) (4)
income tax - - - -
- (1) 3 “
(Loss) / profit on disposal (10} (6) 2 (14}
(10} 7 (1 (18)

The net loss on disposal recognised in the current year pnmarily relates to working capital adjustments agreed with acquirers,
adjustments to net assets disposed, the recycling of foreign currency translation reserves of discontinued operations and other
costs asscciated with the exits
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25 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale continued

13 months ended 2 May 2015

Virgine Prone Prone Phone
Mobile House House House
France Garmany  Neiherlands Portugst Tota!
Lrmithan Emilkon Crrullion Eendion Emiition
Revenue - 323 159 47 529
Expenses - {(364) (239) {55) (658)
Loss before tax - (41) {80) (8} (129)
Income tax - - - - -
— [CB)) (80} (8) (129)
Profit on disposal 87 - - - 87
Impamment losses recognised on classification as
heid for sale - (16) (43) (13) {72)
87 57) (123) (21) (114)
b) Assets held for sale
The Group's assets held for sale and associated habiies are analysed as follows
30 Apni 2 May
2016 s
£million Lmilon
Inventory - 16
Recervables - 66
Cash and cash equivalents - 55
Assets held for sale - 137
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale - current habilities - (68)
Net assets held for sate - 69
c) Cash flows from discontinued operations
13 months
Yeaar ended ended
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
Emllion Emiilion
Operating activities 2 (78}
Investing activities 30 81
32 3
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26 Financial nsk management and denvative financial mstruments
Financal instrurments that are measured at farr vatue in the financial statements require disclosure of fair value measurements
by leve! based on the following farr value measurement hierarchy

+ Level 1 - quoted pnces (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities,

+ Level 2 - inputs other than quated prices included within Level 1 that are cbservable for the asset or hability either directly
{that s, as pnces} or inchrectly (that 1s, denved from pnces), and

« Level 3 - nputs for the asset or fiability that are not based on observable market data (that 15, unobservable inputs)

Network commission recewvables are classified as loans and recewables as defined in IAS 39 and are therefore accounted for at
amortised cost As the measurement of certain network commission receivables 1S a key source of estimation uncertanty, an
explanation of the va'uation methodology and an analys:s of the sensivity of the canrying value of receivables to the methods,
assumptions and estrmates of this methodology has been provided below n note 26(h) The camying value of such ongoing
network commission recewvables s £904 million (2015 £629 million) which 15 approximately equal to their farr value If measured
at fair value these recevables would be categonsed as level 3 in the far value hierarchy as the valuation requires the use of
significant unobservable inputs

An explanation of the valuation methodologies and the inputs to the models are provided below for network commission

Contingent consicleration 1s categonsed as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy as the valuation requires the use of significant
unobservable nputs An explanation of the valuation methedologies and the inputs to the valuation model s provided in note 17

The significant inputs required to far value the Group's other financial instruments that are measured at far value on the balance
sheet, pnmarlly compnsing cumency contracts and interest rate swaps, are observable and are classified as level 2 in the far
value hierarchy There have also been no transfers of assets or habilities between levels of the far value hierarchy

Farr values have been arnved at by discounting future cash flows (where the impact of discounting 1s matenal), assuming no early
redemption, or by revatuing forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to penod end market rates as appropnate to the
instrument

The directors consider that the book value of financial assets and habilities recorded at amortised cost and therr farr value are
approximately equal

The book value and far value of the Group's financial assets, abelities and denvatve financial instruments are as follows

20 April 2 May
2016 2018

Emillion tmilion

Cash and cash equivalents 233 163
Trade and other receivables excluding denvative financial assets 1,421 1,086
Net derivative financial rabities (24) {11)
Trade and other payables (2,378) (1,933
Finance leases (91) (91)
Deferred and contingent consideration (33) {31)
Loans and other borrowings {409) {385)

a) Financial nsk management pchcies

‘The Group's activities expose it to certan financial nsks including market nsk (such as foreign exchange nisk and mterest rate
nsk), credit nsk and hquichty nsk The Group's treasury function, which operates under treasury policies approved by the Board,
uses certain financial instrumenits to mitigate potentally adverse effects on the Group's financial performance from these nsks
These financial nstruments consist of bank loans and deposits, spot and forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange
swaps and interest rate swaps

Throughout the penod under review, n accordance with Group palicy, no speculative use of denvatives, foreign exchange or
other instruments was permitted No contracts with embedded denvatives have been identified and, accordingly, no such
denvalives have been accounted for separately
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26 Financsal nsk management and denvative financial instruments contmnued
b) Foreign exchange nsk

The Group undertakes certain transactions that are denominated in foreign curmencies and as a consequence has exposure to
exchange rate fiuctuations These exposures pnmanly anse from inventory purchases, with most of the Group's exposure being
to Euro, Norwegian Krone and US Dollar fluctuations The Group uses spol and forward currency contracts (o rritigate these
exposures, with such contracts designed to cover exposures ranging from one month to one year

The translation nsk on converting overseas cumency profits or losses is not hedged and such profits or losses are converted Into
Sterling at average exchange rates throughout the year The Group's pnncipal translation currency exposures are the Euro and
Norwegian Krone

At 30 Apnl 2018, the total notional pnncipal amount of cutstanding currency contracts was £2,856 miflion {2015 £1,540 milion)
and had a farr value of €23 million (2014/15 £11 millon} Manetary assets and hahilties and foreign exchange contracts are
sensitive to movements in foreign exchange rates This sensitvty can be analysed i companson to year-end rates (assuming all
other vanables reman constant) as follows

Yoar ended 13 months ended
30 Apnl 2018 2 May 2015

Etfect on Etfact en

Haadhing Headline
profit EMoct on profit ENact on
before tax  total equity  before tax  iolal equity
£mithon Cmillion Emillion Emilfon
10% movement 1n the US dollar exchange rale - 5 - S5
10% movement in the Euro exchange rate - 58 - 57
10% movement in the Swedish Krona exchange rate - 2 - 4
10% movement in the Darush Krone exchange rate - 2 - 3
10% movement in the Norwegian Krone exchange rate - 6 - 3

c} Interest rate nsk

The Group's interest rate nsk anses primanly on cash, cash equivalents and loans and other bomowings, all of which are at
floating rates of interest and which therefore expose the Group to cash flow interest rate nsk These floating rates are finked to
LIBOR and other mnterest rate bases as appropnate to the instrument and currency Future cash flows ansing from these financial
nstruments depend on interest rates and pencds agreed at the time of rollover Group policy permits the use of long term
Interest rate denvatives tn managing the nsks associated with movements in interest rates

The effect on the income statement and equity of 1% movements in the interest rate for the curencies in which most Group
cash, cash equivalents, loans and other borrowings are denominated and on which the valuation of most denvative financia)
nstruments 1s based s as follows, assuming that the year-end positions prevail throughout the year

Year ended 13 months ended
30 Apnil 2016 2 May 2015
Eftect on Effect on
Headline Kead'me
prefit Effpct on profit EHect on
before tax  total equity before tax  total equity
increasa /  increase/ mcrease / increase /
(decrease} (decraass) {decroase) {decrease)
Emlilion Emiiton £milion Cmillion
1% increase in the Sterling interest rate - 1 - 4
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26 Financial nsk management and denvative financial instruments continued
d} Liquidty nsk

Ligquidity nsk 1s the nsk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obhgations associated with its financial habilites
that are seftled by delvenng cash or another financial asset The Group manages its exposure to liquidity nsk by reviewing
regularty the long term and short term cash flow projections for the business against the resources avalable to it

In order to ensure that sutficient funds are available for cngoing and future developments, the Group has committed bank
facilibes, excluding overdrafts repayable on demand, totaling £800 milion (2015 £875 milion) Further detarls of committed
borrowing facilities are shown in note 18

The table below analyses the Group's financial iabidiies and denvative assets and labiiies into relevant matunty groupings
The amounts disclosed m the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, including both principal and interest flows,
assuming that interest rates remam constant and that borowtngs are pad in full in the year of matunty

In mora
than one
yaar but
not more In mare
Within than five than five
and year years yoars Total
Emilhon Comilkon Emillion Lmillion
30 Apnl 2016
Finance leases ©) (35) {111) (155)
Denvative financial instruments - payable
Forward foreign exchange contracts {2,856} - - {2,856)
Interest rate swaps 4] {1) - 2 g
Denvative financial instruments - recewable g
Forward foreign exchange contracts 2,832 - - 2,832
Loans and other borrowings 4] (441) - (448} '§
Deferred consideration 12 (19) @ (33) ‘g
Trade and cther payables (2,112) (266) - (2,378)
In moie
than ons
year but
not more In mora
Withun than five than five
one year years years Total
Emilion Emilien Lriliion Emillion
2 May 2015
Finance leases (8) {33} {114) {155)
Denwvative financial instruments - payable
Forward foreign exchange contracts (1.540) - - (1,540)
Interest rate swaps 2) 2 - (4)
Dervative financial instruments - recewable
Forward foreign exchange contracts 1,530 - - 1,530
Loans and other borrowings (B4) (337 - (401}
Deferred consideration (25) (6) - B3
Trade and other payables {1,584) (349) - (1,933}
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26 Financial nsk management and denvatve financial instruments continued
€) Credit nsk

Credtt nsk 1s the nsk of financial loss to the Group ff a counterparty faits to meet its contractual obligations, and anses prmcipally
from the Group's recevables from consumers The Group's exposure to credit nsk 1s regularly monitored and the Group's policy
1s updated as appropnate

The majonty of the Group’s trade recewvables are balances due from MNOs, which are generally major muiti-national enterpnses
with whom the Group has well-established relationships and are consequently hot considered to add significantly to the Group’s
credit nsk exposure In addition credit nsk 1s also inherently associated with the MNO end consumers Details of the sensitvity
analysis of a change in credit nsk associated with the MNO consumer is detalled below (consumer default rates) Exposure to
credit nsk associated with the MNO consumer IS managed through extensive consumer credit checking process pnor to
connection with the network The large volums of MNO consumers reduces the Group's exposure to concentration of credit nsk

The Group's trade receivables also include balances due from equipment manufacturers, dealers and Connected World Services
consumers, business to busmess consumers and consumer crecit recewvables Where it 1s considered appropnate, the Group
obitains credit Insurance on accounts recevable Provision 1s made for any recesvables that are considered to be irecoverable
Details of frade recevables which are past due but not imparred are provided in note 14

The credit nsks on cash and cash equivalents and denvative financial instruments are closely monitored and cred:t ratings are
used in determining maximum counterparty credit nsk

The Group’s funding 1s refiant on its £800 mullion bank faciities, which are provided by nine banks, these institutions are
considered to be adequately capitalised to continue to meet therr obigations under the faciity

The carrying amount of financial assets recorcted in the financial statements, which 1s net of impairment losses, represents the
Group's maximum exposure to credit nsk

f) Capital nsk

The Group manages its caprtal to ensure that entites within the Group will be able to continue as gaing concems, whilst
maximising the retumn to shareholders through a sutable mix of debt and equity The capital structure of the Group consists of
cash and cash equivalents, loans and other borowings and equity attnbutable to equity holders of the Company, compnsing
issued capital, reserves and accumulated profits Exceptin relation to mrwnum capral reguirements in is insurance business,
the Group is not subject to any extemaily imposed capital requirements  The Group monitors its capital structure on an ongoing
besis, Including assessing the nsks associated with each class of caprtal

g) Denvatves

Denvative financial nstruments compnse forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange swaps and interest rate swaps
Tre Group has designated financial instruments under IAS 39 as follows

Cash flow hedges

At 30 April 2016 the Group had forward and swap foreign exchange contracts in place with a notional value of £1,909 million
{2015 £1,487 million) and a farr value of £17 million (2014/15 £6 mullion) that were designated and effectve as cash flow hedges
These contracts are expected to cover exposures ranging from one month to one year The far value of denvative foreign
exchange contracts and forewgn exchange swaps not designated as cash flow hedges was £6 mithon (201415 £rily

Interest rate swaps

Tre Group held interest rate swaps with a notional vatue of £256 milkon (2015 £280 million} and a farr value of £1 mifion
{2014/15 £n) whereby the Group recewves a floating rate of interest based on LIBOR and pays a fixed interest rate This contract
matures in Apnl 2017
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26 Financial nsk management and denvative financial nstruments continued
h) Network commisston recevables consumer behavtour nsk

Under certain arangements with MNOs, the commussion revenue on mobile phone sales depends on consumer behaviour after
the point of sale A drscounted cash flow methodology 1s used to measure the fair value of the revenue and associated
recewvables at the point of sale, by estimating all future cash flows that will be receved from the MNO and discounting these
based on ther timing of receipt Subsequently network commussion receivables are measured at the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate determined at the date of sate

The key inputs to the model are
- revenus share perceriage - the percentage of the consumer's spend (to the MNO) to which the Group (s entitled,

- mnimum contract penod - the length of contract entered into by the consumer,

out-of-bundle spend — additonal spend by the consumer measured as a percentage of total spend,
consumer default rate — rate at which consumers disconnect from the MNO,

.

spend beyond the inihal contract penied — period of ime the consumer remains connected to the MNOQ after the nitial
contract term, and

« upgrade propensity - the percentage of consumers iniially connected by the Group estimated to be subsequently upgraded
by an MNO

Tre last four inputs are based on extensive histoncal ewdence obtained from the networks, and provision 1s made for the nsk of
potential changes in consumer behawiour Rehance on histoncal data assurmes that curent and future expenence will follow past
trends, there 15 therefore a nsk that changes in consumer behaviour reduce the total cash flows ultimately realised over the
forecast penod, however, the directors consider that the guantity and quality of data avarlable provides an appropnate proxy for
cument trends

The table below provides the sensitivity of the canying value of the network commission recewables to a reasonably possible
change n Input to the discounted cash flow mode!

Senstvty™
Relationship of unabsarvabla inputs to Favourable Unfavourable
tInobservabie inputs remeasurement of camying valye £milion fmillion Aange™
Qut-of-bundie spend The hugher the spend, the tugher 47 47} 75%-259%
the carrying value
Consumer default rate The higher the default rate, the 13 (13) 12% -182%
lower the carrying value
Spend after the inimiat contract term  The higher the spend, the higher 30 (30) 10months-55
the carrying value months
Upgrade propensity The higher the propensity, the 10 {10y 169% -249%

hugher the carrying value

(1) The sensdnty represents the favourabte and unfavourable effect on the Income statement of remeasunng the carying value for a reasonably possibla
change in the value af the nput used Whilst the nature of mputs 1$ consistent across all MNOs the value applied differs on a MNO by MNO basis The
sensttvity analysis performad has epplied a reasonably possible change on an input by nput and MNO by MNO basis The amounts shown above are
1he cumutative sensitivities tor each input across all MNOs

(2 Thereasonably possibla ranga aisclosed represent the high and tow range of each unobservable Input across all MNOs, over the previous three years
The sensitvities, which fall within this range have been applied to the unobservable inputs on 3 MNO by MNO basrs

The significant unobservable iNputs in determiring the amortised cost carying values used in the table above are the same
significant unobservable Inputs that would be required if the network commission recevable was measured at far value on
the balance sheet In addition, the far value would be impacted by changes i interest rates and counterparty credit nsk

In addition to those sensitivities disclosed above, changes to revenue may be made, where for example, more recent information
15 available, and any such changes are required to be recogmsed in the income statement Changes in relaben to network
commission recervabile for sales onginating in previous years totalled £26 millton (2014/15 £33 mallion)
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27 Notes to the cash flow statement

a) Reconciiation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating actwibes

13 months
Year andod gndad
30 Apsil 2 May
2018 2015
Emillion Lrmillon
Profit before interest and tax — continuing operations 304 324
Depreciation and amortisation 177 149
Share-based payment charge 10 10
Share of results of joint ventures 4 -
tmpairments and other non-cash items 4 4
Operating cash flows before movements in working capnal 499 487
Movements tn working capital
(Increase) / decrease In Inventory (18) 6
{Increase) in recevables (247) (89)
Increase / {decrease} in payables 168 {289}
Increase / (decrease) in provisions 83 (5)
{14) (377)
Cash generated from operations - continuing operations 485 110
b) Analysis of net debt
Other
2 May non-cash Currency 30 Aprit
25 Cash flow moverents  ransiation 2018
cmitihon Crlhon Crdihon £mitiron £milllon
Cash and cash equivalents 163 53 - 17 233
163 53 - 7 233
Borrowings due within one year (55) 55 - - -
Bomrowmgs due after more than one year (330) (80) - 1 {409)
Obligations under finance leases (91} 6 (6) - {o1)
476) (19} 6) 1 {500)
Nat {debt) / funds (313) 3 {6) 18 (267)
Other
29 March non-Cash Currency 2 May
204 Cash flow  Acqusitions  movements tranglation 2015
Crrfion £millicn fmilion Srmllion E£milllon Cmillion
Cash and cash equivalents 283 (120} - - - 163
Borrowings due within one year - (55} - - - (55)
Bomowings due after more than one year {290) 249 {289) - - (330)
Obligations under finance leases (1} 7 93 (4) — (91)
(29 201 (382) {4) - (476)
Net funds / {debt) {9) 81 (382) (4) - (313}
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23 Related party transactions

Transactions between the Group's subsidiary underntakings, which are related parties, have been elminated on consolidation and
accordingly are not disclosed See note 5a for detalls of related party transactions with key management persannel

The Group had the following transactions and balances with its associates

30 Apnl 2 May
2016 2015
Cmillion Crodiion
Revenue for services provided 24 8
Amounts awed to the Group 2 -
All transactions entered into with related parties were completed on an amm’s length basis
29 Capstal commirtments
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
Srllton £rmillion
Contracted for but not provided for in the accounts 39 55
30 Operating lease arrangements
a} The Group as a lessee
Total undiscounted future committed payments due for continuing operations are as follows
30 April 2 May
2016 2015
Lend and Other tand and Other
buildngs assots uildmgs assats
£millson £milion Ermilion £milon
Total undiscounted future committed payments due
Within one year 350 7 361 7
Between two and five years 1,126 10 1,227 14
After five years 785 - 1,001 1
2,261 17 2,589 22

Operating lease commitments represent rentals payable for retail, distribution and office properties, as well as vehicles,
equipment and office equipment Contingent rentals are payable on certan retal store leases based on store revenues and

figures shown inClude only the mimimum rental component

The above figures include committed payments under onerous lease contracts for which provisions or accruals exist on the

balance sheet, including those for businesses exited

The future minmum sub-lease payments expected to be recewed under non-canceliable sub-leases 1s €21 rmillion

(2015 £42 million)
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30 Operating lease arrangements continued
b) The Group as a lessor

The Group has tnvestment properties which are let to third parties on long term leases for which the mimmum future income
15 as follows
30 April 2 May

2018 2015
Emillon £million

Total undiscounted future rmirimum lease income receivable
Within one year 1 1
Between two to five years 5 5
After five years s 6
11 12

31 Contingent habilihes

30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
Emillion Tmilton
- 3

tn addstion to the figures shown in the table above, contingent habilities also extst in respect of lease covenants relating to
premises assigned to third parties

In recent years the Group has entered into agreements to dispose of certain operations As part of these disposal agreements,
the Group has provided the acquirer with general and tax related warranties At the date of signing these financal statements,
some of these warranbes remain open and o 15 possible that claims could anse under these warranties
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Company balance sheet

30 Apri) 2 May
2016 2015
Notes Lrndilion tmiltion
Fixed assets
Investments in subsichanes ca 2,678 2,678
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 32 666
Debtors due wathin one year cs 1,941 223
1,973 889
Creditors amounts falling due within one year Ccé (1,198) (160)
Net current assets 775 729
Total assets less current habilities 3,453 3,407
Provisions c7 1 (2
Loans payable cs (409) {330)
Net assets 3,043 3,075
Captal and reserves
Share capital (o] 1 1
Share premum reserve c9 2,256 2,256
Profit and loss account 786 818
3,043 3,075

The financial statements of the Company {registered number 07105905) were approved by the Board on 28 June 2016 and

signed on its behalf by

Sebastian James,
Group Cheef Executive

Humphrey Singer,
Group Finance Director
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Company statement of changes in equity

Share  Profitand
premium hoss Totsl
Share capital rasarve poccount equity
tmillion £mithon Emilkon £mitlion
Al 29 March 2014 1 283 795 1,079
Net profit for the penod - - 64 B4
Other comprehensive income and expense recognised directly
in equity - — (3} (3)
Total comprehensive income and expense for the penod - - 61 61
Issue of shares - 1,973 - 1,973
Equity dividends - - (52) (52)
Net movement in relation to share schemes - - 14 14
At 2 May 2015 1 2,256 818 3,075
Profit for the year - - 75 75
Other comprehensive income and expense recognised directly
n equity - - (1) {1
Total comprehensive income and expense for the year - - 74 74
Equity dwidends - - (108) (106)
At 30 Apri 2016 1 2,256 786 3,043
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Notes to the Company financial statements

€1 Accounting policies
Basis of preparation

The Company 1s incorporated in the United Kingdom The financiat statements have been prepared on a going concem basis
{see note 1 to the Group financial statemenits)

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006 The Company meets
the defimbion of & qualifying entity under FRS 100 (Financial Reporting Standard 100) issued by the Financial Reporting Council
Accordingly, in the penod ended 30 Apnl 2016 the Company has decided to adopt FRS 101 and has undergone transibon from
reporting under appiicable United Kingdom accounting standards to FRS 101 as issued by the Financial Reperting Council
Accordingly, the financial statements have therefore been prepared in accordance with FRS 101 (Financial Reporting Standard
101) Reduced Disclosure Framework’ as 1ssued by the Financial Reporting Councyl, incorporating the Amendments to FRS 101
1ssued by the Financial Reporting Council in July 2015 other than those relating to legal changes and has not applied the
amendments to Company law made by The Companies, Partnerships and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2015
that are effective for accounting penods beginming on or after 1 January 2016

This transition is not considered to have had a matenal effect on the financial statements

Ag permutted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in
relation to share-based payments, financial instruments, capital management, presentation of comparative information In respect
of cartain assets, presentation of a cash flow statement and certain retated party transactions

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated financial statements

The financ:al statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the re measurement of certain financial
instruments to far value The prncipal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in nole 1 to the Group financial
statements except as noted below

Investments in subsidianes are siated at cost less, where appropnate, provisions for impawrment

Prior 1o the Dixons Retall Merger, the Company prepared its financial Statements to the Saturday closest 10 its accounting
reference date of 31 March Following the Merger, which is described further in note 24 to the Group financial statements,

the Company changed its accounting reference date to 30 April which was the accounting reference date of Dixons Retait plc,
but continues to draw up accounts to the nearest Saturday and accordingly the comparative financial penad 1s for the

13 months ended 2 May 2015

C2 Profit and loss account

In accordance with the exemption permitted by sechon 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the profit and loss account
of the Company I1s not presented separately The profit recognised for the year ended 30 Apnl 2016 was £75 milhon
{2014/15 £64 million) Information regarcing the audit fees for the Group 1s provided 1n note 3 to the Group

financial statements

C3 Equity dvidends
Detals of amounts recogmsed as distnbutions to shareholders i the penod and those proposed are detalfed 1n note 23

of the Group financial statements
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C4 Fixed asset nvestments

30 Apnl 2 May

2016 2015

Cmulhon Prufhon

Qpening balance 2678 753
Additions - 3,965
Disposals - {2,040}
Closing balance 2,678 2,678
Cost 2,776 2,776
Accumulated impaiments (a8) (88)
2,678 2,678

Net carrying amount

Fixed asset investments compnse Investments in subsidrary undertakings and other minonty investments Details of the
Company's Investments n subsidiary undertakings are provided in note C10

2014115

On 6 August 2014, the Graup completed an al-share merger of Dixons and Carphone after wiuch the shareholders of Dixons
and Carphone each held 50% of Dixons Carphone on a fully diiuted basis taking into account existing share options and award

schemes for both companies

Under the terms of the Merger, Dixons shareholders recenved 0 155 of a new Dixons Carphone Share m exchange for each
Dixons share In accordance with the cntena in IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinatons’ it has been determmed that Carphone acquired

FRnanclal statements

Dixons and accounts for the majonty of the additions isted Immediately followng the Merger, the shareholding n Dixons was
transferred to the Company’s immediate subsichary, New CPW Limited, and this transaction accounts for the majorty of the

disposals
C5 Debtors amounts faling due within one year
30 Apnl 2 May
. 2010 2015
Crrullion Emilion
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 1,808 194
Denvative assets 18 17
Deaferred tax asset 2 3
Prepayments 5 5
Other debtors 8 4
1,941 223

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are repayable within 12 months of the balance sheet date
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C6 Credtors Amounts falling due within one year

30 Aprit 2 May
2018 2:ms
£rmilbon fmition
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 1,061 119
Cther creditors 1 5
Dervative habiities 41 26
Qverdrafts 84 -
Corporation tax 5 -
Accruails and deferred income 6 10
1,198 160
C7 Provisions
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2018
Cmiltion Cmitdon
Opening balance 2 2
Utihsed (1) -
Closing baiance 1 2
C8 Loans payable
Detatls of loans payable are provided in note 18 to the Group financial statements
C9 Share caprtal and share premium
Details of movements in share capial and share premwurm are disclosed in note 22 to the Group financial statements
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Notes to the Company financial statements

€10 Subsidiary undertalungs

a) Pnncipal subsidianes as at 30 Apnl 2016

The Company has investments in the fellowing pnncipal subsidiary undertakings All hotdings are in equity share capital and give
the Group an effective holding of 100% on consohdation

Country of
Nama incorparation or ragistration Share Class{es) Hell %% Held Business Acthdty
Carphone Warehouse Europe Limited England & Wales A & B Ordnary 100 Holding Company
Dixons Retail ple! England & Wates Ordmary and Deferred 100 Holding Company
Dixons South East Europe AEVE Greece Ordinary 100 Retail
DSG International Holdings Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 Holding Company
DSG Retail Ireland bimited Ireland Ordinary 100 Retail
Irredeemable Cumulative
DSG Retaill Limted England & Wales Preference Shares 100 Retail
and Qrdinary Shares

Elgiganten Aktiebolag Sweden Ordinary 100 Retatl
ElGiganten A/S Denmark Qrdinary 100 Retall
Elkjep Nordic AS Norway Ordinary 100 Retail
GEAB The Phone House Aktiebolag Sweden Ordinary 100 Oistnbution
Gigantt Oy Finland Ordnary 100 Retail
ISE-NET Sotutions Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 T

Ordwnary 1002
New CPW Limited England & Wales Deterred 100° Holding company

A Ordinary 371

B QOrdinary 35
New Technology Insurance Ireland Crdinary 100 Insurance
The Carphone Warehouse Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 Distribution
The Carphone Warehouse Lumited Irefand Ordinary 100 Distribution
The Phone House Span S L U Spain A & B Shares 100 Distribution

1 Dixons Retail pic became a prvate imited company called Dixons Retail Group Lwnited after year end
2 Interest held directly by Dxons Carphone plc

3 This Is the only interest of Dixons Carphone plc, directly or indirectly 1n this class of shares
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€10 Subsidiary undertakings continued
b} Other subsidiary undertalungs

The following are the other subswiary undertakings of the Group, all of which are wholly owned unless otherwise indicated All
these companies are ether holding companies or prowvicde general suppert to the pnncipal subsidianes ksted on the previous page

Country of
Nama Incorporation or reglistration Share Class(as) Held % Hetd
Adiumentum Oy Finland Ordinary 100
Carphone Warehouse Ireland Mobile Limited treland Ordinary 100
Charterhouse Management Limned Iste of Man Crdinary 100
Codic GmbH {in l.quidation) Germany Ordinary 100
Connected World Services Distributions Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Connected World Services Europe S L Spain Ordinary 100
Connected World Services LLC USA Ordinary 100
Ceonnected World Services Netherlands BV Netherlands Ordinary 100
Connected World Services SAS France Ordinary 100
CPW Acton Five Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
CPW Acton One Limited Iste of Man Ordinary 1007
CPW Brands 2 Limited England & Wales Ordwnary 1007
CPW Consultancy limited England & Wales Ordinary 1002
CPW CP Limited England & Wales Qrdinary 100
CPW Distribution Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
CPW GC Holdings BV Netherlands Ordinary 1002
CPW Ilam Limited England & Wales Ordinary 1002
CPW Tulketh Mill Limvted England & Wales Qrdmnary 1002
Currys Group Limitedt England & Wales Ordinary 100
CWIAB Limited England & Wales Ordwary 100
DISL 2 Limited Isle of Man Ordinary 100
DISL Lirmited Isle of Man A, B, C & D Preference 100
and Qrdinary B
DISL UK Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Dixons Group Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Dixons Retall SSCsro Czech Repubhc Business Shares 100
Dixons Soureing Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100
Dixons Stores Group Retad Norway AS Norway Ordinary 100
Dixons Trave! sd Itaty Ordinary 100
DSG Boxmoor Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG Card Handling Services Limited England & Wales Cumulative C& D 100
Preference and Ordwnary

DSG Corporate Services Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG European investments Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG Fleet Management Lirmited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG Hong Kong Sourcing Lirmited Hong Kong Qrdinary 100
DSG International Belgiurm BVBA Belgium Ordinary 100
DSG tntemational Retall Properties Limited England & Wales Qrdinary 100
DSG International Treasury Management Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG Ireland Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
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C10 Subsidiary undertaksngs contnued
b) Other subsidiary undertakings

Name Incorporation or rmgg Share Class(es) Hatd % Held
DSG KHI Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG Overseas Investments Limited England & Wales  Preference, B Preference 100
and Ordmary
DSG Retal Ireland Pension Trust Limited Ireland Ordinary 100
El-Giganten Logrstik AB Sweden Ordinary 100
Eligep Klewverenga AS Norway QOrdinary 100
Elkjop Norge AS Norway Ordinary 100
Epoq Holding AB Sweden Ordinary 100
Epoq Logistic DC k s Czech Republic Ordinary 100
1D Mobile Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
InfoCare CS AB Sweden Ordimary 100
InfoCare Workshop AS Norway Ordinary 100
infoCare Workshop Holding AS Norway QOrdinary 100
InfoCare Workshop Oy Finland Ordinary 100
Kereru Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Lefdal Elektromarked AS Norway Ordinary 100
Leverstock Investments Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Markan talo Oy Finland Qrdinary 100
Mastercare Service and Distnbution Limited England & Wales Qrdwnary 100
Mohua Limited England & Wales Qrdmary 100
MSG The Phone House AB Sweden Ordinary 100
MTIS Limited Ireland Ordinary 100
NSS Financials A/S Cenmark Ordinary 100
0OSAA - Sociedade Gestora De Participagses Portugal Ordinary 100
Sociais, Lda
Osfone Comercio de Aparethos de Portugal QOrdinary 100
Telecomunicagdes, Lda
Osfone Negocios - Comercio de Aparelhos Partugal Ordinary 100
de Telecomunicagdes, Lda
PC City (France) SNC France Partnership 100
PC City Norge AS Norway Ordinary 100
£C City Spain SA Spamn Ordwnary 100
Pelham Limited Isle of Man QOrcdinary 100
Petrus Insurance Company Limited Gibraltar Ordmary 100
Phone House intemational AB Sweden COrdinary 100
Simplify Digital Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Simplify Digital Systems Limited England & Wales A Ordmary 100
TatkM Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
The Carphone Warghouse (Digital) Limited England & Wales Ordinary 1002
The Carphone Warehouse Resources Limited Iste of Man Ordinary 1002
The Carphone Warehouse UK Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
The Phone House Holdings (UK) Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100

1 Dwxons Retal plc became a private imited company calted Dixons Retall Group Limited after year end

2 Interest held directly by Dixons Carphone plc

3 This s the only interest of Dixons Carphone plc dirsctly or indirectly, in this class of shares
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€10 Subsidiary undertakings continued

c) Subsidiary undertakings exempt from audit

The following subsidianes, all of which are incorporated i England & Wales and are all ncluded in section b} on pages
147 to 148, are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of indmdual accounts by

virtue of section 479A of that Act

HName

Company registzation number

CPW Acton Five Limited

CPW Brands 2 Limited

CPW Consultancy Limited

CPW CP Limited

CPW Irlam Limrted

CPW Tulketh Mill Liruted

CWIAB Limited

DSG Boxmoor Limited

DSG Card Handing Services Limited
DSG International Retail Properties Limited
DSG Ireland Limited

The Carphane Warehouse (Digital} Limited
The Carphone Warehouse UK Limited
The Phone House Holdings (UK} Limited

05738735
07135355
07881879
06585457
05825842
06585719
02441554
05430014
04185110
00476440
00240621
03966947
03827277
03663563
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tnvestor information

Five year record (unaudited)

Headlne results - continuing operations®™

2015118 2014115 2013114 201213 201112
Trmdlon £milion Cmilien Lrdhon £mikion

Statutory
Revenue 9,738 8,255 1,943 1" 6
Profit after tax - wholly owned operations 311 285 160 4 3
Share of results of joint ventures and associates (after tax) 4) - 3 48 46
Net profit after tax 337 285 103 52 49
Earnings per share
- Basic 29 3p 29 7p 18 6p 10 9p 107p
- Diluted 284p 287p 183p 108p  102p
Pro forma Headline results®
Revenue 9,736 9,750 9,752 9,517 8,820
EBIT 468 413 359 310 277
Interest (21) (32} 43) (33) (39)
Profit before taxation 447 381 316 277 238

(1} Headlne results — continuing operations reflect the statutory results of the Group excluding items ¢lassiied as non-Headline

2} Proforma results are presented as though the Dixons Retall Merger and the CPW Europe Acquisition had occurred at the beginhing of the
five-year penod This financial information has been prepared by aggregating the five year records presented by Carphone Warehouse inits
2013/14 annual report and accounts on page 97 and by Dixons Retall in its 2013/14 annual report and accounts on page 127, and adusiing

for discontinued operations
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Pro forma information (unaudited)

Basis of preparaton

The basis of preparation of Headline pro forma information 1s descnbed In the Performance Review on page 24 Following the
Menger, the Group changed its year end to be the Saturday closest 10 30 Apnl The 2014/15 financial year as disclosed in the
2014/15 annual report and accounts therefore compnsed the 13 months to 2 May 2015 for the Carphone Warehouse business
S0 as to enable a better year-an-year companson, the pro forma pnor penod results of the Carphone Warehouse busmess have
been restated to exclude the results of the additional five weeks trading

2014/15 Pro forma income statement reconciliation

Restated
Carpheng  Pro forma
Statutary Non headino Dixgns Retail Pro forma -  Warehouse basis -
basis - TotaP™ items® Marger™ HMeadline®  April 2014%  Headling'®
Ermallion Cmulion tmilion E£milton Tmiuon £million
UK and ireland 5,506 - 945 6,451 (137) 6314
Nordics 2,055 - 663 2,718 {9y 2,709
Southern Europe 564 - 73 637 (31) 606
Connected World Services 130 — - 130 {9) 121
Revenue 8,255 - 1,681 9,936 (186) 9,750
UK and Irefand 278 35 (7) 306 N 305
Nordics 46 14 26 86 - B6
Southern Eurcpe 18 2 ({6) 14 1 15
Connected World Services 6 1 1 8 {1) 7
Unallocated (24} 24 — - — -
EBIT 324 76 14 414 {n 413
Interest 37) 13 (9 (33) 1 {32}
Profit before tax 287 89 5 381 - 381
Tax (76) (15) 3 (88) — {88)
Profit after tax 211 74 8 263 - 293
Discontinued operations {114) 114 - - — —_
Profit after tax 97 188 a8 293 - 293
Basic earnings per share {pence) ™ 101 196 (4 2) 255 - 255

M
(2}
)

@
(5}

(€}
g

Total statutory results as reported on pages B8 and 102 in the Group's 2015/16 financial statements

Non-Headhine itemns as descnbed 10 notes 4 and 25 to the Group's financial statements are excluded from pro forma Headline results
Consolidated results of Dixons Retail pic for the penod pror to 6 August 2014 have been extracted without matenal adjustment from the
consolidation schedules which support the Group’s 2014/15 financial statements and are included in pro forma Headhne results

Pro forma Headling income statement as reported on page 24 in the 2014/15 annual report and accounts

Results for the 5 weeks to 3 May 2014 for the Carphone Warehouse business have been extracted without matenal adjustment from the
consohdaton schedules which support the Group s 2014/15 financial statemments and are excluded from the restated pro forma Headline
resylts

Pro forma Headline income statement as reported on page 24

Pro forma eamings per share has been calculated assurming the number of shares on 1ssue at 2 May 2015, adjusted for the number of
shares held by the Group s ESOTs, apply from the start of the current and comparative penods The sffect of this adjustment to average
number of shares has been incluged as part of the ‘Dixons Retall Merger’ adjustments
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Pro forma information (unaudited)

2014/15 Pro forma cash flow statement reconciliation

Nt funds Non Dixons Carphons Rastated
Statutory (debly headling Roted Pro Forma  Warshouse  Pra Forma
basis™ basis® Items™ Matger bosis®  April 2014™ basigM
Lrmillion Crnithon Emiillen £miion £milion cmihon Lrmlion
EBIT 324 - 76 14 414 {n 413
Deprectation and amortisation 149 - {35) 27 141 4) 137
Working capital 377) — (16) 27 (366) 207 (159)
Capital expenditure (166) - - {20) (186) 4 {182)
Taxatwon (39) - - (26) (65) 3 {62)
Interest (36) - - (1) 47} 1 {46)
Other items - Free cash flows 25 - - 12) 13 ) 4
Frae cash flow before restructunng items —
continuing operations {120) - 25 (1) {986) 201 105
Restructuring costs - - (16) - (16) - (16)
Free Cash Flow (120) — 9 al] {112} 201 89
Dividends (52) — - . {52) - (52}
Merger transaction costs (42) - {9} (39) (90} - {90)
Acquisitions, disposats, discontinued operations 333 - - (374) (41) 43 2
Pension contnbutions (28} - - - (28) - (28}
{Decrease) / increase in borrowings {211) 211 - - - - -
Other items - —- — - - - -
Movement in net funds / (debt} {120) 211 - {414} (323) 244 {79) ‘
Opening net funds 283 {291} — 71 63 (244) {181} \
Closing net (debt) / funds 163 (80) - {343y (260 - (260) |

1) Total statutory cash flows as reported on pages 82 and 138, using the presentation prowded in the performance review on pages 26 10 27
Cash flows from the statutory cash flow statement have been aggregated as ctescnbed below |
« Interest compnses interest recerved, interest pad and repayment of obkgations under finance leases
+ (ther tems — Free cash flows compnse share based payment charge, non-cash movemenls on joint venures impairment and other

non-cash items and proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment
» Acquistions, disposals, discontinued operations compnse net cash outflow ansmng from CPW Europe Acquistbon, cash acquired on the
Merger, proceeds on sale of business and short term investments and discontinued operations

« Merger trangaction costs compnse bond redempton premium and facihily arangement fees pad
+ Opering, ¢losing and movement in nat funds (debt) relate to the opening closing and movement in cash and cash equivalents

{2} Adpstment to present the cash fiows on the basis of net funds (debt) rather than cash and cash equivalents, consistent with the
gerformance review on page 25 of the 2014/15 annual report and accounts

{3) Non-Headline cash flows as descnbed in notes 4 and 24 1o the Group's 2014/15 financia! staternents are excluded from pro forma free
cash flows

(4) Consolidated cash flows ot Dixans Retall pic for the period pnor to 6 August 2014 have been extracted without matenal adjustment from the
consohdation schedules which support the Group's 2014/15 financial statements and ase included in pro forma cash flows

{8) Pro forma cash flow statement as reported on page 25 of the 201 4/15 annual repert and accounts

(6) Cash flows for the five weeks to 3 May 2014 for the Carphone Warehouse business have been extracted without matenal adjustment
from the consolidation schedules which support the Group's 2014/15 financial statements and are excluded from the restated pro forma
cash flows

{7) Pro forma cash flow statement as reported in the Performance Review on pages 2610 27
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Shareholder and corporate information

Dixons Carphone pic 1s isted on the main market of the
London Stock Exchange {stock symbo! DC)and s a
constituent of the FTSE 100

Registrars

Equinit

Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing

West Sussex
BNSS9 6DA
United Kingdom

0371 384 2089 (UK only)
+44 (0)121 415 7047 (from outside the UK}

Lines are open 8 30am to 5 30pm Monday to Fnday
{UK trme), excluding pubhc holidays in England & Wales

You can manage your shareholdings via an electronic
communications service called Shareview,
www.shareview co uk To register, you will need your
shareholder reference number, which can be found on
your share certificate, dvidend tax voucher or proxy card
Registration and use of the service 1s free

Financaal calendar

Ex-dividend date {final dwvidend 2015/16) 25 Aug 2016

Record date {final dwvidend 2015/16) 26 Aug 2016
Annual General Meeting 8 Sep 2016
Intended dividend payrnent date {final 23 Sep 2016
dvidend 2015/16)

Amencan Depositary Receipts (ADR’s)

Dixons Carphone plc has established a sponsored Level 1
ADR program and has appointed Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Amencas ('Deutsche Bank') as the deposrary
bank The ADRs trade on the US over-the-counter (OTC)
market under the symbol OXCPY {they are notisted on a
US stock exchange) Each ADR represents two ordinary
shares in Dixons Carphone pic

Contact details for ADR investors and brokers

Deutsche Bank ADR broker services desks
New York +1 212 250 9100
London +44 (0207 547 6500

Conlact details for registered ADR holders

Deutsche Bank Shareholder Services
Amencan Stock Transfer & Trust Company
Operations Center

6201 15th Avenue

Brooklyn, NY 11219

United States

Email DB@amstack.com
Toll free number (from within the US) (866) 248 2593
Direct Oial {from outside the US) +1 718 921 8124

Reg:stered office / Head office

1 Portal Way

London

W3 6RS

United Kingdom

+44 (0)208 617 6002

www dixonscarphone com

Company registration number
071053905

Company Secretary

Enquines should be directed to

Nigel Paterson
General Counsel and Company Secretary
cosec@dixonscarphone com

Investor relations
Enquines shou!d be directed to

Kate Ferry, IR, PR and Corporate Affairs Director
Mark Reynolds, Head of Investor Relations
Ir@dixonscarphone com

Advisors

Auditar

Deloitte LLP

2 New Street Square
London

EC4A 3BZ

www deloitte com

Jomnt Stockbrokers
Deutsche Bank AG

1 Great Winchester Street
London

EC2N 2DB

www db com

Citigroup Global Markets Limited
33 Canada Square

Canary Wharf

E14 5LB8

www citigroup com

Investor Information
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Investar information

Glossary and definitions

The following defintions apply throughout this Annual Report and Accounts unless the context otherwise requires

Acquisthon intangibles

Acquired intangible assets such as customer bases, brands and other intangible assets
acquired through a business combxination capitalised separately from goodwill

ARPU Average revenue per user

B2B Business to business

Best Buy Best Buy Co , Inc (incorporated in the Unied States) and its subsidianes and interests
n joint ventures and associates

Best Buy Europe Best Buy Europe Distnbutions Limited and its subsidanes and interests in joint ventures
and associates {incorporated in England & Wales)

Board The Board of directors of the Cormpany

Carphone, Carphone Warehouse
or Carphone Group

The Carmpany or Group pnor to the Merger on 6 August 2014

CcGU Cash Generating Unit

Company or the Company Dixons Carphone pic (incorporated in Engtand & Wales under the Act, with registered
number 07105905), whose registered office is at 1 Portal Way, London W3 BRS

CPW The continuing business of the Carphone Group

CPW Europe Best Buy Europe’s core continuing operations

CPW Europe Acguisition The Company's acquisttion of Best Buy’s interest in CPW Europe, which completed
on 26 June 2013

cws The Connected World Services division of the Company

Dixons or Dixons Retall

Dixeons Retail plc and its subsidiary companies

Dixons Carphone or Group

The Company, its subsidianes, interests in joint ventures and other investments

Dixons Retail Merger or Merger

The all share merger of Dixons Retarl plc and Carphone Warehouse plc which occurred
on 6 August 2014

Eamings Profit or loss after taxation, unless the context otherwise requires
EBIT Earmings before interest and taxation

EBITDA €amings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation
EPS Eamings per share (basic unless otherwise indicated)

ESOT Employee share ownership trust

Free Cash Flow

Free Cash Flow compnses cash generated from / (utiised by} continuing operations
before special pension contnbubions, less net finance expense, less Income tax paid
and net capital expenditure The directors consider that ‘Free Cash Flow' provides
addibonal useful nformation to shareholders in respect of cash generation and 1s
consistent with how business performance 1s measured ntemally
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Headline results

Results before Non-Headling results The phrases ‘Headline earmngs’, ‘Headline EBIT’,
‘Headlne EBITDA' and 'Headline EPS’ should be interpreted In the same way

HMRC

Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs

IFRS

Intermational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union

Like-for-ike revenue

Like-for-hike revenue 1s calculated based on Headline store and internet revenue using
constant exchange rates New stores are included where they have been open for a full
financial year both at the beginring and end of the financial penod Revenue from
franchise stores are excluded and closed stores are excluded for any penod of closure
dunng erther penod Customer support agreement, insurance and wholesale revenues
along with revenue from Connected World Services and other non-retait businesses are
excluded from like-for-like calculations Revenue from Carphone Warehouse SWAS are
included in Ike-for-the Like-for-like revenue reflects the 12 months to 30 Apnl 2016
compared to the 12 months to 2 May 2015

Market posrtion Ranking against competitors n the electncal and mobile retail market, measured by
market share Market share 1s measured for each of the Group's markets by companng
data for revenue or volume of units sold relative to similar metncs for competitors in the
same rmarket

MNOQ Mobile network operator

MVNO Mobile virtual network operator

New CPW New CPW Limited (incorperated in England & Wales)

Non-Headlmne resuilts

Non-Headiine results comprise the results of discontinued operations or exited / to be
exited businesses, amortisation of acquisition intangibles, any exceptional tems
considered so one-off and matenal that they distort underlying performance (such as
recrganisation costs, impairment charges and other non-recurmng charges) and net
pension interest costs Businesses exited or to be exited are those which the Group
has exited or committed to or commenced o exit through disposal or closure but do
not mee! the definiion of discontinued operations as stipulated by IFRS and are
matenal to the results and operations of the Group

NPS Net promoter score, a rating used by the Group to measure customers’ ikehhood to
recommend 11s operations

Qid Carphone Warehouse TalkTalk Telecom Holdings Limited (formerly "The Carphone Warehouse Group PLCY)
(incorporated in England & Wales)

PAT Profit after taxation

PBT Profit before taxation

Pro forma Results incorporating Dixons Retail ple as if it had been owned by the Group

for the entire previous reporting penod in addition the 2014/15 pro forma results
of the Carphone Warehouse business have been restated to exclude the results
of the additional five weeks trading to ensure an equal length penod for
comparative purposes
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Investor intormation

Glossary and definitions

ROCE

Retum on caprtal employed Calculated on a pre-tax and lease adjusted basis The
retum 1 based on Headline EBIT, adjusted to add back the interest component
associated with capitalising operating lease costs Capital employed 15 based on net
assets including caprtalised leases, but excluding goodwall, cash, tax and the defined
benefit pension obligations The calcutation s performed on a moving annual total In
order to best match the return on assets in a year with the assets in use dunng the year
to generate the retum

RCF

Revolving credit facity

Sharesave or SAYE

Save as you eam share scheme

SWAS

Stores-within-a-store

TalkTalk or TalkTalk Group

TakTalk Telecom Group PLC and its subsichanes and other nvestments

TSR Total sharehclder retum

UK GAAP United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law

Virgin Mobute France Omer Telecom Limited {incorporated in England & Wales) and its subsidianes,
operating an MVNO in France as a jomt venture between the Company, Bluebottle UK
Urnited and Financom SA S

WAEP Weighted average exercise pnce
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